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Forward-looking statement

In this annual report, we have disclosed 
forward-looking information to enable 
investors to comprehend our prospects 
and take informed investment decisions. 
This report and other statements – written 
and oral – that we periodically make, 
contain forward-looking statements that 
set out anticipated results based on the 
management’s plans and assumptions.

We have tried wherever possible to 
identify such statements by using words 
such as ‘anticipates’, ‘estimates’, ‘expects’, 
‘projects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’ 
and words of similar substance in 
connection with any discussion on future 
performance.

We cannot guarantee that these forward-
looking statements will be realised, 
although we believe we have been 
prudent in assumptions. The achievement 
of results is subject to risks, uncertainties 
and even inaccurate assumptions.

Should known or unknown risks or 
uncertainties materialise, or should 
underlying assumptions prove inaccurate,
actual results could vary materially from 
those anticipated, estimated or projected.

We undertake no obligation to publicly 
update any forward-looking statements, 
whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise.
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Board’s Report

Operations

The income of your Company during the year under review 
comprised of mainly income/revenue from trading activities, 
investments, royalty and dividend from Joint Ventures.

Material changes and commitments affecting financial 
position of the Company

There are no material changes and commitment affecting 

financial position of your Company, which has occurred between 

end of the financial year of your Company i.e. March 31, 2024 

and the date of this Report.

Dear Members
Your Directors are pleased to present the 108th Annual Report of your Company together with the Audited Financial Statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

Financial Results
(H in Lakhs)

Particulars 2023-2024 2022-2023

Turnover and other income 50,155.07 31,493.94

Profit before interest and depreciation 21,531.01 15,933.99

Interest 657.34 509.41

Profit before depreciation 20,873.67         15,424.58

Provision for depreciation 180.45 222.12

Profit before exceptional item and tax 20,693.22 15,202.46

Exceptional Item - -

Profit before tax 20,693.22   15,202.46 

Provision for tax

- Current tax [Includes income tax for earlier years amounting to C382.19 Lakhs  
(31 March 2023- C Nil)] 3,448.91   3,084.51 

- Deferred tax 564.04 47.68

Profit after tax 16,680.27 12,070.27

Profit/(Loss) for the year 16,680.27 12,070.27

Opening Balance of Retained Earnings (Surplus in Statement of Profit and Loss) 98,756.49 84,853.11

Profit/(Loss) for the year 16,680.27 12,070.27

Other Comprehensive Income (7.86) (0.52)

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 16,672.41 12,069.75

Transfer within equity- Gain on sale of equity shares designated as FVOCI-transfer to 
retained earnings (net of tax) 6,488.50 3,234.62

Dividend paid (1,751.24) (1,400.99)

Closing Balance in Retained Earnings    1,20,166.16 98,756.49
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Dividend

Your Directors have recommended a dividend @ C5.00/- (Previous 
Year @ C5.00/-) per equity share of C10/- each for the year ended 
March 31, 2024 subject to the approval of the shareholders at 
the ensuing Annual General Meeting (AGM). 

Transfer to Reserves 

During the year under review, your Company has not transferred 
any amount to the General Reserve and entire amount of profit 
for the year forms part of the Retained Earnings.

Directors and Key Managerial Personnel

During the FY 2023-24, Mr. C.K.Dhanuka (DIN:00005684) was re-
appointed as the Executive Chairman & Managing Director of the 
Company w.e.f. January 1, 2024 for a period of five years, based 
on the approval of the Board and Members of the Company.

Mr. R.K.Sharma (DIN:05197101) was designated as the Non-
Executive Director of the Company w.e.f. April 1, 2024, based on 
the approval of the Board at its meeting on November 7, 2023 
and his employment package was transferred to WOS of the 
Company, Dhunseri Poly Films Pvt. Ltd, in view of his full time 
involvement in the WOS to manage its business affairs efficiently. 

Mr. M.Dhanuka (DIN:00005666), the Vice-Chairman of the 
Company, was re-designated as the Whole -Time Director of the 
Company for a period of two years w.e.f May 1, 2024 based on 
the approval of the Board at its meeting held on May 24, 2024, 
subject to the approval of the Members at this AGM.

Further, Mr. J.P.Kundra (DIN:00004228) and Dr. B.Sen 
(DIN:00056861), Independent Directors of the Company are 
nearing completion of their tenure of two consecutive terms 
of five years at this AGM. Accordingly, Prof. Ashoke Kumar 
Dutta (DIN:00045170) and Mr. Bharat Bajoria (DIN:00109241), 
being eligible are appointed as Additional Directors in the  
capacity of Independent Directors of the Company at their 
meeting held on May 24, 2024 for a term of five years’ subject to 
the approval of the Members in this AGM.

Mrs. A.Dhanuka (DIN:00005677) retires by rotation and being 
eligible offers herself for re-appointment.

Declaration from Independent Directors on an Annual 
Basis

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 
2013 ('the Act') and Regulation 25(8) of Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, (“the Listing Regulations”), the Independent 
Directors have given declarations that they meet the criteria of 
independence as provided in Section 149(6) of the Act and Rules 
framed thereunder and Regulation 16(1)(b) of the SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations.

The Independent Directors have also declared that they have 
registered their name with the data bank maintained by the 
Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs as required under the 
provisions of Section 150 of the Act read with Rule 6(1) of 
Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 
2014.

In the opinion of the Board, the Independent Directors possess 
the requisite expertise and experience and are persons of high 
integrity and repute. They fulfill the conditions specified in the 
Act as well as the Rules made thereunder and are Independent 
of the management.

Policy on Directors’ Appointment and Remuneration

The policy of your Company on Directors’ appointment and 
remuneration, including the criteria for determining qualifications, 
positive attributes, Independence of a Director and other matters, 
as required under Sub-section (3) of Section 178 of the Companies 
Act, 2013, is available at our website at http://aspetindia.com/
wp-content/uploads/2014/10/TERMS-AND-CONDITIONS-OF-
APPOINTMENT-OF-INDEPENDENT-DIRECTOR1.pdf

We affirm that the remuneration paid to the Directors is as per 
the terms laid out in the Nomination and Remuneration Policy of 
your Company.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement Pursuant to Section 
134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013

Pursuant to the requirement under Section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013, with respect to Directors’ Responsibility 
Statement, it is hereby confirmed:
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(a) That in the preparation of the annual accounts, the 
applicable accounting standards aligned with IND AS had 
been followed along with proper explanation relating to 
material departures, if any;

(b) That the Directors had selected such accounting policies 
aligned as per IND AS and applied them consistently, made 
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent, 
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company at the end of the FY and of the profit and loss of 
the Company for that period;

(c) That the Directors had taken proper and sufficient care 
for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting 
fraud and other irregularities;

(d) That the Directors prepared the annual accounts on a going 
concern basis; 

(e) That the Directors had laid down Internal Financial Controls 
for the Company and that such Internal Financial Controls 
are adequate and were operating effectively; and

(f) That the Directors had devised proper systems to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and 
that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.

Holding, Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures:

I. Holding Company:

 Dhunseri Investments Ltd. continues to be the Holding 
Company and is holding 56.44% of the equity share 
capital of your Company as on March 31, 2024.

II. Subsidiary Companies:

 A. Dhunseri Infrastructure Ltd. (DIL), Wholly-Owned 
Subsidiary (WOS)

  Dhunseri Infrastructure Ltd. continues to be the WOS of 
the Company. The Company is considering various options 
towards utilisation of the Property. Further, steps are 
being taken for the de-notification of the areas.

  Your Board feels that once the area is de-notified, there 
would be ample opportunities for utilising the land. 
Your Board will take a decision as soon as the aforesaid 
changes are made and finalise in the best interest of your 
Company.

 B. Dhunseri Poly Films Pvt. Ltd. (DPFPL), Wholly-Owned 
Subsidiary (WOS)

  Your Company’s Wholly-Owned Subsidiary, Dhunseri Poly 
Films Pvt. Ltd. (DPFPL) has completed setting up State 
of the Art -10.6 Meter Biaxally Oriented Polyester Film 
(BOPET) Line at Panagarh in the state of West Bengal. 
The commercial production has already started from the 
13th of December 2023. Plant is operating at desired 
level and product quality has been well accepted in 
the market. DPFPL has also initiated export market and 
have successfully marketed same in few market while 
penetration of export market will continue to be the next 
year’s target. 

  Further, DPFPL is also in the process of setting up State 
of the Art - 10.4 Meter 2 Biaxally Oriented Polypropylene 
(BOPP) production in Jammu. Financial closure of BOPP 
project has been achieved in March 2024. Consent to 
Establish from J&K Pollution Control Board is received for 
the project and activities on the ground is expected to start 
from July/August 2024. The first BOPP line is expected to 
commence production from the FY 2025-26. While second 
line is expected to start operation from 2026-27.

 C. Twelve Cupcakes Pte. Ltd. (TCPL), Subsidiary 

  Your Company continues to hold 88.68% of the equity 
share capital in Twelve Cupcakes Pte. Ltd. 

  Your Company has entered into a Share Purchase agreement 
on January 10, 2024 with TCPL for the purchase of shares of 
DVL USA INC. from TCPL to make it a WOS of your Company.

 D. DVL USA INC., Wholly-Owned Subsidiary

  DVL USA INC. incorporated in United States (U.S) for 
exploration and expansion of the Cupcake Business in the U.S. 
Market, is now a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of your Company.
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  DVL USA INC. has incorporated a Limited Liability Company 
(LLC) in the month of May, 2024 in the name and style of 
“Waterford Orlando, LLC” in the State of Delaware, United 
States of America to expand the business of the WOS in 
the food and beverage industry majorly in confectionery 
and bakery industry. DVL USA INC. is the sole member of 
the said LLC and accordingly, your Company has indirectly 
acquired 100% control in the LLC through its WOS.

  DVL USA INC. will commence its retail operations through 
its brick and mortar locations in Central Florida before the 
end of the Calender Year. These stores will operate under 
the LLC and will pave  the way for retail brand building and 
expansion.

III. Associate Companies:

 A. IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Pvt. Ltd.

  Your Company continues to hold 50% of the equity share 
capital in IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Pvt. Ltd. and 
the balance 50% stake is held by Indorama group.

 B. IVL Dhunseri Polyester Company S.A.E.

  Your Company continues to hold 50% stake in IVL Dhunseri 
Polyester Company S.A.E and the balance 50% stake is 
held by Indorama group.

Information about the Financial Performance/Financial 
Position of the Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

A separate statement containing the salient features of Financial 
Statements of all Subsidiaries/Associates/Joint Ventures of your 
Company forms a part of Consolidated Financial Statements in 
compliance with Section 129 and other applicable provisions, 
if any, of the Companies Act, 2013. Shareholders desirous of 
obtaining the report and accounts of your Company’s subsidiaries 
may obtain the same upon request. It is also available on the 
website of your Company www.aspetindia.com. Members may 
send an advance request at the e-mail id-investors@aspetindia.
com for an electronic inspection of the aforesaid documents. 

As required under the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing 
Regulations, the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements 

of your Company are also attached and forms part of your 
Company’s Annual Report.

Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign 
Exchange Earnings/Outgo

There are no particulars in regard to the conservation of energy, 
technology absorption as prescribed under Section 134(3)(m) of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014.

The Foreign exchange outflow in the FY 2023-24 is C4,012.45 
Lakhs. Further, inflow in foreign exchange in the FY 2023-24 is 
C1,676.00 Lakhs.

Annual Return

Pursuant to Section 92(3) read with Section 134(3)(a) of the 
Companies Act, 2013, the Annual Return as on March 31, 2024 
is available on the Company’s website at http://aspetindia.com/
stock-exchange-disclosure/annual-return/ 

Corporate Social Responsibility

A Corporate Social Responsibility Committee was reconstituted 
on July 3, 2020 with Mr. C.K.Dhanuka, as the Chairman, Dr. B.Sen 
and Mrs. A.Kanoria as the members.

The Corporate Social Responsibility Policy of your Company is 
available in the Company’s website at https://aspetindia.com/wp-
content/uploads/2024/06/FINAL-CSR-Policy.pdf

Your Company carries out CSR activities mainly through Dhanuka 
Dhunseri Foundation (DDF) or any other implementing agency as 
the CSR Committee and the Board decides.

The Annual Report on CSR activities in accordance with the 
Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014, 
is attached as “Annexure-A” to this Report.

Details Relating to Remuneration to Directors, Key 
Managerial Personnel and Employees

The information required under Section 197 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, is 
attached as “Annexure-B” to this Report.
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The statement containing names of top ten employees in terms 
of remuneration drawn and the particulars of employees as 
required under Section 197(12) of the Act read with Rule 5(2) 
and 5(3) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, is provided in a separate 
annexure forming part of this report. Further, the report and the 
accounts are being sent to the Members excluding the aforesaid 
annexure. In terms of Section 136 of the Act, the said annexure 
is open for inspection and any Member interested in obtaining 
a copy of the same may write to the Company Secretary at 
investors@aspetindia.com

The financial statements of Dhunseri Poly Films Pvt. Ltd. and 
Twelve Cupcakes Pte Ltd., material subsidiaries, are available on 
the website of the Company.

Auditors and Auditors’ Report

Statutory Auditors

M/s B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (Registration No. 
101248W/W-100022) were appointed as the Auditors of the 
Company for a second term of five consecutive years from the 
conclusion of 106th Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of 
111th Annual General Meeting being approved by the Members 
of the Company at the 106th Annual General Meeting. 

No frauds are reported by auditors under Section 143(12) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 in Auditor’s Report.

The Auditors’ Report for the FY 2023-24 does not contain any 
qualification, reservation, adverse remark or disclaimer.

The Auditors’ Report is enclosed with the financial statements in 
this Annual Report.

Secretarial Auditors and Secretarial Audit

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, Mamta Binani & Associates, 
Practicing Company Secretaries was appointed as the Secretarial 
Auditor of your Company for the FY 2023-24.

The Secretarial Audit Report issued by Mamta Binani & Associates, 
Practicing Company Secretaries for the FY ended March 31, 2024 
is attached as an “Annexure-C” to this Report. 

The Secretarial Audit Report does not contain any qualification, 
reservation, adverse remark or disclaimer.

Cost Records and Cost Auditors

The provisions of Cost Audit and Records as prescribed under 
Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, are not applicable to 
your Company.

Dividend Distribution Policy

The Board of Directors of your Company has adopted the Dividend 
Distribution Policy as required by Regulation 43A of the Listing 
Regulations and is available at our website https://aspetindia.
com/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Dividend-Distribution-
Policy-1.pdf

Business Responsibility and Sustainability Report

The Company has prepared the Business Responsibility and 
Sustainability Report (BRSR) describing the initiatives taken 
by the Board from an Environmental, Social, Governance and 
Sustainability perspective. 

The said BRSR is forming part of the Annual Report and is 
attached as an “Annexure-E” to this Report and is also uploaded 
on the website of the Company at our website https://aspetindia.
com/investors/report-review/

Adequacy of Internal Financial Controls with reference to 
Financial Statements

Your Company has in place adequate internal financial controls 
as required u/s 134(v)(e) of the Companies Act, 2013. Your 
Company has adopted policies and procedures for ensuring 
the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including 
adherence to Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial disclosures. During the year, such 
controls were tested with reference to Financial Statements and 
no material weakness in the design or operation was observed.

Particulars of Loans, Guarantees and Investments

Details of Loans, Guarantees and Investments covered under the 
provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are given in 
note no. 7 of the Standalone Financial Statements.
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Risk Management 

Your Company has a Risk Management Committee comprising 
of Mr. R.K.Sharma, Non-Executive Director, Mr. J.P.Kundra and  
Dr. B.Sen, Independent Directors.

Your Company has established a Risk Management Policy 
as approved by the Board. The major mechanisms of risk 
management are the Monitoring of Statutory, Legal, Investment 
Compliances and the Internal Audit.

Related Party Transactions

All the contracts/arrangements/transactions entered by your 
Company during the financial year with related parties were in 
the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length basis, 
details of which are provided in the notes to Accounts.

None of the transactions with any of the related parties was in 
conflict with the Company’s interest. Further, omnibus approval 
is obtained on a yearly basis for transactions which are repetitive 
in nature.

Particulars of Materials Contracts/arrangement/transactions at 
arm's length basis as on March 31, 2024 with Related parties 
during the year pursuant to the provisions of Section 134 (3)
(h) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 8(2) of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 are given in “Annexure – D” in form AOC 
- 2 and the same forms part of this Report.

Your Company has also formulated a policy on dealing with the 
Related Party Transactions and necessary approval of the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors were taken wherever 
required in accordance with the Policy.

Annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its 
Committees and Individual Directors 

The Independent Directors of your Company had reviewed the 
performance of Non-Independent Directors and the Board as 
a whole along with the performance of the Chairman of your 
Company at its meeting held on March 19, 2024.

The Independent Directors well appreciated the functioning of 
the Board of Directors as well as the Committees of the Board. 
They were also highly satisfied with the leadership role played by 
the Chairman. The Board of Directors works as a team and there 
were detailed discussion at the meetings on various agenda 

items. The Board is a well-diversified team consisting of persons 
having expertise in the fields of Banking, Finance, Law as well as 
professionals and industrialist. The Board through its Committees 
i.e, Audit Committee, Stakeholders Relationship Committee, 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee is in a position to 
have its executed overall supervision at all these key areas. All the 
Directors participate effectively without any restraint to express 
their views.

The Board of Directors at its meeting held on May 24, 2024 had 
evaluated the performance of the Independent Directors based 
on a list of evaluation criteria for performance evaluation. The 
effectiveness of the Board was discussed and evaluated based on 
the evaluation criteria as well as the performance evaluation of 
the Board Committees was also conducted at the same meeting.

The evaluation process focused on various aspects of the 
functioning of the Board and Committees such as composition 
of the Board and Committees, experience and competencies, 
performance of specific duties and obligations, governance 
issues, etc. The guidance note issued by SEBI on Board Evaluation 
was duly considered while conducting the evaluation exercise. 
Separate exercise was carried out to evaluate the performance 
of Individual Directors on parameters such as qualifications, 
experience, availability and attendance, constructive 
contribution, knowledge and competency etc.

As an outcome of the above exercise, it was noted that the Board 
as a whole is functioning as a cohesive body, which is well engaged 
with different perspectives and is believed that it is the collective 
effectiveness of the Board that impacts Company’s performance. 
The Board Members from different backgrounds bring about 
different complementarities that help Board discussions to be 
rich and value adding. It was also noted that the Committees are 
functioning well and besides the Committee’s terms of reference 
as mandated by law, important issues are brought up and 
discussed in the Committee Meetings.

Corporate Governance, Management Discussion and 
Analysis Reports 

Your Company has taken adequate steps to adhere to all the 
stipulations laid down in Regulation 34(3) and Schedule V of 
the Listing Regulations. A report on Corporate Governance and 
Management Discussion and Analysis Report are included as a 
part of this Report. 
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Certificate from the Secretarial Auditors of your Company 
confirming the compliance with the conditions of Corporate 
Governance as stipulated under the Listing Regulations forms 
part of the Annual Report.

The detail of Board Meetings, detail of meetings of Audit 
Committee, Stakeholders Relationship Committee, Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee 
held during the FY 2023-24, Nomination and Remuneration 
policy and Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy are covered in 
the Corporate Governance Report.

Environment, Health and Safety

Environment, Health and Safety are of great importance to 
your Company. Your Company continuously strives to ensure 
environment sustainable practices and provides a safe and 
healthy workplace for its employees. 

Prevention of Sexual Harassment at Workplace

As per the requirements of the Sexual Harassment of Women 
at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013 
(“POSH Act”) and Rules made thereunder, your Company has an 
Internal Complaints Committee to address complaints pertaining 
to sexual harassment in the workplace.

Credit Rating by Infomerics Valuation and Rating Pvt. Ltd.

Your Directors inform that Infomerics Valuation and Rating Pvt. 
Ltd. had reaffirmed the credit rating of IVR A1+ (IVR A One Plus) 
to the Short Term Bank Facilities of your Company and withdrawn 
the credit rating to the Long Term Bank facilities of your Company 
in view of no such Long Term Bank Facility of the Company.

Compliance with Secretarial Standards

Your Company is in compliance with the relevant provisions of 
the Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India and approved by the Central Government.

General

Your Directors state that no disclosure or reporting is required 
in respect of the following items as there were no transactions in 
regard to the under-mentioned items during the year under review:

(a) Issue of equity shares with differential rights as to dividend, 
voting or otherwise.

(b) Issue of sweat equity shares to employees of the Company/
Issue of Employees Stock Option Scheme.

Further, your Company has not accepted any deposits from the 
public. There were no outstanding balances relating to Fixed 
Deposits as at the beginning and end of the FY 2023-24.

There is no change in the nature of business of your Company 
and no significant material orders were passed by the Regulators 
or Courts or Tribunals which would impact the going concern 
status of your Company and its future operations.

During the year under review, there were no proceedings that 
were filed by your Company or against your Company, which 
are pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 as 
amended, before National Company Law Tribunal or other Courts.

During the year under review, there were no instances of one-
time settlement with any Bank or Financial Institutions.

Employees 

Your Company believes that 'Employees' are the most valuable 
assets of any organization. Your Directors wish to place on record 
their deep sense of appreciation for the co-operation, dedication 
and committed services by all the employees of your Company 
who plays a pivotal role in the growth of your Company. 

Acknowledgement

The Directors wish to place on record their sincere appreciation 
for the whole-hearted support received from the banks, 
shareholders and all other associated with your Company. The 
Board of Directors also thank the employees of your Company for 
their valuable service and support during the year.

 For and on behalf of 
    The Board of Directors

Place: Kolkata C.K.Dhanuka
Date: May 24, 2024                        Executive Chairman
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Annexure A to Board's Report
Annual Report on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

 Activities for the FY 2023-24

1. Brief outline on CSR Policy of the Company  

 The Company carries out various CSR activities mainly through Dhanuka Dhunseri Foundation (DDF) or through any other 

implementing agency as the Board decides. Your Company has always laid emphasis on progress with a social commitment.

 The main objects and purposes of DDF as per the trust deed are in line with Schedule VII of the Companies Act, 2013 read with its 

rules. The Company as per its CSR policy focus on promoting Education, Healthcare, Women’s hostel facilities and Sports.

 The Company has framed a CSR Policy in compliance with the provisions of the Act, which is available on the Company’s website 

and the weblink for the same is provided in this report.

2. Composition of CSR Committee:

Sl. 
No. Name of Director Designation / Nature of 

Directorship
Number of meetings of CSR 

Committee held during the year
Number of meetings of CSR 

Committee attended during the year

1. Mr. C.K.Dhanuka Chairman 1 1

2. Dr. B.Sen Member 1 1

3. Mrs. A.Kanoria Member 1 0

3. Provide the web-link where Composition of CSR committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved by the board 
are disclosed on the website of the company.

Particulars Web-link

 Composition of the CSR committee shared above 
and is available on the Company’s website on 

http://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Composition-of-
various-Committees-of-Board-of-Directors.pdf

 CSR policy https://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/FINAL-CSR-Policy.
pdf

 CSR projects https://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/CSR-
Projects_2024.pdf

4. Provide the executive summary along with web-link(s) of Impact Assessment of CSR Projects carried out in pursu-
ance of sub-rule (3) of rule 8, if applicable.

 Not Applicable
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5. 

6. (a) Amount spent on CSR Projects (both Ongoing Project and other than Ongoing Project): can be given in all the points instead 
of: C245.00 Lakhs

 (b) Amount spent in Administrative Overheads: Nil

 (c ) Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable: Not Applicable

 (d) Total amount spent for the Financial Year [(a)+(b)+(c)]: C245.00 Lakhs

 (e) CSR amount spent or unspent for the Financial Year:

 

Total Amount 
Spent for the 
Financial Year
 (D in Lakhs)

Amount Unspent (D in Lakhs)

Total Amount transferred to Unspent 
CSR Account as per section 135(6)

Amount transferred to any fund specified under Schedule VII as 
per second proviso to section 135(5)

Amount 
(D in Lakhs) Date of transfer Name of the Fund Amount 

(D in Lakhs) Date of transfer

245.00 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

 (f) Excess amount for set-off, if any: Nil

Sl. 
No. Particular Amount  

(D in Lakhs)

(1) (2) (3)

(i) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per sub-section (5) of section 135 80.00

(ii) Total amount spent for the Financial Year 245.00

(iii) Excess amount spent for the Financial Year [(ii)-(i)] 165.00

(iv) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the previous Financial Years, if any Nil

(v) Amount available for set off in succeeding Financial Years [(iii)-(iv)] Nil*

*The Company has spent in excess of the mandatory requirement under the Companies Act, 2013 and has decided the same shall not 

be set off in succeeding Financial Years.

Sl. 
No. Particular Amount  

(D in Lakhs)

(a) Average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) 3994.28

(b) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per sub-section (5) of section 135 79.89

(c) Surplus arising out of the CSR Projects or programmes or activities of the previous financial years Nil

(d) Amount required to be set-off for the financial year, if any Nil

(e) Total CSR obligation for the financial year [(b)+(c)-(d)] 79.89*

       * rounded off to C80 lakhs
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7. Details of Unspent Corporate Social Responsibility amount for the preceding three financial years:

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)

Sl. 
No.

Preceding 
Financial 
Year (s)

Amount 
transferred 
to Unspent 

CSR Account 
under section 

135(6) (D in 
Lakhs)

Balance 
Amount in 

Unspent CSR 
Account under 
subsection (6) 
of section 135 

(D in Lakhs)

Amounts 
spent in the 

reporting 
Financial 
Year (D in 

Lakhs)

Amount transferred to any 
funds pecified under Schedule 
VII as per section 135(6), if any

Amount 
remaining to 
be spent in 
succeeding 

financial years 
(D in Lakhs)

Deficiency, 
if anyAmount 

(D in 
Lakhs)

Date of transfer

Nil

8. Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount spent 
in the Financial Year: No

 If Yes, enter the number of Capital assets created/ acquired: Not Applicable

 Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as per section 135(5): Not 
Applicable

Dr. B.Sen                                                                                                      C.K.Dhanuka
(Director)                                                                          (Chairman,CSR Committee/CEO/Managing Director)

Place: Kolkata  
Date: May 24, 2024                         
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Annexure B to Board’s Report

Details pertaining to remuneration as required under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) 
of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014

(i) The percentage increase in remuneration of each Director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary in the 
FY 2023-24 and the ratio of the remuneration of each Director to the median remuneration of the employees of the Company for 
the FY 2023-24 are as hereunder:

Name of Director/KMP Title

% age increase in 
remuneration in the FY 

2023-24 as compared to the 
Previous Year 2022-23

Ratio of remuneration of 
each Director to median 

remuneration of employees 
of the Company for the FY 

2023-24
Mr. C.K.Dhanuka (Note-1) Executive Chairman (7.9%) 25:1

Mrs. A.Dhanuka (Note-1) Managing Director (7.6%) 27:1

Mr. R.K.Sharma Executive Director (Finance) 6.0% 12:1

Mr. M.Dhanuka Vice Chairman

N.A.
(Note-2)

0:1

Mr. B.Jhaver Non-Executive & Non-Independent 
Director

Mr. J.P.Kundra

Non-Executive & Independent 
Director

Dr. B.Sen

Mrs. A.Kanoria

Mr. R.V.Kejriwal

Mr. S.Sah

Mr. V.Jain Chief Financial Officer 13.2 % 2:1

Ms. S.Gulati Company Secretary & Compliance 
Officer 18.2% 1:1

# Remuneration is as per Income Tax Act, 1961.

(ii) The median remuneration of employees of the Company during the FY 2023-24 is C14.34 lakhs p.a. Median annual remuneration 
of employees has been decreased by 0.75 % during the FY 2023-24 over the previous FY 2022-23

(iii) There were 24 permanent employees on the rolls of the Company as on March 31, 2024.

(iv) Average percentile increase in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the FY 2023-24 was 21.44% and 
in case of managerial remuneration, the decrease was 5.4%.

(v) It is hereby affirmed that the remuneration paid during the year ended March 31, 2024 is as per the Remuneration Policy of the Company.

 Note-1 –The remuneration payable to Managing Directors has variable component which is dependent on the profit of the 
Company and the remuneration to Managing/Executive Directors are paid as per their agreement approved by the Board and 
shareholders. The remuneration of other employees has fixed pay which depends on their individual performance.

 Note-2 –There is no increase in sitting fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors. The sitting fees is paid based on the number of 
meetings attended by the directors during the FY 2023-24.
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Annexure C to Board’s Report
Form No. MR-3

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31.03.2024

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule no.9 of the Companies  
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To
The Members
Dhunseri Ventures Limited
Dhunseri House
4A, Woodburn Park
Kolkata 700020 

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of 
applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good 
corporate practices by Dhunseri Ventures Limited (hereinafter 
called ‘the Company’), bearing CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697. 
Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a 
reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory 
compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.

Based on our  verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute 
books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained 
by the Company and also the information provided by the 
Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives 
during the conduct of secretarial audit, we hereby report that in 
our opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering 
the financial year ended on 31st March 2024, complied with the 
statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company 
has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place 
to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made 
hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and 
returns filed and other records maintained by the Company, 
for the financial year ended on 31st March 2024, to the extent 
applicable, according to the provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the Rules made there 
under;

(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and 
the Rules made there under;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws 
framed there under;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules 
and regulations made there under to the extent of Foreign 
Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External 
Commercial Borrowings;

(v) The Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and the rules and 
regulations made there under;

(vi) The Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority Rules, 
2019;

(vii) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI 
Act’), to the extent applicable:

 a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015;

 b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition 
of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;

 c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of 
Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018;

 d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial 
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

 e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and 
Listing of Non-Convertible Securities) Regulations, 2021;
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 f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars 
to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 
regarding the Companies Act, 2013 and dealing with 
client;

 g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based 
Employee Benefits and Sweat Equity) Regulations, 2021;

 h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories 
and Participants) Regulations, 2018;

 i) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and 
Listing of Securitised Debt Instruments and Security 
Receipts) Regulations, 2008; 

 j) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of 
Equity Shares) Regulations, 2021; and

 k) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of 
Securities) Regulations, 2018;

(viii) The other laws applicable specifically to the Company, 
namely:

 (a) The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965

 (b) The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972

 (c) The Employee's Provident Fund and Miscellaneous 
provisions Act, 1952

 (d) The Employees Superannuation Fund Act, 1954

 (e) The Equal Remuneration Act, 1976

 (f) The Minimum Wages Act, 1948

 (g) The Trade Marks Act,1999

 (h) The Copyright Act, 1957

 (i) The West Bengal Shops and Establishments Act, 1963

 (j) The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 1972

 (k) Any other Act as may be applicable on the Company.

We have also examined the compliance of the Secretarial 
Standards issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of 
India.

During the period under review, the Company has complied 
with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. mentioned above.

We further report that:

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted 
with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive 
Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the 
composition of the Board of Directors which took place during 
the period under review were carried out in compliance with 
the provisions of the Act.

Further, Mr. Rajiv Kumar Sharma (DIN: 05197101) has been re-
designated as the Non-Executive Director of the Company w.e.f. 
1st April, 2024 in the Board Meeting held on 7th November, 2023.

Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board 
Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at 
least seven days in advance and a system exists for seeking and 
obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda 
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items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at 
the meeting.

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes 
in the Company commensurate with the size and operations of 
the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable 
laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

We further report that during the audit period there were no 
investments/disinvestments made by the Company having a 
major bearing on the Company’s affairs. The details are given as 
under:

1. Details of investments of the Company in other 
companies resulting, which a subsidiary company has 
been formed:

 The Company had entered into a Share Purchase Agreement 
with its Subsidiary in Singapore, Twelve Cupcakes Pte Limited 
(TCPL) to acquire the shares of DVL USA INC held by TCPL 
as approved by the Board at its meeting dated 5th January, 
2024. As a consequence, DVL USA INC became the Wholly 
Owned Subsidiary of the Company.

2.  Company/Bodies  Corporate  which  has 
become associate:

No

3. Company which has become Joint Venture:

No

For Mamta Binani & Associates
 

CS Madhuri Pandey
Partner

CP No.: 20723
Membership No: F12731
UDIN: F012731F000497875

Place: Kolkata
Date: May 24, 2024
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Annexure D to Board’s Report
Form No. AOC-2

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2)  
of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the Company with related parties referred 
to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length transactions under third 
proviso thereto

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis – There were no contracts or arrangements 
or transactions entered into during the year ended March 31, 2024, which were not at arm's length basis.

2. Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis –

Sr.
No.

Name(s) of the 
related party 
and nature of 
relationship

Nature of 
contracts/ 

arrangements/ 
transactions

Duration of 
the contracts/ 
arrangements/ 

transactions

Salient terms of the contracts 
or arrangements or transactions 

including the value, if any

Date(s) of 
approval by 
the Board, if 

any

Amount paid 
as advances, 

if any

1. IVL Dhunseri 
Petrochem 
Industries 

Private Limited 
(IDPIL), Joint 

Venture 
Company

Purchase 
and Sale 

Agreement

Till cancellation 
by either party

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated 
April 1, 2017 read with its Addendum 
dated April 2, 2018 with further 
extension letters dated, January 1, 
2018, January 1, 2023 and November 
7, 2023 relating to trading of PET Resins, 
as per the terms of the agreement. The 
Company has purchased PET Resins 
amounting to C9,523.73 lakhs during 
the FY 2023-24.

14.3.2017* Nil

Dhunseri 
Royalty 

Agreement

Until 
Termination

Dhunseri Royalty Agreement dated 
March 24, 2017 read with Dhunseri 
Royalty Amendment Agreement dated 
May 23, 2018 for the use of the name 
of the Company, i.e., “DHUNSERI” and 
its brand, i.e., “ASPET” by IDPIL. The 
Royalty income is C2,402.07 lakhs 
from IDPIL during the FY 2023-24.

14.3.2017** NA
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Sr.
No.

Name(s) of the 
related party 
and nature of 
relationship

Nature of 
contracts/ 

arrangements/ 
transactions

Duration of 
the contracts/ 
arrangements/ 

transactions

Salient terms of the contracts 
or arrangements or transactions 

including the value, if any

Date(s) of 
approval by 
the Board, if 

any

Amount paid 
as advances, 

if any

2. IVL Dhunseri 
Polyester 

Co. SAE (IVL 
Dhunseri 

Polyester), 
Joint Venture 

Company

Dhunseri 
Royalty 

Agreement

Until 
Termination

Dhunseri Royalty Agreement dated 
September 6, 2018 for the use of the 
name of the Company, i.e., “DHUNSERI” 
and its brand, i.e., “ASPET”. The Royalty 
income is C2,496.71 lakhs from the said 
Company during the FY 2023-24.

10.08.2018 NA

3. Dhunseri 
Poly Films 

Private Limited 
(DPFPL), 

Wholly-Owned 
Subsidiary

Supply 
Agreement 

Till 5 years Assignment and Novation Agreement 
dated November 7, 2023 with Dhunseri 
Poly Films Private Limited (DPFPL) and 
IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries 
Private Limited for assignment of the 
supply agreement between the above 
mentioned parties dated September 
5, 2023 in favour of the Company. 
The Sale of Bright Chips amounted to 
C9,590.09 Lakhs in the FY 2023-24.

07.11.2023*** NA

Note - 
* The Addendum to Purchase and Sale Agreement dated April 2, 2018 has been approved in the Board Meeting dated February 14, 

2018, the renewal of the said Agreement has been done from time to time as approved by the Board and further renewal taking in 

consideration the material modification in Related Party Transaction has been approved in the Board Meeting dated November 7, 

2023, and by the shareholders by way of Postal Ballot on January 4, 2024.

** The renewal of the Dhunseri Royalty Agreement with IDPIL has been approved in the Board Meeting dated May 21, 2018.

***The said Tripartite Agreement (i.e Assignment and Novation Agreement) in relation to the supply and purchase of Raw Materials as 

defined in the Supply Agreement has been approved in the Board Meeting dated November 7, 2023.

                                                                                                     For and on Behalf of 
         The Board of Directors

Place: Kolkata   C.K.Dhanuka
Date: May 24, 2024                                                                         Executive Chairman
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Annexure E
BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

[Pursuant to Regulation 34(2)(f) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and  
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations]

Section A: GENERAL DISCLOSURE

I. Details of the listed entity

Sr.
No. Particulars Company Information

1. Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of the Listed Entity L15492WB1916PLC002697

2. Name of the listed entity Dhunseri Ventures Limited

3. Year of incorporation 1916

4. Registered office address Dhunseri House, 4A Woodburn Park, Kolkata-700020

5. Corporate office address Same as above

6. E-mail id investors@aspetindia.com

7. Telephone +91 33 2280 1950-54

8. Website www.aspetindia.com

9. Financial year for which reporting is being done 2023-24

10. Name of the Stock Exchange(s) where shares are listed National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE) and BSE 
Limited (BSE)

11. Paid-up Capital C3,502.48 Lakhs*

12. Name and contact details (telephone, email address) of the 
person who may be contacted in case of any queries on the 
BRSR Report

Name: Ms. Simerpreet Gulati
Designation: Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Telephone Number: 2280 1950-54
Email ID: investors@aspetindia.com

13. Reporting boundary - Are the disclosures under this report 
made on a standalone basis (i.e. only for the entity) or on 
a consolidated basis (i.e. for the entity and all the entities 
which form a part of its consolidated financial statements, 
taken together).

Disclosures in this Report are made on standalone basis.

14. Name of assurance provider Not Applicable

15. Type of assurance obtained Not Applicable

* excludes forfeited shares of the Company.
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II. Product/services

16. Details of business activities (accounting for 90% of the turnover):

Sr.
No.

Description of Main Activity Description of Business Activity % of Turnover of the entity

1. Trading- Trading in Commodities and 
PET Resin

Purchase and sale of Commodity and 
PET Resin

75%

2. Treasury operations in shares
Treasury operations in shares and 
securities of other body corporates

25%

Note: Percentage of turnover of entity is calculated on the basis of revenue from operations.

17. Products/services sold by the entity (accounting for 90% of the entity’s turnover): 

Sr.
No.

Product/Service NIC Code* % turnover of the entity

1. Commodity Trading 464

Same as question 162. Trading of PET Resin 466

3. Treasury operations in shares 649

*NIC Code - 2008

III. Operations

18. Number of locations where Plants and/or Operations/Offices of the entity are situated:

Sr.
No.

Location Number of Plants Number of Office Total

1. National - 2 2

2. International - - -

19. Market served by the entity:

a. Number of location

a) National (No. of States) 2

b) International (No. of Countries) 0
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b. What is the contribution of exports as a percentage of the total turnover of the entity?

 Nil.

c. A brief on types of customers

 The Company does not have any customer interface for its treasury operations. The Customer for the trading of the PET Resins and 
PET Films are the processors making PET preform, PET bottles and PET sheets.

IV. Employees

18. Details as at the end of financial year:

a. Employees and workers (including differently abled):

Sr.
No. Particulars Total (A)

Male Female

No. (B) %(B/A) No. (C) %(C/A)

Employees

1. Permanent (D) 24* 16 66.67 8* 33.33

2. Other than permanent (E) - - - - -

3. Total Employees (D+E) 24 16 66.67 8 33.33

Workers

4. Permanent (F)

Not Applicable5. Other than permanent (G)

6. Total Employees (F+G)

* It includes a Trainee Employee.

b. Differently abled Employees and workers: Nil 

21. Participation/Inclusion/Representation of women

Sr.
No. Particulars Total (A)

No. and percentage of females

No. (B) % (B/A)

1. Board of Directors 10 2 20

2. Key Management Personnel* 2 1 50

* Key Management Personnel includes only CFO and CS as MD/WTD is already covered in Board of Directors stated above.

22. Turnover rate for permanent employees and workers

Category
FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23 FY 2021-22

M F Total M F Total M F Total

Permanent Employees 0.00% 14.29% 14.29% 0.00% 16.67% 16.67% 6.45% 0 6.45%

Permanent Workers - - - - - - - - -

Note: The above rate is on the basis of average number of persons employed in the category.
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V. Holding, Subsidiary and Associate Companies (including joint ventures)

23. (a) Names of holding / subsidiary / associate companies / joint ventures

Sr.
No.

Name of the holding / 
subsidiary / associate 

companies / joint ventures 
(A)

Is it a holding/ Subsidiary/ 
Associate/ Joint Venture

% of shares held by listed 
entity

Does the entity 
participate in the Business 
Responsibility initiatives of 
the listed entity? (Yes/No)

1. Dhunseri Infrastructure Ltd.

Subsidiary

100

No

2. Dhunseri Poly Films Pvt. Ltd. 100

3. Twelve Cupcakes Pte Ltd. 88.68

4. DVL USA INC. 100

5. IVL Dhunseri Petrochem 
Industries Pvt. Ltd.

Joint Venture
50

6. IVL Dhunseri Polyester 
Company S.A.E 50

VI. CSR Details

24. (i) Whether CSR is applicable as per section 135 of Companies Act, 2013: Yes
 (ii) Turnover: C34,954.47 Lakhs*
 (iii) Net worth: C1,59,173.36 Lakhs**
 *The above reported amount is Revenue from Operations which is exclusive of Other Income.

 ** As per Companies Act, 2013.

VII.  Transparency and Disclosures Compliances

25. Complaints/Grievances on any of the principles (Principles 1 to 9) under the National Guidelines on Responsible 
Business Conduct:

Stakeholder group 
from whom complaint 
is received

Grievance Redressal 
Mechanism in Place  
(Yes/No) (If Yes, then 
provide web-link for 

grievance redress policy)

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Number of 
complaints 
filed during 

the year

Number of 
complaints 

pending 
resolution 
at close of 
the year

Remarks

Number of 
complaints 
filed during 

the year

Number of 
complaints 

pending 
resolution 
at close of 
the year

Remarks

Communities The permanent employees 
can directly approach to 
the head of department 
for any grievances. For 

investors, the web-link for 
investors grievances is http://

aspetindia.com/investors/
investor-grievance/  

For customer, the Company 
gets assistance from its 

supplier to attend customers 
complaints.

0 0

Nil

Investors/Shareholders 2 0 resolved

Employees and 
workers 0 0

Customers 0 0

Value Chain Partners 0 0

Other (please specify) 0 0



Annual Report 2023-24   |   21

26. Overview of the entity’s material responsible business conduct issues 

Sr.
No.

Material issue 
identified

Is it risk or 
opportunity  

(R/O)

Rationale for identifying the 
risk / opportunity

In case of risk, 
approach to adapt or 

mitigate

Financial implications  
of the risk or opportunity 

(Indicate positive or negative 
implications)

1. Talent 
Attraction and 
Development

Risk and 
Opportunity

Human Resource strategy 
of the Company emphasises 
talent acquisition, development, 
employee  engagement , 
incentives, recognition, diversity, 
inclusion and adherence to 
applicable human rights.

The Senior Officials 
i n t e ra c t s  with 
new hires and 
shares viewpoints, 
experiences and 
knowledge in order 
t o  i n s p i r e  a n d 
encourage them at 
the start of their 
careers.

It creates a positive impact 
by fostering a culture of team 
spirit, leadership and knowledge 
sharing within the Company.

H e l p s  t h e  C o m p a n y  i n 
maintaining a totally dedicated 
workforce and in enhancing the 
employee productivity at the 
workplace. 

2. Community and 
Social Impact

Opportunity As a part of the Company’s 
commitment to society, 
comprehensive interventions 
are undertaken in education, 
healthcare and sports  mainly 
through its implementing 
agency, Dhanuka Dhunseri 
Foundation.

Not Applicable It creates positive impact 
because the CSR activities helps 
to create a meaningful impact 
for the communities we interact 
with.

3. Sustainable 
Investing

Opportunity The Company aims to invest 
in Companies demonstrating 
good ESG practices for 
investment since the global 
trend of Investment is inclining 
towards sustainable portfolios 
and such companies are  
expected to deliver better 
returns over the long-term.

Not Applicable It creates positive impact 
because companies with good 
ESG practices is likely to improve 
the risk adjusted returns. 

4. Corporate 
governance – 
Board oversight, 
conflict  of 
interest, 
ethics, risk and 
compliance

Risk The Company strongly believes 
in the highest standards of 
governance and business 
ethics.

Periodical internal 
reviews, audit and 
discussions on 
changes introduced 
by regulators.

Financial implications will be 
negative as poor corporate 
governance or unethical 
practices lead to loss of 
confidence of stakeholders 
including investor.
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SECTION B: MANAGEMENT AND PROCESS DISCLOSURES:

Disclosure Questions

Sr.
No.

Policy and management processes P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

1.

a. Whether your entity’s policy/policies 
cover each principle and its core 
elements of the NGRBCs. (Yes/No)

Yes

b. Has the policy been approved by the 
Board? (Yes/No) 

Yes

c. Web Link of the Policies, if available

Business Responsibility and Sustainability Report of the Company covers each 
principle and its core elements of the NGRBCs. Please refer link:
https://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/BRSR-Policy-Final.pdf

These principles are also covered in the Code of Conduct and Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Policy of the Company which is available on the website of 
the Company:

CSR Policy: https://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/FINAL-CSR-
Policy.pdf

Code of Conduct: http://aspetindia.com/investors/code-of-conduct/

2.
Whether the entity has translated the 
policy into procedures. (Yes / No)

Yes

3.
Do the enlisted policies extend to your 
value chain partners? (Yes/No)

Yes. The Company expects its stakeholders to adhere to the same in all their 
dealings.

4.

Name of the national and international 
codes/ certifications/ labels/ standards 
(e.g. Forest Stewardship Council, 
Fairtrade, Rainforest Alliance, Trustea) 
standards (e.g. SA 8000, OHSAS, 
ISO, BIS) adopted by your entity and 
mapped to each principle.

The policy is based on National Voluntary Guidelines on Social, Environmental 
& Economical Responsibilities of Business released by the Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs, Government of India.

5.
Specific commitments, goals and 
targets set by the entity with defined 
timelines, if any.

The required goals and commitments set by Board have been mentioned in the 
respective principle.

6.

Performance of the entity against 
the specific commitments, goals and 
targets along-with reasons in case the 
same are not met.

Detailed under the relevant principles in section C of this Report
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Governance, leadership and oversight

7.

Statement by director responsible 
for the business responsibility report, 
highlighting ESG related challenges, 
targets and achievements (listed entity 
has flexibility regarding the placement 
of this disclosure)

The Senior Officials of the Company (comprising of Mr. C.K.Dhanuka, Mr. R.K.Sharma, 
 CFO & CS) overseas / reviews the matters related to ESG and business Responsibility 
activities from time to time to ensure seamless and effective implementation of the 
parameters given in Business Responsibility and Sustainability Policy of the Company.

8.

Details of the highest authority 
responsible for implementation and 
oversight of the Business Responsibility 
policy (ies).

The Senior Officials of the Company (comprising of Mr. C.K.Dhanuka,  
Mr. R.K.Sharma, CFO & CS)

9.

Does the entity have a specified 
Committee of the Board/ Director 
responsible for decision making on 
sustainability related issues? (Yes / No). 
If yes, provide details.

Yes. The CSR Committee is also responsible for making decisions on sustainability 
related issues.

10. Details of Review of NGRBCs by the Company:

Subject for Review

Indicate whether review was undertaken by Director /  
Committee of the Board/ Any other Committee

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

Performance against above policies 
and follow up action The Board of Directors including KMPs of the Company.

Compliance with statutory 
requirements of relevance to the 
principles, and, rectification of any 
non-compliances

The Company is in compliance with the regulations to the extent applicable.

Subject for Review
Frequency (Annually/ Half yearly/ Quarterly/ Any other – please specify)

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

Performance against above policies 
and follow up action

AnnuallyCompliance with statutory 
requirements of relevance to the 
principles, and, rectification of any 
non-compliances

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

11.

Has the entity carried out independent 
assessment/ evaluation of the working of 
its policies by an external agency? (Yes/
No). If yes, provide name of the agency.

Yes. Various processes, operations and compliances of the Company are subjected 
to review by different agencies like internal auditor, statutory auditor, regulator, 
credit rating agencies as applicable. The policies are reviewed periodically and 

amended as per need with the approval of the board.
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12.If answer to question (1) above is “No” i.e. not all Principles are covered by a policy, reasons to be stated:

Questions P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

The entity does not consider the Principles 
material to its business (Yes/No)

Not Applicable

The entity is not at a stage where it is in 
a position to formulate and implement 
the policies on specified principles 
(Yes/No)

The entity does not have the financial 
or/human and technical resources 
available for the task (Yes/No)

It is planned to be done in the next 
financial year (Yes/No)

Any other reason (please specify

SECTION C: PRINCIPLE WISE PERFORMANCE DISCLOSURE

PRINCIPLE 1: Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with integrity, and in a manner that is Ethical, 
Transparent and Accountable.

Essential Indicators

1. Percentage coverage by training and awareness programmes on any of the Principles during the financial year:

Sr.
No. Segment Total number of training and 

awareness programmes held
Topics / principles covered 

under the training

%age of persons in 
respective category 

covered by the awareness 
programmes

1. Board of Directors

6

• Code of Conduct
• Whistle blower
• Prevention of Sexual 

Harassment at the 
Workplace.

100%2. Key Managerial 
Personnel

3. Employees other than 
BoD and KMPs

We conducted one (1) training and awareness programme to update our employees on key 
issues such as sexual harassment. 

4. Workers Currently, we do not have any worker in the Company.

2. Details of fines / penalties /punishment/ award/ compounding fees/ settlement amount paid in proceedings (by the entity or by 
directors / KMPs) with regulators/ law enforcement agencies/ judicial institutions, in the financial year, in the following format 
(Note: the entity shall make disclosures on the basis of materiality as specified in Regulation 30 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Obligations) Regulations, 2015 and as disclosed on the entity’s website):

 Not applicable as no fines or penalties have been imposed in the reporting period.
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3. Of the instances disclosed in Question 2 above, details of the Appeal/ Revision preferred in cases where monetary 
or non-monetary action has been appealed

 Not Applicable

4. Does the entity have an anti-corruption or anti-bribery policy? If yes, provide details in brief and if available, 
provide a web-link to the policy

 The Company does not have a standalone anti-corruption or anti-bribery policy, however in its Business Responsibility and 
Sustainability Policy it mentions aspects of anti-corruption and anti-bribery. 

5. Number of Directors/KMPs/employees/workers against whom disciplinary action was taken by any law enforcement 
agency for the charges of bribery/ corruption:

 No such action taken during the financial year 2023-24 and 2022-23.

6. Details of complaints with regard to conflict of interest:

 No such action taken during the financial year 2023-24 and 2022-23.

7. Provide details of any corrective action taken or underway on issues related to fines / penalties / action taken by 
regulators/ law enforcement agencies/ judicial institutions, on cases of corruption and conflicts of interest.

 Since, no complaint received during the period, so there were no requirement to undertake any action.

8. Number of days of accounts payables ((Accounts payable *365) / Cost of goods/services procured) in the following 
format:

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Number of days of accounts payable 43 Nil

Note: During the F.Y 2022-23, there were no accounts payable.
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9. Open-ness of business

Provide details of concentration of purchases and sales with trading houses, dealers, and related parties along-with loans and advances 
& investments, with related parties, in the following format:

Parameter Metrics FY  
(Current Financial 

Year)

FY 
(Previous Financial 

Year)

Concentration of 
Purchases a. Purchases from trading houses as % of total purchases - -

b. Number of trading houses where purchases are made from - -

c. Purchases from top 10 trading houses as % of total  
purchases  from trading houses - -

Concentration of 
Sales a. Sales to dealers / distributors as % of total sales - -

b. Number of dealers / distributors to whom sales are made - -

c. Sales to top 10 dealers/ distributors as % of total sales to 
dealers / distributors - -

Share of RPTs in a. Purchases (Purchases with related parties /Total Purchases) 44.91% 23.95%

b. Sales (Sales to related parties / Total Sales) 36.57% 0.00%

c. Loans & advances (Loans & advances given to related 
parties/ Total loans & advances) 23.60% 30.99%

d. Investments
    (Investments in related parties / Total Investments made) 7.10% 24.62%

PRINCIPLE 2: Businesses should provide goods and services in a manner that is sustainable and safe

Essential Indicators

1. Percentage of R&D and capital expenditure (capex) investments in specific technologies to improve the 
environmental and social impacts of product and processes to total R&D and capex investments made by the 
entity, respectively.

Sr.
No. FY 23-24 FY 22-23 Details of improvements in environmental  

and social impacts

 1. R&D Considering the nature of business and being a holding company, this indicator is not applicable 
to us.

2. a. Does the entity have procedures in place for sustainable sourcing: No, considering the nature of business, this 
indicator is not applicable to us.

 b. If yes, what percentage of inputs were sourced sustainably: Not Applicable
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3. Describe the processes in place to safely reclaim your products for reusing, recycling and disposing at the end of 
life, for:

 (a) Plastics (including packaging)

Not Applicable
 (b) E-waste

 (c) Hazardous waste

 (d) Other waste

4. Whether Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) is applicable to the entity’s activities (Yes / No). If yes, whether 
the waste collection plan is in line with the Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) plan submitted to Pollution 
Control Boards? If not, provide steps taken to address the same.

 Not Applicable

PRINCIPLE 3: Businesses should respect and promote the well-being of all employees, including those in their value chains

Essential Indicators

1. a. Details of measures for the well-being of employees

% of employees covered by

Category
Total 
(A)

Health insurance Accident insurance Maternity benefits Paternity Benefits Day Care facilities

Number % Number % Number % Number % Number %

Permanent Employees

Male 16 13 81.25 15 93.75 Not Applicable

Not ApplicableFemale 8 8 100 8 100 8 100

Total 24 21 87.50 23 95.83 8 100

Other than Permanent Employees

Male 

Not applicable since the Company does not have any other employees besides permanent employees.Female

Total
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b. Details of measures for the well-being of workers:

% of workers covered by

Category
Total 
(A)

Health insurance Accident insurance Maternity benefits Paternity Benefits Day Care facilities

Number % Number % Number % Number % Number %

  Not Applicable

Permanent workers

Male 

  Not ApplicableFemale

Total

Other than Permanent workers

Male 

  Not ApplicableFemale

Total

c. Spending on measures towards well-being of employees and workers (including permanent and other than 
permanent) in the following format –

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Cost incurred on well- being measures as a % of total revenue of the company 0.02% 0.06%

Note: The Cost incurred on wellbeing measures includes the renewal of Health Insurance and Personal Accident Insurance.

2. Details of retirement benefits, for Current FY and Previous Financial Year. 

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Category

No. of 
employees 
covered as 
a % of total 
employees

No. of workers 
covered as a % 

of total workers

Deducted and 
deposited with 
the authority

(Y/N/N.A.)

No. of 
employees 
covered as 
a % of total 
employees

No. of workers 
covered as a % of 

total workers

Deducted and 
deposited with 
the authority

(Y/N/N.A.)

PF 96.00% Not Applicable Y 100% Not Applicable Y

Gratuity 87.50% Not Applicable Y 90.47% Not Applicable Y

ESI - Not Applicable - - Not Applicable -

Superannuation 12.5% Not Applicable Y 14.29% Not Applicable Y

3. Accessibility of workplaces: Are the premises / offices of the entity accessible to differently abled employees and 
workers, as per the requirements of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Act, 2016? If not, whether any steps are 
being taken by the entity in this regard.

 Currently, the Company does not have any differently abled employees.
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4. Does the entity have an equal opportunity policy as per the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Act, 2016? If so, 
provide a web-link to the policy.

 The Company fairly recognises the importance of providing equal opportunities to all and does not tolerate discrimination on the 
basis of disabilities of any kind.

5. Return to work and Retention rates of permanent employees and workers that took parental leave.

 None of the employee took parental leave during the financial year.

6. Is there a mechanism available to receive and redress grievances for the following categories of employees and 
worker? If yes, give details of the mechanism in brief.

Permanent Employees The permanent employees can directly approach the head of the department 
for any grievances and find appropriate solutions to their issues.

Other than Permanent Employees

Not ApplicablePermanent Workers

Other than Permanent Workers

7. Membership of employees and worker in association(s) or Unions recognised by the listed entity:

 Not applicable, since the Company is into trading activity & treasury operations, there is no such unions or association. The 
Company fosters open communication and direct engagement between management and employees, promoting a healthy 
working environment.

8. Details of training given to employees and workers:

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Category Total 
(A)

On Health and 
safety measures On Skill upgradation Total 

(D)

On Health and 
safety measures On Skill upgradation

No. (B) %(B/A) No. (C) %(C/A) No. (E) %(E/D) No. (F) %(F/D)

Employees

Male 16 16 100.00% 16 100.00% 15 15 100.00% 15 100.00%

Female 8 8 100.00% 8 100.00% 6 6 100.00% 6 100.00%

Total 24 24 100.00% 24 100.00% 21 21 100.00% 21 100.00%

Workers

Male

Not ApplicableFemale

Total

Note: The Company ensures that all the employees are aware and properly trained on crucial health and safety matters. Also, the 
employees are constantly encouraged to learn new skills, keep updated with industry norms and regulations by attending seminars 
and workshops.
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9. Details of performance and career development reviews of employees and worker:

Category
FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Total (A) No. (B) %(B/A) Total (C) No. (D) % (D/C)

Employees

Male 16 16 100.00% 15 15 100.00%

Female 8 8 100.00% 6 6 100.00%

Total 24 24 100.00% 21 21 100.00%

Workers

Male

Not ApplicableFemale

Total

Note: The head of the Department constantly provide feedback to all the employees in order to help them navigate through their 
careers and provide them with valuable insights to encourage them to grow further in their careers.

10. Health and safety management system:

a. Whether an occupational health and safety management system has been implemented by the entity? (Yes/ No). If yes, the 
coverage of such system?

 Due to the nature of the operations of the Company, there are no critical occupational health and safety risks.

b. What are the processes used to identify work-related hazards and assess risks on a routine and non-routine basis by the 
entity?

 Nature of the job does not call for any significant work-related health and safety hazards. Hence, no structured processes are 
used to assess the probable risks.

c. Whether you have processes for workers to report the work related hazards and to remove themselves from such risks. (Y/N)

 Since, the Company has no worker and so the above reporting is not applicable to the Company.

d. Do the employees/ worker of the entity have access to non-occupational medical and healthcare services? (Yes/ No)

 Yes, the Permanent Employees of the Company are provided with medical support for any non-occupational health care need 
through third party medical insurance coverage and Personal Accident Policy. This ensure that employees have access to 
necessary healthcare services, not only in the workplace but also outside work.
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11. Details of safety related incidents, in the following format:

Safety Incident/Number Category FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 
(per one million-person hours worked)

 Employees & 
Workers Nil

Total recordable work-related injuries

No. of fatalities

High consequence work-related injury or 
ill-health (excluding fatalities)

12. Describe the measures taken by the entity to ensure a safe and healthy work place.

 Nature of job does not require any work related health and safety hazard identification and assessment. However, we have built a 
culture of safety and introduce best practices. 

13. Number of Complaints on the following made by employees and workers:

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Filed during the 
year

Pending 
resolution at 

the end of year
Remarks Filed during the 

year

Pending 
resolution at 

the end of year
Remarks

Working 
Conditions Nil

Health & Safety

14. Assessments for the year:

% of your plants and offices that were assessed (by entity or 
statutory authorities or third parties)

Health and safety practices
Nil

Working Conditions

15. Provide details of any corrective action taken or underway to address safety-related incidents (if any) and on 
significant risks / concerns arising from assessments of health & safety practices and working conditions.

 Since there were no safety-related incidents in the past year, the Company did not require any corrective actions related to 
health and safety practices.
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PRINCIPLE 4: Businesses should respect the interests of and be responsive to all its stakeholders

Essential Indicators

1. Describe the processes for identifying key stakeholder groups of the entity.

 The Company systematically identifies its internal stakeholders like employees and external stakeholders like customers, investors, 
government bodies including regulators, banks and financial institutions. The management of the Company remains accessible 
to all stakeholders to understand and respond to their concerns. The Company focuses on maintenance of healthy stakeholder 
engagement and allows stakeholders’ participation as far as practically possible.

2. List stakeholder groups identified as key for your entity and the frequency of engagement with each stakeholder group.

Stakeholder Group

Whether 
identified as 
Vulnerable & 
Marginalized 

Group (Yes/No)

Channels of communication 
(Email, SMS, Newspaper, 

Pamphlets, Advertisement, 
Community Meetings, Notice 

Board, Website), Other

Frequency of 
engagement

(Annually/ Half yearly/ 
Quarterly / others – 

please specify)

Purpose and scope of 
engagement including key 
topics and concerns raised 
during such engagement

Customers

No
Email, Website, Newspaper 
publication, meetings and 
Annual Report

Need based and as 
per requirements of 
applicable laws.

To keep the shareholders 
updated about the 
Company and to provide 
support & guidance to 
them as well.       

To provide updated and 
correct information on 
working and performance 
of the Company.

Employees

Contractors

Bankers

Investors/Shareholders

Vendors/Suppliers

PRINCIPLE 5:  Businesses should respect and promote human rights

Essential Indicators

1. Employees and workers who have been provided training on human rights issues and policy(ies) of the entity, in the 
following format:

Category
FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Total (A) No. of employees /  
workers covered (B)

% (B / A) Total (C) No. of employees /  
workers covered (D)

% (D / C)

Employees

Permanent
The Company does not conduct any formal trainings on Human Rights issues, however we ensure that all 
our employees are aware on key Human Rights issues and take appropriate action if there are breaches in 
upholding of any human rights. 

Other than 
permanent

Total Employees

Workers

Permanent

  Not Applicable
Other than 
permanent

Total Employees
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2. Details of minimum wages paid to employees and workers, in the following format:

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Category Total 
(A)

Equal to Minimum 
Wage

More than 
Minimum Wage Total 

(D)

Equal to Minimum 
Wage

More than 
Minimum Wage

No. (B) % (B/A) No. (C) % (C/A) No. (E) % (E/D) No. (F) % (F/D)

Employees

Permanent 24 0 0 24 100 21 0 0 21 100

Male 16 0 0 16 100 15 0 0 15 100

Female 8* 0 0 8* 100 6 0 0 6 100

Other than Permanent

  Not ApplicableMale 

Female

Workers

Permanent

  Not Applicable

Male 

Female

Other than Permanent

Male 

Female

*It includes a Trainee Employee.

3. Details of remuneration/salary/wages, in the following format:

 A. Median Remuneration/Wages:

Male Female

Number
Median remuneration/  

Average salary/ wages of 
respective category (C)

Number
Median remuneration/  

Average salary/ wages of 
respective category (C)

Board of Directors (BoD) 8 3,65,000.00 2 1,95,62,761.00

Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)* 1 29,58,571.00 1 17,08,013.00

Employees other than BoD and 
KMP 14 11,34,862.50 5 6,96,000.00

Workers   Not Applicable

*KMP includes CFO & CS of the Company.
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B. Gross wages paid to females as % of total wages paid by the entity, in the following format: 

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Gross wages paid to females as % of total wages 36.67% 39.09%

4. Do you have a focal point (Individual/ Committee) responsible for addressing human rights impacts or issues 
caused or contributed to by the business? (Yes/No)

 Yes, the Business Responsibility and Sustainability Policy covers the issue of human rights and the management looks into any 
human rights issues or concerns if and when they arise.

5. Describe the internal mechanisms in place to redress grievances related to human rights issues.

 Human Rights is one of the core value of the Company and the Company is committed to maintain a safe business environment 
and workplace for all employees.

6. Number of Complaints on the following made by employees and workers:
 

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

 
Filed 

during the 
year

Pending 
resolution 
at the end 

of year

Remarks
Filed 

during the 
year

Pending 
resolution 
at the end 

of year

Remarks

Sexual Harassment

Nil

Discrimination at workplace

Child Labour

Forced Labour/Involuntary Labour

Wages

Other human rights related issues

7. Complaints filed under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) 
Act, 2013, in the following format.  Nil.

8. Mechanisms to prevent adverse consequences to the complainant in discrimination and harassment cases.

 The Company have Whistle blower policy as well as Internal Compliant Committee in place to prevent adverse 
consequences to the complainants in discrimination and harassment cases.

9. Do human rights requirements form part of your business agreements and contracts?

 The above such requirements are incorporated as required and applicable.
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10. Assessment for the year:

% of your plants and offices that were assessed (by entity or statutory authority or third parties) 

Child labour

Nil

Forced/involuntary labour

Sexual harassment

Discrimination at workplace

Wages

Others – please specify

11. Provide details of any corrective actions taken or underway to address significant risks / concerns arising from the 
assessments at Question 10 above.

 No corrective actions were required to be taken since there were no violations of any human rights related issues.

PRINCIPLE 6: Businesses should respect and make efforts to protect and restore the environment

Essential Indicators

1. Details of total energy consumption (in Joules or multiples) and energy intensity, in the following format:

Parameter FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

From renewable sources

Total electricity consumption (A) - -

Total fuel consumption (B) - -

Energy consumption through other sources (C) - -

Total energy consumed from renewable sources (A+B+C) - -

From non-renewable sources

Total electricity consumption (D) 1,67,694.41 1,57,437.9

Total fuel consumption (E) Negligible* Negligible*

Energy consumption through other sources(F) - -

Total energy consumed from non-renewable sources (D+E+F) 1,67,694.41 1,57,437.9

Total energy consumed (A+B+C+D+E+F) 1,67,694.41 1,57,437.9

Energy intensity per rupee of turnover  
(Total energy consumed/Revenue from operations)

Negligible Negligible

Energy intensity per rupee of turnover adjusted for Purchasing 
Power Parity (PPP)
(Total energy consumed/Revenue from operations adjusted for PPP)

- -

Energy intensity in terms of physical output - -

Energy intensity (optional)– the relevant metric maybes elected by 
the entity

- -

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, 
name of the external agency.
No independent assessment is in place.

*As our primary source of energy procurement is predominantly electricity and given the centralised nature of our operations, our 
utilization of fuel remains minimal.
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2. Does the entity have any sites / facilities identified as designated consumers (DCs) under the Performance, Achieve 
and Trade (PAT) Scheme of the Government of India? (Y/N) If yes, disclose whether targets set under the PAT 
scheme have been achieved. In case targets have not been achieved, provide the remedial action taken, if any.

 Not Applicable 

3. Provide details of the following disclosures related to water, in the following format:

Parameter FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Water withdrawal by source (in kilolitres)

(i) Surface water

The Company’s usage of water is primarily restricted to 
employees’ consumption purposes only.

(ii) Groundwater

(iii) Third party water

(iv) Seawater / desalinated water

(v) Others

Total volume of water withdrawal (in kilolitres) (i + ii + iii + iv + v)

Total volume of water consumption (in kilolitres)

Water intensity per rupee of turnover (Water consumed / 
turnover)

Water intensity per rupee of turnover adjusted for Purchasing 
Power Parity (PPP)
(Total water consumption/Revenue from operations adjusted for PPP)

Water intensity in terms of physical output

Water intensity (optional) – the relevant metric may be selected by 
the entity

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, 
name of the external agency.
No independent assessment is in place.
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4. Provide the following details related to water discharged:

Parameter FY 2023-24                                        FY 2022-23                                    

Water discharge by destination and level of treatment (in kilolitres)

(i) To Surface water

Considering the nature of business of the 
Company the disclosure relating to water 
discharge is not applicable to the Company.

 - No treatment

 - With treatment–please specify level of treatment

(ii) To Groundwater

 - No treatment

 - With treatment–please specify level of treatment

(iii) To Seawater

 - No treatment

 - With treatment–please specify level of treatment

(iv) Senttothird-parties

 - No treatment

 - With treatment–please specify level of treatment

(v) Others

 - No treatment

 - With treatment–please specify level of treatment

Total water discharged (in kilolitres)

 Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, 
name of the external agency.

 No  Independent Assessment is in place.

5. Has the entity implemented a mechanism for Zero Liquid Discharge? If yes, provide details of its coverage and 
implementation.

 Considering the nature of business, the Company is not required to undertake such implementation.

6. Please provide details of air emissions (other than GHG emissions) by the entity, in the following format:

Parameter Please specify unit FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

NOx

Considering the nature of business, direct air emission is limited.

SOx

Particulate matter (PM)

Persistent organic pollutants (POP)

Volatile organic compounds (VOC)

Hazardous air pollutants (HAP)

Others – please specify

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, 
name of the external agency.
No independent assessment is in place.
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7. Provide details of greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions) & its intensity, in the following format:

Parameter Unit FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Total Scope 1 emissions (Break-up of the GHG into CO2, 
CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, if available)

Metric tonnes of CO2 
equivalent

Negligible Negligible

Total Scope 2 emissions (Break-up of the GHG into CO2, 
CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, if available)*

Metric tonnes of CO2 
equivalent

38 35

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions per rupee of 
turnover

The minimal nature of fuel consumption leads to negligible Scope 1 & 2 
emissions.

Total Scope 1 and Scope2 emission intensity per rupee 
of turnover adjusted for Purchasing Power Parity (PPP)

-

Total Scope 1 and Scope2 emission intensity in terms of 
physical output -

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission intensity (optional) 
– the relevant metric may be selected by the entity tCO2 e/sq. ft.

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, 
name of the external agency.

No independent assessment is in place.

*The conversion factor considered for electricity emissions is 0.82 for FY 2023-24 and 0.81 for FY 2022-23 as per latest available data in 
user guide of Central Electricity Authority (CEA) - CO2. Baseline Database for the Indian Power Sector, version 19 (EF incl REG)

8. Does the entity have any project related to reducing Green House Gas emission? If Yes, then provide details.

 The Company always strives to efficiently manage energy consumption by adopting technology like LED lights, efficient HVAC 
system, which in turn enables reduction in overall Green House Gas emissions.
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9. Provide details related to waste management by the entity, in the following format:

Parameter FY 2023-24                                        FY 2022-23                                        

Total Waste generated (in metric tonnes)

Plastic waste (A)

Considering the nature of business, minimal 
waste is generated, however it is ensured 
that we recycle and reuse is done as much as 
possible. 

E-waste (B)

Bio-medical waste (C)

Construction and demolition waste (D)

Battery waste (E)

Radioactive waste (F)

Other Hazardous waste. Please specify, if any. (G)

Other Non-hazardous waste generated (H). Please specify, if any. (Break-up by 
composition i.e. by materials relevant to the sector)

Total (A+B+C+D+E+F+G+H)

Waste intensity per rupee of turnover
(Total waste generated/Revenuefromoperations)

Waste intensity per rupee of turnover adjusted for Purchasing Power Parity (PPP)
(Total waste generated / Revenue from operations adjusted for PPP)

For each category of waste generated, total waste recovered through recycling, re-using or other recovery operations  
(in metric tonnes)

Category of waste

(i) Recycled

Not Applicable
(ii) Re-used

(iii) Other recovery operations

Total

For each category of waste generated, total waste disposed by nature of disposal method (in metric tonnes)

(i) Incineration

Not Applicable
(ii) Landfilling

(iii) Other recovery operations

Total

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? (Y/N) If yes, 
name of the external agency.

No independent assessment is in place.
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10. Briefly describe the waste management practices adopted in your establishments. Describe the strategy adopted by 
your company to reduce usage of hazardous and toxic chemicals in your products and processes and the practices 
adopted to manage such wastes.

 Considering the nature of the business, this indicator is not applicable to us.

11. If the entity has operations/offices in/around ecologically sensitive areas (such as national parks, wildlife 
sanctuaries, biosphere reserves, wetlands, biodiversity hotspots, forests, coastal regulation zones etc.) where 
environmental approvals / clearances are required, please specify details in the following format:

S. No. Location of 
operations/offices Type of operations

Whether the conditions of environmental approval /  
clearance are being complied with? (Y/N) If no, the reasons  

thereof and corrective action taken, if any.

This indicator is not applicable since the Company is into trading activity and treasury operations. Further, the Company is also 
a holding company.

12. Details of environmental impact assessments of projects undertaken by the entity based on applicable laws, in the 
current financial year:

 This indicator is not applicable since the Company is into trading activity and treasury operations. Further, the Company is also a 
holding company.

13. Is the entity compliant with the applicable environmental law/ regulations/ guidelines in India; such as the Water 
(Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, Environment protection act 
and rules thereunder (Y/N). If not, provide details of all such non-compliances, in the following format:

 The Company is in compliance with the environmental laws wherever applicable.

PRINCIPLE 7: Businesses, when engaging in influencing public and regulatory policy, should do so in a manner that is 
responsible and transparent

Essential Indicators

1. a. Number of affiliations with trade and industry chambers/ associations: 3(Three)
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b. List the top 10 trade and industry chambers/ associations (determined based on the total members of such body) 
the entity is a member of/ affiliated to.

S. No. Name of the trade and industry chambers/ associations
Reach of trade and  

industry chambers/ associations  
(State/National)

1. Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce & Industry

National2. Federation of Indian Export Organizations 

3. Plastics Export Promotion Council

c. Provide details of corrective action taken or underway on any issues related to anti-competitive conduct by the 
entity, based on adverse orders from regulatory authorities.

Name of authority Brief of the case Corrective action taken

NIL None Not Applicable

PRINCIPLE 8: Businesses should promote inclusive growth and equitable development

Essential Indicators

1. Details of Social Impact Assessments (SIA) of projects undertaken by the entity based on applicable laws, in the 
current financial year.

 Considering the nature of business undertaken by the Company, there is no such requirement to undertake Social Impact 
Assessment of Projects.

2. Provide information on project(s) for which ongoing Rehabilitation and Resettlement (R&R) is being undertaken by 
your entity, in the following format:

 Considering the nature of business undertaken by the Company, there is no such requirement for rehabilitation and resettlement.

3. Describe the mechanisms to receive and redress grievances of the community.

 Please refer point VII (25). 

4. Percentage of input material (inputs to total inputs by value) sourced from suppliers:

FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Directly sourced from MSMEs/ 
small producers For the trading activity of PET Resins, the Company procures materials from Joint Venture in 

India pursuant to subsisting agreement.
Directlly from within India
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5. Job creation in smaller towns – Disclose wages paid to persons employed (including employeesorworkersemployedonaperma
nentornon-permanent/oncontractbasis) in the following locations, as % of total wage cost 

Location FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23

Rural 0 0

Semi-urban 0 0

Urban 0 0

Metropolitan 100% 100%

PRINCIPLE 9: Businesses should engage with and provide value to their consumers in a responsible manner

Essential Indicators

1. Describe the mechanisms in place to receive and respond to consumer complaints and feedback.

 The Company gets support from its supplier which has customer support engineers and QA teams to attend customer complaints 
and resolve them.

2. Turnover of products and/ services as a percentage of turnover from all products/service that carry information about:

As a percentage to total turnover

Environmental and social parameters relevant to the product The Company understands from its suppliers that the product 
PET Resin is 100% safe to environment. 

Safe and responsible usage Product is non-hazardous

Recycling and/or safe disposal 100% recyclable
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3. Number of consumer complaints in respect of the following:
 

FY 2023-24

Remarks

FY 2022-23

Remarks Received 
during the 

year

Pending 
resolution at 
end of year

Received 
during the 

year

Pending 
resolution at 
end of year

Data privacy

Nil

Advertising

Cyber-security

Delivery of essential services

Restrictive Trade Practices

Unfair Trade Practices

Other

4. Details of instances of product recalls on account of safety issues:

Number Reasons for recall

Voluntary recalls 0 -

Forced recalls 0 -

5. Does the entity have a framework/ policy on cyber security and risks related to data privacy? (Yes/No) If available, 
provide a web-link of the policy.

 The Risk Management Committee is empowered to formulate policy on cyber security and oversee the risk related to data privacy. 

The Company also have risk management and Business Responsibility and Sustainability Policy in place.

6. Provide details of any corrective actions taken or underway on issues relating to advertising, and delivery of 
essential services; cyber security and data privacy of customers; re-occurrence of instances of product recalls; 
penalty / action taken by regulatory authorities on safety of products / services.

 Since there were no issues regarding advertising, etc, no such corrective actions were needed to be taken.

7. Provide the following information relating to data breaches:

 a. Number of instances of data breaches: Nil

 b. Percentage of data breaches involving personally identifiable information of customers: Nil

 c. Impact, ifany, of the data breaches: Nil
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Management Discussion and Analysis Report
Pursuant to Schedule V of the Listing Regulations, the Management Discussion and Analysis 
Report is given below:

Industry Structure and Developments

The Company is carrying on the business of treasury operations in 
shares and securities of other bodies corporate and commodity 
trading including trading of PET Resins.

The business strategy is largely dependent on the economic 
environment of the Country. The Management continues to 
review the business strategy from time to time depending on the 
changes in Government policies. 

The Company is also engaged in F&B sector through its 
foreign subsidiary, in the name of Twelve Cupcakes Pte Ltd. in 
Singapore. Twelve Cupcakes Pte Ltd. is engaged in the business of 
manufacture and retail of confectionery in Singapore.

The Company also has a subsidiary namely DVL USA INC. in 
United States (U.S) incorporated for exploration and expansion 
of the Cupcake Business in the U.S. Market.

Opportunities and Threats

The management believes that Government of India’s efforts to 
improve economic growth in the Country by providing opportunities 
for startup and infrastructure development is giving hopes to 
entrepreneurs for exploring new opportunities. The Company is 
also looking to tap such opportunity at the right moment.

Segment wise performance

The Company operates under the segment “Treasury Operations” 
and “Trading activities”

Outlook & Risk and Concern

The Management has to regularly monitor the changing market 
conditions and the trends. Further, any slowdown of the 
economic growth or volatility in the financial market could also 
adversely affect the Company’s performance.

Internal Control System & their adequacy

The Company has instituted a system of checks and balances to 
ensure that all assets are safeguarded and adequately protected 

against the chances of occurrences of any loss or damage whether 
foreseen or unforeseen. Internal Control Systems in the Company 
continues to be reviewed through Internal Audit. The internal 
control system is commensurate with the size and nature of the 
organisation. The Company regularly carries out checks to ensure 
that the internal controls are working satisfactorily. The internal 
control systems are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis by 
the Senior Officials including KMPs. A seamless system has been  
put in place to ensure that any major discrepancies or lapse 
in controls are reported to the Audit Committee and Board of 
Directors of the Company and action is taken to control any breach.

Discussion on financial performance with respect to 
operational performance

This section is covered in the Board’s Report under the section of 
financial results and performance.

Material developments in Human Resources / Industrial 
Relations front including number of people employed

The total employee strength as on March 31, 2024 stood at 24.

Medium-term and long-term strategy

Your Company’s wholly owned subsidiary “Dhunseri Poly Films 
Pvt. Ltd.” (DPFPL) had commenced its commercial production of 
BOPET Line I in Panagarh, West Bengal on 13th December, 2023. 
It is also in the process of setting up State of the Art - 10.4 Meter 2 
Biaxally Oriented Polypropylene (BOPP) production in The Union 
Territory of Jammu & Kashmir. Consent to Establish is received for 
the project and activities on the ground is expected to start from 
July/August, 2024. The first BOPP line is expected to commence 
production from the FY 2025-26. While second line is expected to 
start operation from 2026-27.

Significant changes in Key Financial Ratios

In accordance with SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) (Amendment) Regulations, 2018, the significant 

changes are detailed below:
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Key Financial Ratios FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23 Variance (%) Reason if change is 25% or more

Current Ratio 3.62 4.95 (26.87%)
Decrease due to increase in trade payable and 
other payables.

Operating profit Margin(%) 0.61 1.00 (39.19%)
High Operating Cost and Lower Margin in Trading 
Operations

Net Profit Margin(%) 0.48 0.77 (37.66%)
High operating Cost and Lower Margin Trading 
Operations

Note 1: All numbers are based on Standalone Financial Statements.

Note 2: During the F.Y 2022-23, Debtors Turnover Ratio, Inventory Turnover Ratio were Nil.

Note 3: Debtors Turnover Ratio, Inventory Turnover Ratio, Debt Equity Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio for the Financial Year 2023-24 

does not reflect a change of 25% or more compared to Financial Year 2022-23.

Further, the Key Analytical ratios and their definitions are given in Note 40 of the Standalone Financial Statements.

Change in return on Net Worth

The return on Net worth for the FY 2023-24 is 9.43% and for FY 2022-23 is 8.40% resulting in an increase in the Return on Net Worth 
by 12.17% due to increase in net income during the year.

Cautionary Statement

Statements in this Management Discussion and Analysis describing the Company’s objectives, projections, estimates and expectations 
may be forward looking statements’ within the meaning of applicable laws and regulations. Actual results may differ substantially or 
materially from those expressed or implied. Important developments that could affect the Company’s operations includes a downtrend 
in the industry- global or domestic or both, significant changes in political and economic environment in India, applicable statues, 
litigations etc.
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Corporate Governance Report
In accordance with Regulation 34 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”):

1. Company’s philosophy on Corporate Governance

 The Company firmly believes that good corporate governance 
practices ensure efficient conduct of the affairs of the 
Company while upholding the core values of transparency, 
integrity, honesty and accountability and helps the Company in 
its goal to maximize value for all its stakeholders. It is a system 
by which business corporations are directed and controlled. 

 Dhunseri Ventures Limited (DVL) is committed to the adoption 
of and adherence to the Corporate Governance practices at 
all times and continuously benchmarks itself against each such 
practice in the industry. DVL believes that sound Corporate 
Governance is critical for enhancing and retaining investor trust 
and the Company always seeks to ensure that its performance 
goals are met with integrity. The Company works with the 
mission to attain global eminence through quality leadership 
and vision to raise the bar in line with the global practices and 
enhance stakeholder value. DVL complies with the Corporate 
Governance Code enshrined in the Listing Regulations.

 The Company is in compliance with the requirements stipulated 
under Regulation 17 to 27 read with Schedule V and clauses (b) 
to (i) of sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 of Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”), as 
applicable, with regard to Corporate Governance.

 The Company is committed to continuously scale up the 
Corporate Governance standards by way of practicing good 
Governance to ensure transparency in the affairs of the 

Company.

2. Board of Directors 

 The Board is the apex body of the Company constituted by the 

Shareholders for overseeing the Company’s overall functions.

 a) Composition and Category of Directors

 The Board of DVL as on March 31, 2024 have a 

judicious mix of an Executive Chairman cum Managing 

Director, a Managing Director (Woman Director), a Vice 

Chairman (Non-Executive Director) and an Executive 

Director (Finance).

 There are six other Directors on the Board out of 

which five Directors are Independent & Non-Executive 

Directors including one Independent Woman Director. 

The composition of the Board is in conformity with 

Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 

17 of the Listing Regulations. The composition of the 

Board is as follows:

NAME OF THE DIRECTORS/ KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNELS POSITION/DIRECTOR CATEGORY

A. EXECUTIVE & NON-INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

Mr. Chandra Kumar Dhanuka
(DIN: 00005684)

Executive Chairman (Key Managerial Personnel)
Promoter
Not liable to retire by rotation

Mrs. Aruna Dhanuka
(DIN: 00005677)

Managing Director (Key Managerial Personnel)
Promoter
Liable to retire by rotation

Mr. Rajiv Kumar Sharma*
(DIN: 05197101)

Executive Director (Finance) (Key Managerial Personnel)
Liable to retire by rotation
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NAME OF THE DIRECTORS/ KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNELS POSITION/DIRECTOR CATEGORY

B. NON-EXECUTIVE & NON INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

Mr. Mrigank Dhanuka**
(DIN: 00005666)

Vice Chairman 
Promoter
Liable to retire by rotation

Mr. Bharat Jhaver
(DIN: 00379111)

Non-Executive & Non-Independent Director
Liable to retire by rotation

C. NON-EXECUTIVE & INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

Mr. Joginder Pal Kundra
(DIN: 00004228)

Non-Executive & Independent Director
Not Liable to retire by rotation

Dr. Basudeb Sen
(DIN: 00056861)

Mrs. Anuradha Kanoria
(DIN: 00081172)

Mr. Raj Vardhan Kejriwal
(DIN: 00449842)

Mr. Sameer Sah
(DIN: 01844078)

*Mr. R.K.Sharma has been re-designated as Non-Executive Director w.e.f. April 01, 2024 as approved in the Board Meeting dated 

November 07, 2023.

**Mr. M.Dhanuka has been re-designated as Whole-Time Director w.e.f. May 01, 2024 as approved in the Board Meeting dated May 

24, 2024.

Notes:

1. Mr. V.Jain is the Chief Financial Officer and Ms. S.Gulati is the Company Secretary & Compliance Officer of the Company, designated as Key 

Managerial Personnel.

2. Mr. J.P.Kundra (DIN:00004228) and Dr. B.Sen (DIN:00056861), Independent Directors of the Company are nearing completion of their 

tenure of two consecutive terms of five years at this AGM. Accordingly, Prof. A.K.Dutta (DIN:00045170) and Mr. B.Bajoria (DIN:00109241), 

being eligible are appointed as Additional Directors in the capacity of Independent Directors of the Company at their meeting held on 

May 24, 2024 for a term of five years’ subject to the approval of the Members in this AGM. Further, there was no resignation of Directors 

including Independent Directors during the financial year.

The details of the Director who is re-designated are given in the Annexure to the Notice of the 108th Annual General Meeting (AGM). 

b) Number of other Directorships and Chairmanship/Membership of Committees and Name of the listed entities & 
Category of directorship of each Director in various Companies are as hereunder:

 The number of Directorships and Committee memberships including name of listed entities and category of Directorship in other 
Companies as on March 31, 2024 are given hereunder:
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Name of the 
Director

Directorship(s) in other Companies Committee Memberships held 
in other Companies (Note 2)

No. of 
Directorship(s) 

(Note 1)

Name of Listed entities
& Category of Directorship Member Chairman

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka 8

• Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd. (Managing Director)
• Dhunseri Investments Ltd. (Non-Independent Director) 
• Naga Dhunseri Group Ltd. (Non-Independent Director)
• Mint Investments Ltd. (Non-Independent Director)
• CESC Ltd.*(Independent Director)
• Emami Ltd. (Independent Director)

8 2

Mrs. A.Dhanuka 4

• Mint Investments Ltd. (Non-Executive Non-Independent 
Director)

• Dhunseri Investments Ltd. (Managing Director & CEO)
• Naga Dhunseri Group Ltd. (Non-Executive Non-

Independent Director)

3 None

Mr. M.Dhanuka 6

• Mint Investments Ltd. (Non-Independent Director)
• Dhunseri Investments Ltd. (Non-Independent Director)
• Naga Dhunseri Group Ltd. (Non-Independent Director)
• Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd. (Non-Independent 

Director)

1 None

Mr. R.K.Sharma 2
• Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd. (Non-Independent 

Director)
None None

Mr. J.P.Kundra 1 • Ginni Filaments Ltd. (Independent Director) 1 1

Dr. B.Sen 1 • Sumedha Fiscal Services Ltd. (Independent Director) None None

Mr. B.Jhaver 1 • XPRO India Limited (Non-Independent Director) None None

Mrs. A.Kanoria 1 • Kanco Tea & Industries Ltd. (Non-Independent Director) 1 None

Mr. R.V.Kejriwal 2 • Dhunseri Investments Ltd. (Independent Director) None None

Mr. S.Sah 4       None 1 None

*Mr. C.K.Dhanuka ceased to be an Independent Director in CESC Ltd. w.e.f. April 01, 2024.

As at March 31, 2024, in compliance with the Listing Regulations:
- None of the Independent Directors of the Company serve as an Independent Director in more than seven listed Companies 

and where any Independent Director is serving as Whole-Time Director in any listed Company, such Director is not serving as 
Independent Director in more than three listed Companies.

- None of the Directors on the Board is a member of more than ten Committees or Chairman of more than five Committees as 
specified across all Listed Entities in which he/she is a Director.
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- In the opinion of the Board, the Independent Directors fulfill the conditions specified in the Listing Regulations and are Independent 
of the management.

- Necessary disclosures regarding Committee position in other public companies as at March 31, 2024 have been made by the 
Directors. 

Note 1: Number of Directorships in other Companies excludes Directorships in Private Limited Companies, Foreign Companies and 
Companies incorporated under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013.

Note 2: Board Committee Chairmanships/Memberships in other Companies includes only Chairmanships/Memberships of Audit 
Committees and Stakeholders Relationship Committees.

Note 3:  Board Committee Memberships in other Companies includes Chairmanships in Committees of other Companies.

c) Number of Board Meetings held and dates on which held:

Number of Board Meetings Dates on which Board Meetings were Held

1/2023-24 May 24, 2023

2/2023-24 August 8, 2023

3/2023-24 September 11, 2023

4/2023-24 November 7, 2023

5/2023-24 January 5, 2024

6/2023-24 February 9, 2024

d) Attendance of Directors at the meetings of Board and at the last Annual General Meeting

 The Board met six times during the F.Y. 2023-24. The attendance of Directors at the Board Meetings and at the last Annual 
General Meeting are as follows:

Members of the Board
Board Meetings held on AGM held on

September 20,  
2023

May 24, 
2023

Aug 8, 
2023

Sept 11, 
2023

Nov 7, 
2023

Jan 5,  
2024

Feb  9, 
2024

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mrs. A.Dhanuka Yes Yes No Yes No Yes Yes

Mr. M.Dhanuka No No No Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. R.K.Sharma No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. J.P.Kundra Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Dr. B.Sen Yes Yes No No No Yes Yes

Mr. B.Jhaver Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mrs. A.Kanoria No Yes Yes Yes No No Yes

Mr. R.V.Kejriwal Yes No Yes Yes No Yes No

Mr. S.Sah Yes Yes No No Yes Yes Yes
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Core skills/expertise/ competencies identified by the Board of Directors as required in the 
context of its business

Names of Directors who have such 
skills/ expertise/ competence

Understanding of the Company’s Business Policies, Values, Vision, Goals, Leadership, 
Management, Business Development and its operations

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka, Mr. M.Dhanuka 
and Mr. R.K.Sharma

Understanding of the Company’s Business Policies, Values, Vision, Goals, Finance and 
Investment Mrs. A.Dhanuka

Expertise in Financial Management including Project Finance, Accounts, Taxation, Secretarial, 
Contract Negotiation and Corporate Governance Mr. R.K.Sharma

Understanding of the Company’s Business Policies, Values, Vision, Goals, Finance and Banking Mr. J.P.Kundra

Understanding of the Company’s Business Policies, Values, Vision, Goals, Commercial and 
Development Banking, Investment Management, Strategic Planning, Economy and Capital 
Market Research, Fund Management, Investments and Corporate Governance

Dr. B.Sen

Understanding of the Company’s Business Policies, Values, Vision, Goals, Finance, Leadership 
and Management

Mr. B.Jhaver, Mrs. A.Kanoria and 
Mr. R.V.Kejriwal

Specialisation in the areas of corporate advisory, M&A, joint ventures, foreign investments 
and private equity. Mr. S.Sah

The Directors of the Company have expertise and skills in diverse fields and are well versed to guide the team in the core areas as 
mentioned above and lead the Company in the upcoming years.

Note: 1. During F.Y. 2023-24, the Board Meetings and the Annual 
General Meeting were held at Kolkata through video-
conferencing.

 2. Mr. J.P.Kundra, Chairman of the Audit Committee was 
available at the AGM to answer the shareholder queries.

e) Disclosure of relationships between directors inter-se:
 Mrs. A.Dhanuka, Managing Director is related to  

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka, Executive Chairman and Mr. M.Dhanuka, 
Vice Chairman as per Section 2(77) of the Companies Act, 
2013. Mrs. A.Dhanuka is the wife of Mr. C.K.Dhanuka and 
mother of Mr. M.Dhanuka. Further, Mr. M.Dhanuka is the 
son of Mr. C.K.Dhanuka and Mrs. A.Dhanuka. No other 
Directors are related to each other in terms of the definition 
of “relative” given under the Act.

f) Web link where details of familiarization programmes 
imparted to Independent Directors is disclosed

 The details of familiarization programmes imparted to 
Independent Directors is duly disclosed on the website of the 
Company.

 The web link of the same is as follows: 

 https://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/
FAMILIARIZATION-PROGRAMME.pdf

g) Code of Conduct for Board Members and Senior 
Management

 The Board of DVL had laid down a Code of Conduct for all the 
Board members and Senior Management of the Company. The 
Code of Conduct is posted on the website of the Company 
(weblink: http://aspetindia.com/investors/code-of-conduct/). 
All Board members and Senior Management have affirmed 
compliance with the Code of Conduct and the Managing 
Director & CEO of the Company has confirmed the same.

 The same is annexed to the Report. 

h) List of core skills/expertise/competencies identified 
by the Board of Directors as required in the context of 
its business

 The Board skills matrix provides a guide as to the skills, 
knowledge, experience, personal attributes and other criteria 
appropriate for the Board of the Company. The Board is a skill-
based board comprising of Directors who collectively have 
the skills, knowledge and experience to effectively govern 
and direct the Company. The Board is of the opinion that the 
skills or competence required for the Directors in relation to 
the present business of the Company includes the following:
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3. Audit Committee

 The Company has in place the Audit Committee in line 
with the provisions of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Regulation 18 of the Listing Regulations. All the 
members of the Audit Committee are financially literate 
and have requisite financial and management expertise. 

 The Audit Committee comprises of Executive Chairman, 
four Non-Executive Independent Directors and one Non-
Executive Non-Independent Director.

 The Audit Committee has been vested with the powers to 
investigate any activity within its terms of reference, to seek 
information from any employee, to obtain outside legal 
or other professional advice and to secure attendance of 
outsiders with relevant expertise, if it considers necessary.

 Ms. Simerpreet Gulati, Company Secretary of the Company 
is the designated Compliance Officer.

Terms of reference of Audit Committee 

The terms of reference of Audit Committee includes:

1. Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and 
the disclosure of its financial information to ensure that the 
financial statement is correct, sufficient and credible;

2. Recommendation for appointment, remuneration and terms 
of appointment of auditors of the Company; 

3. Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other 
services rendered by the statutory auditors;

4. Reviewing, with the management, the Annual Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon before submission 
to the Board for approval, with particular reference to:

 a. Matters required to be included in the Director’s 
Responsibility Statement to be included in the Board’s 
report in terms of clause (c) of sub-section 3 of section 
134 of the Companies Act, 2013;

 b. Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and 
reasons for the same;

 c. Major accounting entries involving estimates based on 
the exercise of judgement by management;

 d. Significant adjustments made in the financial statements 
arising out of audit findings;

 e. Compliance with listing and other legal requirements 
relating to financial statements;

 f. Disclosure of any related party transactions;

 g. Modified opinion(s) in the draft audit report;

5. Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial 
statements before submission to the Board for approval;

6. Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses/
application of funds raised through an issue (public issue, 
rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds 
utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer 
document/prospectus/notice and the report submitted 
by the monitoring agency, monitoring the utilization of 
proceeds of a public issue or rights issue or preferential issue 
or qualified institutions placement, and making appropriate 
recommendations to the Board to take up steps in this 
matter;

7. Reviewing and monitoring the auditor’s independence and 
performance, and effectiveness of audit process;

8. Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of 
the company with related parties;

9. Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments; 

10. Valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, 
wherever it is necessary; 

11. Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management 
systems;

12. Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory 
and internal auditors, adequacy of the internal control systems;

13. Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, 
including the structure of the internal audit department, 
staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, 
reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal audit;

14. Discussion with internal auditors of any significant findings 
and follow up there on; 
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15. Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the 
internal auditors into matters where there is suspected fraud 
or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a 
material nature and reporting the matter to the board;

16. Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit 
commences, about the nature and scope of audit as well as 
post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern;

17. To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the 
payment to the depositors, debentureholders, shareholders 
(in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors;

18. To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism;

19. Approval of appointment of Chief Financial Officer after 
assessing the qualifications, experience and background, etc. 
of the candidate;

20. Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in the terms 
of reference of the Audit Committee.

21. Reviewing the utilization of loans and/or advances from/
investment by the holding company in the subsidiary 
exceeding rupees 100 crore or 10% of the asset size of the 
subsidiary, whichever is lower including existing loans/
advances/investments existing as on the date of coming into 
force of this provision.

22. To consider and comment on rationale, cost-benefits 
and impact of schemes involving merger, demerger, 
amalgamation etc., on the listed entity and its shareholders.

23. To monitor the end use of funds raised through public offers 
and related matters.

Review of information by Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee conducts a review of the various 
information as prescribed, including the following: 

 1. Management Discussion and Analysis of financial 
condition and results of operations;

 2. Management letters/letters of internal control 
weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors;

 3. Internal audit reports relating to internal control 
weaknesses; and

 4. The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of 
the Chief Internal Auditor shall be subject to review by 
the Audit Committee;

 5. Statement of deviations: 

 (a) quarterly statement of deviation(s) including report 
of monitoring agency, if applicable, submitted to 
stock exchange(s) in terms of Regulation 32(1). 

 (b) annual statement of funds utilized for purposes other 
than those stated in the offer document/prospectus/
notice in terms of Regulation 32(7).

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in conformity 
with the Listing Regulations read in conjunction with Section 177 
of the Companies Act, 2013.
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4. Nomination and Remuneration Committee

 The Company has in place a Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee in line with the provisions of Section 178 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of the Listing 
Regulations. The Committee comprises of one Executive 
Director being the Executive Chairman of the Company and 
two Non-Executive Independent Directors.

The terms of reference of the Committee includes the 
following:

1. Formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications,  

positive attributes and independence of a Director and 
recommend to the Board a policy relating to, the remuneration 
of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other employees; 

1A. For every appointment of an Independent Director, the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall evaluate the 
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board and 
on the basis of such evaluation, prepare a description of the 
role and capabilities required of an Independent Director. 
The person recommended to the Board for appointment as 
an Independent Director shall have the capabilities identified 
in such description. For the purpose of identifying suitable 
candidates, the Committee may:

Composition, Name of members, Chairperson, Meetings and Attendance

The Committee met six times during the FY 2023-24. The composition of the Audit Committee and the attendance of the Directors at 
the said meetings are as follows:

Members of the Audit 
Committee Designation

Audit Committee Meetings Held On

May 24, 
2023

Aug 8,  
2023

Sept 11, 
2023

Nov 7,  
2023

Jan 5,  
2024

Feb 9,  
2024

Mr. J.P.Kundra,
Independent Director, 
Retired Banker

Chairman 
of the 

Committee
Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka,
Promoter-Director,
Industrialist

Member Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Dr. B.Sen,
Independent Director
Retired Banker, 
Management Professional 
and Business Economist

Member Yes Yes No No No Yes

Mr. B.Jhaver,
Non-Independent 
Director, Industrialist

Member Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Mrs. A.Kanoria, 
Independent Director, 
Entrepreneur 

Member No Yes Yes Yes No No

Mr. S.Sah
Independent Director, 
Advocate

Member Yes Yes No No Yes Yes

The Managing Director, Vice Chairman, Executive Director (Finance) and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company attends the 
Audit Committee Meetings. The representatives of the Internal Auditors and Statutory Auditors also attends the Audit Committee 

Meetings. The Company Secretary acts as the Secretary of the Committee.
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 a. use the services of an external agencies, if required;

 b. consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds, having due regard to diversity; and

 c. consider the time commitments of the candidates

2. Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of Independent Directors and the Board of Directors; 

3. Devising a policy on diversity of Board of Directors; 

4. Identifying persons who are qualified to become Directors and who may be appointed in senior management in accordance 

with the criteria laid down, and recommend to the Board their appointment and removal;

5. Deciding whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the Independent Director, on the basis of the report of 

performance evaluation of Independent Directors;

6. Recommend to the board, all remuneration, in whatever form, payable to senior management.

The Nomination and Remuneration policy is available on the Company's website (weblink - http://aspetindia.com/wp-content/

uploads/2022/06/Nomination-and-Remuneration-Policy.pdf)

Performance evaluation criteria for Independent Directors

The criteria for performance evaluation cover the areas such as Qualifications, Experience, Knowledge and Competency, Fulfilment of 

functions, Ability to function as a team, Initiative,  Availability and Attendance, Commitment, Integrity, Preparedness for the Meeting, 

Staying updated on developments, Active participation at the meetings, Constructive contribution, Engaging with and challenging the 

management team without being confrontational or obstructionist, Speaking one’s mind and being objective, Protection of interest 

of all stakeholders, Independence and Independent views and Judgement. The performance evaluation of the Independent Directors 

was carried out by the entire Board at its meeting held on May 24, 2024 excluding the Director being evaluated based on the above 

evaluation criteria laid down by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The Board expressed that each of the Independent 

Director continued to perform effectively.

Composition, Number of members, Chairperson, Meetings and Attendance 

The Committee met twice during the F.Y. 2023-24. The attendance of the Directors at the said Meeting was:

Members of the Nomination and   
Remuneration Committee Designation

Nomination and Remuneration Committee Meeting Held On

May 24, 2023 November 07, 2023

Dr. B.Sen, 
Non-Executive & Independent Director 

Chairman of the 
Committee Yes No

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka,  
Executive Chairman Member Yes Yes

Mr. J.P.Kundra,  
Non-Executive & Independent Director Member Yes Yes

http://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Nomination-and-Remuneration-Policy.pdf%0D
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5. Details of remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2024:

 (i) Executive Directors
(in H)

Name of Director Salary Other benefits
Company’s 

contribution 
to P.F

Commission 
(variable 

component)

Performance 
linked 

incentive/ 
Annual pay

Total  
remuneration

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka 39,75,000 12,10,303 4,77,000 3,17,53,000 - 3,74,15,303

Mrs. A.Dhanuka 61,40,000 17,92,097 7,36,800 3,17,53,000 - 4,04,21,897

Mr. R.K.Sharma 1,02,03,390 70,64,230 7,33,471 - 15,00,000 1,95,01,091

Total 2,03,18,390 1,00,66,630 19,47,271 6,35,06,000 15,00,000 9,73,38,291

The agreements with the Managing & Executive Director(s) are contractual in nature and are executed to cover tenure as permissive 
under the Companies Act, 2013. The agreements between the Company and the Executive Director(s) other than promoter Directors 
can be terminated by either party by giving three months’ notice in writing as per their agreements. The agreements do not provide for 
the payment of any severance fees. There were no stock options available/ issued to the Managing & Executive Directors and it does 
not form part of the contract with the Company.

Payment of remuneration to the Executive/Whole-Time Directors of the Company is governed by the terms and conditions of their 
appointment as recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board at their respective 
meetings subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

Payment of incentives to the Executive Director (Finance) is based on the performance of the person contributing towards the 
performance of the Company.

Details of shares held by Managing & Executive Directors in the Company as on March 31, 2024:

Name No. of Shareholdings in the Company

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka 94,047 shares

Mrs. A.Dhanuka 82,510 shares

Mr. R.K.Sharma 500 shares

(ii) Non-Executive Directors 

Sitting fees for attending Board/Committee meetings are paid to the Non-Executive Directors. The Non-Executive Directors are not 
paid any commission. The criteria for remuneration, payable to Non-Executive Directors, are as contained in the Articles of Association 
of the Company. The Company pays the following sitting fees to its Directors for every Board meeting attended by them and Committee 
meetings unless such a Committee has waived the sitting fees:
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Meetings Amount of Sitting Fees (D)

Board Meeting 50,000

Audit Committee Meeting 20,000

Nomination and Remuneration Committee Meeting 20,000

Stakeholders Relationship Committee Meeting 10,000

Risk Management Committee Meeting 30,000

Separate Meeting of Independent Director 30,000

No sitting fee is payable for attending the other Committee meetings of the Company. The criteria of making payments to  
Non-Executive Directors is available on the Company's website (weblink: http://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/
Payments-to-Non-Executive-Directors.pdf)

There are no pecuniary relationships or transactions with the Non-Executive Directors, other than those disclosed in this report. 
Details of shares held by the Non-Executive Director in the Company as on March 31, 2024:

Name No. of Shareholdings in the Company

Mr. M.Dhanuka 1,15,921 shares

Other than the above, none of the Non-Executive Director holds any share in the Company.

During the F.Y. 2023-24, the following were the sitting fees paid to the Non-Executive Directors for attending the Board Meetings and 
other Committee Meetings. This also includes the sitting fees paid to the Independent Directors for attending the Separate meeting 
of the Independent Directors:

Name of the Director Board Committee Memberships in the Company Total sitting fees received (K)

Mr. M.Dhanuka None 1,50,000 

Mr. J.P.Kundra Audit Committee
Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Stakeholders Relationship Committee
Risk Management Committee

5,70,000

Dr. B.Sen Audit Committee
Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Stakeholders Relationship Committee
Risk Management Committee

3,00,000

Mr. B.Jhaver Audit Committee 4,20,000

Mrs. A.Kanoria Audit Committee 2,40,000

Mr. R.V.Kejriwal None 2,30,000

Mr. S.Sah Audit Committee 3,10,000
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6. Stakeholders Relationship Committee

 The Company has in place a Stakeholders Relationship Committee in line with the provisions of Section 178(5) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Regulation 20 of the Listing Regulations. The Committee comprises of three Directors, two of whom are Non-
Executive Independent Directors. The Committee specifically looks into the redressal of shareholder and investor complaints.   

The terms of reference of the Committee includes the following:

1. Resolving the grievances of the security holders of the Company including complaints related to transfer/transmission of shares, 
non-receipt of annual report, non-receipt of declared dividends, issue of new/duplicate certificates, general meetings etc.

2. Review of measures taken for effective exercise of voting rights by shareholders.

3. Review of adherence to the service standards adopted by the Company in respect of various services being rendered by the 
Registrar & Share Transfer Agent.

4. Review of the various measures and initiatives taken by the Company for reducing the quantum of unclaimed dividends and 
ensuring timely receipt of dividend warrants/annual reports/statutory notices by the shareholders of the Company.

Composition, Number of members, Chairperson, Meetings and Attendance

The Committee met two times during the F.Y. 2023-24. The attendance of the Directors at the said meetings was:

Members of the Stakeholders  
Relationship Committee Designation

Stakeholders Relationship Committee  
Meeting Held On

May 24, 2023 November 7, 2023

Mr. J.P.Kundra,
Non-Executive & Independent Director

Chairman of the 
Committee Yes Yes

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka,
Executive Chairman Member Yes Yes

Dr. B.Sen,
Non-Executive & Independent Director Member Yes No

Mr. R.K.Sharma has attended one of the meetings of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee held in the F.Y. 2023-24.

Mr. V.Jain has attended all the Stakeholders Relationship Committee Meetings held in the F.Y. 2023-24.

Ms. S.Gulati, Company Secretary of the Company is the designated Compliance Officer.

The Company has received two investor complaints during the F.Y. 2023-24. 

Number of complaints received and resolved during the financial year:

Number of complaints pending at the beginning of the financial year 2023-24 NIL

Number of complaints received during the financial year 02

Number of complaints redressed during the financial year 02

Number of complaints pending at the end of the financial year 2023-24 NIL
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7. Risk Management Committee

 The Company has in place a Risk Management Committee in line with Regulation 21 of the Listing Regulations. The Committee 
comprises of three members, all of them being the Board members, out of which two are Non-Executive Independent 
Directors. The Risk Management Committee have powers to seek information from any employee, obtain outside legal or other 
professional advice and secure attendance of outsiders with relevant expertise, if it considers necessary.

The terms of reference of the Committee includes the following:

1. Formulation of a detailed risk management policy which shall include:

 a) A framework for identification of internal and external risks specifically faced by the Company, in particular including 
financial, operational, sectoral, sustainability (particularly, ESG related risks), information, cyber security risks or any other 
risks as may be determined by the Committee. 

 b) Measures for risk mitigation including systems and processes for internal control of identified risks.

 c) Business continuity plan.

2. Ensuring that appropriate methodology, processes and systems are in place to monitor and evaluate risks associated with the 
business of the Company.

3. To monitor and oversee implementation of the risk management policy, including evaluating the adequacy of risk management systems.

4. To periodically review the risk management policy, at least once in two years, including by considering the changing industry 
dynamics and evolving complexity.

5. To keep the board of directors informed about the nature and content of its discussions, recommendations and actions to be taken.

6. The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the Chief Risk Officer (if any) shall be subject to review by the Risk 
Management Committee. 

The Risk Management Committee shall coordinate its activities with other committees, in instances where there is any overlap with 
activities of such committees, as per the framework laid down by the board of directors.

Composition, Number of members, Chairperson, Meetings and Attendance

The Committee met two times during the F.Y. 2023-24. The attendance of the Directors at the said meetings was:

Members of the Risk Management 
Committee Designation

Risk Management Committee Meeting Held On

September 11, 2023 March 7, 2024

Mr. R.K.Sharma,  
Executive Director (Finance)

Chairman of the 
Committee Yes Yes

Mr. J.P.Kundra,  
Non-Executive & Independent Director Member Yes Yes

Dr. B.Sen,  
Non-Executive & Independent Director Member No Yes
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8. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee
 The Company has in place a Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee in line with the provisions of Section 135 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 to recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on the activities prescribed as per the approved 
policy and to monitor the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy of the Company from time to time. The Committee comprises 
of an Executive Chairman, one Non-Executive Independent Director and a Woman Independent Director.

Composition, Number of members, Chairperson, Meetings and Attendance
The Committee met once during the F.Y. 2023-24. The attendance of the Directors at the said Meeting was:

Members of the CSR Committee Designation
CSR Committee Meeting Held On

May 24, 2023

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka,
Executive Chairman Chairman of the Committee Yes

Dr. B.Sen,
Non-Executive & Independent Director Member Yes

Mrs. A.Kanoria,
Non-Executive & Independent Director Member No

The CSR Policy is available on the Company’s website (weblink: https://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/FINAL-CSR-
Policy.pdf)

9. Share Transfer Committee

 The shares of the Company are traded compulsorily in dematerialised form. The Company has in place a Share Transfer Committee 
in line with the provisions of Regulation 40(2) of the Listing Regulations, the Board has unanimously delegated the powers of 
share transfers to a Share Transfer Committee. The Share Transfer Committee considers requests for transmission of shares, 
rematerialisation of shares, Issue of Duplicate Share Certificate and consolidation/sub-division of shares after these have been 
vetted by M/s Maheshwari Datamatics Pvt. Ltd., the Company’s Registrar and Share Transfer Agent. They have established 
connectivity with both the depositories, that is, National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) & Central Depository Services (India) 
Limited (CDSL).

Composition, Number of members, Chairperson, Meetings and Attendance

The Committee met eleven times during the F.Y. 2023-24. The attendance of the Directors at the meetings was:

Share Transfer Committee  
meetings held on

Members of the Share Transfer Committee

Mr. C.K.Dhanuka 
Executive Chairman

Mr. M.Dhanuka
Member

Mr. R.K.Sharma
Member

Dr. B.Sen
Member

April 24, 2023 Yes No Yes No

June 5, 2023 Yes No Yes No

June 22, 2023 Yes No Yes Yes

July 13, 2023 Yes No Yes Yes

August 10, 2023 Yes Yes Yes No
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September 5, 2023 Yes Yes Yes No

October 10, 2023 Yes No Yes No

December 4, 2023 Yes No Yes No

January 22, 2024 Yes Yes Yes No

March 6, 2024 Yes Yes Yes No

March 19, 2024 Yes Yes Yes No

10. Internal Complaints Committee (ICC)

 The Company has in place an Internal Complaints Committee in accordance with Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 along with its relevant Rules, which aims at protecting women's right to gender 
equality, life and liberty at workplace to encourage women's participation in work. 

 The Committee met once during the F.Y. 2023-24 on January 17, 2024.

 Number of complaints received and resolved during the financial year:

Number of complaints pending at the beginning of the financial year 2023-24 NIL

Number of complaints filed during the financial year NIL

Number of complaints disposed of during the financial year NIL

Number of complaints pending at the end of the financial year 2023-24 NIL

11. Separate meeting of the Independent Directors

 The meetings of the Independent Directors during the financial year 2023-24 were in accordance with the requirements of Section 
149 & Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25 of the Listing Regulations. 

 During the financial year, the Independent Directors met once on March 19, 2024 and all the Independent Directors attended the 
meeting. The detail of familiarization programmes is available on the Company’s website. 

12. Particulars of Senior Management 

 Details of Senior Management Personnel as on March 31, 2024 as defined under Regulation 16(1)(d) of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 
2015 are as follows:

Sl. No. Name Designation

1. Mr. Vikash Jain Chief Financial Officer

2. Ms. Simerpreet Gulati Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
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13. (i) General Body Meetings

 Details of the last three Annual General Meetings and the summary of the Special Resolution(s) passed therein are as under:

AGM Financial 
Year ended Date & Time Venue Special Resolution(s) passed

107th 
March 31, 

2023

September 20, 
2023

2:30 P.M.

Held through Video 
Conferencing.
Deemed Venue-
Dhunseri 
House, 4A, 
Woodburn Park, 
Kolkata-700020

1) Re-appointment of Mr. Chandra Kumar Dhanuka as the 
Executive Chairman & Managing Director

2) Re-appointment of Mr. Rajiv Kumar Sharma as the Executive 
Director (Finance)*

106th
March 31, 

2022

August 8, 
2022

12 Noon

Held through Video 
Conferencing.
Deemed Venue-
Dhunseri 
House, 4A, 
Woodburn Park, 
Kolkata-700020

NIL

105th
March 31, 

2021

August 13, 
2021

10:00 A.M.

Held through Video 
Conferencing.
Deemed Venue-
Dhunseri 
House, 4A, 
Woodburn Park, 
Kolkata-700020

1) Re-appointment of Mrs. Aruna Dhanuka as the Managing 
Director

2) Re-appointment of Mr. Rajiv Kumar Sharma as the Executive 
Director (Finance) & CFO**

3) Modification in the terms of Agreement of Mr. Chandra Kumar 
Dhanuka

*Re-designated as Non-Executive Director w.e.f. April 01, 2024

**Ceased to be the CFO w.e.f. September 16, 2021 

Other than the above, there were no other General Meetings held during the last three years.

13. (ii) Postal Ballot and Postal Ballot Process

 a. Resolution passed through Postal Ballot for Material modification in approved Related Party Transaction-

 On January 4, 2024, Ordinary Resolution was passed through postal ballot for Material modification in approved Related Party 
Transaction(s) pertaining to Trading of PET Resins with IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Private Limited (IVL Dhunseri Petrochem) 
under the subsisting agreements.
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 The voting result was as under: 

Sl. No. Particulars of Resolution Votes polled Invalid votes Votes in favour Votes against

1. Material modification in approved 
Related Party Transaction(s) pertaining to 
Trading of PET Resins with IVL Dhunseri 
Petrochem Industries Private Limited 
(IVL Dhunseri Petrochem) under the 
subsisting Agreement

12,98,864 2,59,72,427 11,20,815 1,78,049

 b. Person conducting the postal ballot exercise

  The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on November 7, 2023 approved the proposal to conduct a postal 
ballot to seek approval of members for material modification in approved Related Party Transaction(s) and also appointed  
Mr. Kailash Chandra Dhanuka, Practicing Company Secretary (FCS-2204/CP-1247) of M/s. K.C.Dhanuka & Co., Company 
Secretaries, as the Scrutinizer for scrutinizing the postal ballot through remote e-voting. Ms. Simerpreet Gulati, Company 
Secretary & Compliance Officer of the Company was appointed as responsible person for postal ballot voting process.

 c. Procedure followed: 

  In compliance with Regulation 44 of the Listing Regulations, Sections 108, 110 and other applicable provisions of the Act read 
with the Rules issued thereunder and the General Circulars issued in this regard by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”), 
the Company provided electronic voting facility to all its members.

  Postal Ballot Notice was sent only through electronic mode to those Members whose e-mail addresses were registered with the 
Company or Depositories or Depository Participant or the Company’s Registrar and Share Transfer Agent (RTA), Maheshwari 
Datamatics Private Limited (“MDPL”) on December 5, 2023. The Company had provided e-voting facility to its Members to 
cast their vote electronically. The instructions for e-voting were appended to the Postal Ballot Notice. Further, arrangement 
with NSDL had been made to provide e-voting facility to the members to enable them to cast their votes electronically. The 
members were advised to cast their vote on or before 5:00 p.m. (IST) on January 4, 2024. The Company also published the 
notice of postal ballot in a newspaper containing the details and requirements as mandate by the Act and applicable rules. 

  The result of postal ballot was declared on January 6, 2024 and the same was duly forwarded to the Stock Exchanges where 
the Company’s shares are listed and was simultaneously put up on the Company’s website also.

 d. Details of Special Resolution proposed to be transacted through postal ballot

  No Special Resolution is proposed to be conducted through postal ballot as on the date of this Report.

 13. (iii) Information about Directors seeking Appointment/ Re-appointment

  Mrs. A.Dhanuka is retiring by rotation and being eligible, offer herself for re-appointment. Her details are given in the Annexure 
to the Notice of the 108th Annual General Meeting (AGM).
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14. Means of Communication 

 a. Quarterly results/Annual results/Notices/Other important announcements: The quarterly results/annual results/notices/
other important announcements are published in newspapers such as Business Standard and Aajkaal. These results are 
also posted on the Company’s website www.aspetindia.com. As per SEBI requirements, quarterly and annual results of the 
Company are intimated to the Stock Exchanges immediately after the same is approved by the Board. Further, the quarter-end 
shareholding pattern, quarterly Corporate Governance Report, and other Corporate Disclosures are also intimated to the Stock 
Exchanges within the prescribed time limit. The Company is filing the above necessary announcements to stock exchanges 
through NSE Electronic Application Processing System (NEAPS), NSE Digital Exchange and BSE Listing Centre. 

 b. Annual Report: Annual Report containing, inter alia, Audited Annual Accounts, Board’s Report, Auditors’ Report and other 
important information is circulated to members and others entitled thereto through permitted mode(s). The Annual Report 
is posted on the Company’s website: www.aspetindia.com. The Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2024, would be sent through email to the Shareholders.

 c. Media Releases: Official news releases are given directly to the press and to National Stock Exchange of India Limited and BSE 
Limited.

 d. SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES): The investor complaints are processed in a centralized web based complaints 
redress system.

 e. Website: The Company’s website is www.aspetindia.com. Quarterly and annual results as well as shareholding pattern, 

Corporate Governance, and other necessary statutory disclosures are posted on the website of the Company.

15. General Shareholder Information

 (a) Annual General Meeting for the F.Y. 2023-24

Date & Time August 20, 2024 at 3:00 p.m.

Venue Annual General Meeting through Video Conferencing / Other Audio Visual Means facility 
[Deemed Venue for Meeting: Registered Office: Dhunseri House, 4A, Woodburn Park, 
Kolkata-700020]

Book Closure Date for Final Dividend August 14, 2024 to August 20, 2024 (both days inclusive)

 (b)(i) Dividend Payment Date: 

 The final dividend @ C5.00/- per equity share as recommended by the Board at its meeting held on May 24, 2024 for the year 
ended March 31, 2024, if approved by the shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting to be held on August 20, 2024, will 
be paid within 30 days from the date of the meeting.   
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(b)(ii) Unclaimed Dividend 

The Company has transferred the unpaid dividend for the F.Y. 2015-16 to Investor Education and Protection Fund in compliance with 
Section 124 of the Companies Act, 2013.

The particulars of unpaid dividend for the previous seven years were uploaded on the Company’s website and filed with the Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs.

(b)(iii) Transfer of Unclaimed Dividend and Shares to Investor Education and Protection Fund

During the year, pursuant to Section 124 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority 
(Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016 as amended by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs w.e.f. February 28, 2017, the 
Company had transferred 11,298 equity shares to the DEMAT Account of IEPF authority maintained with NSDL in respect of which 
dividend had remained unclaimed/unpaid for a consecutive period of seven years i.e., shares pertaining to F.Y. 2015-16, details whereof 
are provided in the Notes to the Notice of the 108th Annual General Meeting (AGM). The process of claiming unpaid/unclaimed 
dividend and/or shares transferred by the Company to IEPF is provided in the Notes to the Notice of the 108th AGM of the Company.

(c) Tentative Calendar for the F.Y. 2024-25 (subject to change)

Adoption of un-audited quarterly results and annual results Adoption on

Unaudited 1st quarter results August, 2024

Unaudited 2nd quarter results November, 2024

Unaudited 3rd quarter results February, 2025

Audited 4th quarterly results and annual results May, 2025

(d) Registrar and Share Transfer Agent

 Maheshwari Datamatics Pvt. Ltd.
 23, R.N.Mukherjee Road, 5th Floor,
 Kolkata-700 001
 Phone: 91 33 2248-2248, 2243-5029,
       E-mail: mdpldc@yahoo.com

(e)  Investors’ Correspondence

All queries of investors regarding your Company’s shares in physical/demat form may be sent to the Registrar and Share Transfer 
Agent of the Company.
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(f) Listing on Stock Exchanges & Stock Code

Stock Exchanges Code

BSE Limited
Floor 25, P.J.Towers, Dalal Street, Mumbai - 400001 523736

National Stock Exchange of India Limited
Exchange Plaza, Plot No: C/1, G Block Bandra – Kurla Complex, Bandra (E), 
Mumbai – 400 051

DVL

Demat ISIN No. for NSDL and CDSL  INE477B01010

Listing fees for the F.Y. 2024-25 has been paid to the above Stock Exchanges.

(g) Stock market price data and Performance in comparison to BSE Sensex for the F.Y. 2023-24

Stock Market Data (equity shares of D10 each)

Month
National Stock Exchange* Bombay Stock Exchange* BSE Sensex

High Low High Low High Low

Apr-2023 238.00 218.00 248.40 217.90 61,209.46 58,793.08

May-2023 266.00 228.00 264.50 229.70 63,036.12 61,002.17

Jun-2023 291.35 233.90 291.40 234.00 64,768.58 62,359.14

Jul-2023 298.80 257.05 298.35 257.00 67,619.17 64,836.16

Aug-2023 290.00 247.35 288.80 247.55 66,658.12 64,723.63

Sep-2023 285.00 254.85 285.00 255.55 67,927.23 64,818.37

Oct-2023 316.35 256.00 315.80 246.05 66,592.16 63,092.98

Nov-2023 377.30 274.05 377.00 273.85 67,069.89 63,550.46

Dec-2023 353.70 303.20 354.00 302.05 72,484.34 67,149.07

Jan-2024 558.70 316.55 558.00 317.20 73,427.59 70,001.60

Feb-2024 550.00 365.00 548.00 365.65 73,413.93 70,809.84

Mar-2024 408.00 308.75 408.00 310.70 74,245.17 71,674.42

*Source BSE & NSE website.
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Performance in comparison to broad – based indices

Performance on BSE 

Comparison of share price of DVL with BSE Sensex is as follows:

(h)  Share Transfer System

 In accordance with Regulation 40 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, as amended, all requests for transfer of securities shall be 
processed only if the securities are held in dematerialized form. Accordingly, members holding shares in physical form are 
requested to dematerialize their holdings at the earliest.

 M/s Maheshwari Datamatics Pvt. Ltd. who is also the Company’s Demat Registrars, requests for dematerialization of shares which 
are processed and confirmed by them to the respective depositories i.e. National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central 
Depository Services India Limited (CDSL) within 15 days. 

 Further, in compliance with SEBI circular SEBI/HO/MIRSD/MIRSD_RTAMB/P/CIR/2022/8 dated January 25, 2022, the listed 
companies are required to issue securities in dematerialized form only while processing the following service requests:

 i. Issue of duplicate share certificate 

 ii. Claim from unclaimed suspense account 

 iii. Renewal/Exchange of securities certificate 

 iv. Endorsement 

 v. Sub-division / splitting of securities certificate 

 vi. Consolidation of securities certificates/folios 

 vii. Transmission 

 viii. Transposition 

Stock Movement Comparison with Sensex
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 Accordingly, Members are requested to make service requests by submitting hard copy of duly filled and signed Form ISR-4 along 
with the supporting documents to the Company’s Registrar and Transfer Agent (RTA). The said form is available on the Company’s 
website at www.aspetindia.com and on the website of the RTA at https://mdpl.in/form.

 Permanent Account Number (PAN), E-mail ID, KYC details, etc.: In terms of SEBI Circulars dated November 3, 2021, December 
14, 2021, March 16, 2023, September 26, 2023, and November 17, 2023, read with SEBI directive dated January 17, 2024, it is 
mandatory for all holders of physical securities to furnish the following documents / details to the RTA-

 a) PAN 

 b) Contact details, Postal address with PIN, Mobile number, E-mail address

 c) Bank account details (bank name and branch, bank account number, IFS code) 

 d) Specimen signature. 

 For furnishing the above mentioned details, shareholder shall submit the hard copy of Form ISR-1 and/or ISR-2 to the RTA. The 
forms are available on the Company’s website at www.aspetindia.com and on the website of the RTA at https://mdpl.in/form. 

 Nomination: In terms of SEBI Circular dated November 3, 2021, it is mandatory for all shareholders holding shares in physical form 
to furnish nomination details to the Company / RTA. Shareholders can register their nomination details in Form SH-13 or they 
can choose to give declaration to opt out of Nomination by filing Form ISR-3. In case the shareholder holding shares in physical 
form wishes to change the nominee or cancel the nomination then Form SH-14 needs to be filled. The aforementioned forms are 
available on the website of the Company at www.aspetindia.com and on the website of the RTA at https://mdpl.in/form. Members 
are requested to submit the hard copy of the relevant forms along with the supporting documents to the RTA.

(i) Shareholding pattern and distribution of shares as on March 31, 2024

Category
Shareholders Shares

Numbers % of shareholders Numbers % of shares

Upto 500 23,187 92.9302 19,26,739 5.5011

501 to 1000 875 3.5069 6,85,172 1.9562

1001 to 2000 420 1.6832 6,29,936 1.7985

2001 to 3000 152 0.6092 3,87,079 1.1051

3001 to 4000 76 0.3046 2,71,004 0.7737

4001 to 5000 46 0.1844 2,14,624 0.6128

5001 to 10000 91 0.3647 6,61,954 1.8899

Above 10000 104 0.4168 3,02,48,246 86.3624

Total 24,951 100.00 3,50,24,754 100.00
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Shareholding Pattern as on March 31, 2024

Sl. No. Category Total Number Of Shares Total Shareholding As A Percentage 
Of Total Share Capital (%)

1. Promoter/Promoters Group 2,62,68,000 74.9984

2. Mutual Funds/UTI 1,200 0.0034

3. Financial Institutions/Banks 3,889 0.0111

4. Insurance Companies 6,03,165 1.7221

5. Central/State Government(s)/President of India 1,175 0.0034

6. Bodies Corporate 1,18,59,33 3.3860

7. Investor Education and Protection Fund 
Authority

2,11,992 0.6053

8. Indian Public 60,17,538 17.1808

9. Resident Individual (HUF) 3,65,800 1.0444

10. NRI / Foreign National / OCB 3,50,452 1.0006

11. NBFCs registered with RBI 0 0.00

12. Domestic Corporate Unclaimed Shares Account 15,610 0.0446

Total 3,50,24,754 100.00

(j) Dematerialization of shares and liquidity 

 As on March 31, 2024, 99.5977% of the Company’s total shares representing 3,48,83,874 shares were held in dematerialized form 
and 0.4023% representing 1,40,880 shares were held in physical form. The entire promoter holding are in dematerialized form.

(k) Suspense Escrow Demat Account

 In accordance with the requirements of SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/MIRSD/MIRSD_RTAMB/P/ CIR/2022/8 dated January 25, 2022, 
the Company has a Suspense Escrow Demat Account with the DP for transfer of shares lying unclaimed for more than 120 days 
from the date of issue of Letter of Confirmation to the shareholders in lieu of physical share certificate(s) to enable them to make 
a request to DP for dematerializing their shares.

(l) Outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any convertible instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity

 The Company has not issued any GDRs, ADRs, Warrants or any other convertible instruments.

(m) Plant Location

 The Company is engaged in Trading and Treasury Operations and accordingly, does not have any manufacturing unit.
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(n)  Insider trading regulation

 The Company adopted a code of internal procedures for prevention of any unauthorised trading in the shares of the Company 
by insiders, as required under SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015. The Company has in existence a Structured 
Digital Database as mandated under the above regulations.

(o)  Address for Investor correspondence/Grievance Redressal Division

 Shareholders can correspond with the registered office of the Company and/or at the Company’s Registrar and Share Transfer Agent. 
Shareholders holding shares in electronic mode should address all correspondence to their respective depository participants.

(p) Compliance Officer

 Ms. Simerpreet Gulati
 Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
 Dhunseri Ventures Ltd. 
 Dhunseri House, 4A, Woodburn Park, Kolkata - 700 020
 Phone – 91 33 2280-1950-54
 E-mail - investors@aspetindia.com

(q) Credit Rating by Infomerics Valuation and Rating Pvt. Ltd.

 Infomerics Valuation and Rating Pvt. Ltd. had reviewed and reaffirmed the Credit rating of IVR A1+ (lVR A One Plus) to Short Term 
Bank Facilities of the Company. Further, the last Credit rating assigned to the Long Term Bank Facility has been withdrawn in view 
of no such Long Term Bank Facility of the Company as on the date of the Credit Rating Report by Infomerics Valuation and Rating 
Pvt. Ltd.

16. Whether Management Discussion & Analysis (MDA) is a part of Annual Report: Yes

17. Other Disclosures

(a) Related Party Transactions

 All transactions entered into with Related Parties as defined under the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 23 of the Listing 
Regulations during the financial year were in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length basis. The material significant 
related party transactions with the Joint Ventures Companies under the subsisting agreements is annexed in AOC-2 to this report. 
There were no materially significant related party transactions made by the Company, its Promoters, Directors or the Management, 
their subsidiaries or relatives, amongst others, that may have potential conflict with the interest of the Company at large. 

 Transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note No. 38 of the Standalone Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

 The Board has approved a policy for related party transactions which has been uploaded on the Company’s website (weblink: https://
aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Related-Party-Transaction-Policy.pdf)

(b) During the last three years, there were no strictures or penalties imposed by either SEBI or the stock exchanges or any statutory 
authority for non-compliance of any matter related to the capital markets. 
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(c) The Company has in place a Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy in terms of Section 177(9) of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
Regulation 22 of the Listing Regulations, which enables stakeholders, including individual employees and their representative 
bodies, to freely communicate their concerns about illegal or unethical practices. The Company has in place a Vigil Committee as 
mentioned in the Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy of the Company comprising of the members of the Audit Committee in 
terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 to perform the function as specified in the policy with the quorum being 
two members. No personnel have been denied access to the Audit Committee to lodge their grievances. No complaint has been 
received by the Committee during the year. The Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy is also available on the Company’s website 
(weblink: http://aspetindia.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/VIGIL-MECHANISM.pdf)

(d) The Company has complied with all the mandatory requirements specified in Regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) of sub–
regulation (2) of Regulation 46 of the Listing Regulations.

 The status of adoption of the non-mandatory requirements as specified in sub–regulation 1 of Regulation 27 of the Listing 
Regulations are as follows:

 (i) Modified opinion(s) in audit report: The Company endeavours to move towards the regime of financial statements with 
un-modified audit opinion.   

 (ii) Reporting of Internal Auditor: The Internal Auditor of the Company attended the meetings of the Audit Committee and 
have direct access to the Audit Committee. 

(e) Policy for determining material subsidiaries are disclosed on the Company’s website http://aspetindia.com/wp-content/
uploads/2019/04/Policy-for-determining-Material-Subsidiaries.pdf

(f) The Company has no commodity price risks and accordingly has not entered into Commodity hedging.

(g) Utilization of funds raised through preferential allotment or qualified institutions placement as specified under 
Regulation 32 (7A) of the Listing Regulations

 The Company has not raised funds through preferential allotment or qualified institutions placement.

(h) Certificate from Company Secretary in practice

 The Company has obtained a certificate from M/s Mamta Binani & Associates, Company Secretaries in practice that none of the 
Directors on the Board of the Company have been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as a Director of the 
Company by the Board/Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such statutory authority. The same is annexed to this report.

(i) All recommendations of Committee of the Board made during the year were accepted by the Board. There was no instance of any 
disagreement between any of the Committees and the Board.
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(j) Details of total fees paid to Statutory Auditors

 The details of total fees for all services paid by the Company and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, to M/s B S R & Co., LLP, 
Chartered Accountants, the statutory auditor and all entities in the network firm/network entity of which the statutory auditor is 
a part, are as follows:

Particulars Amount (J in Lakhs)

Services as statutory auditors (including quarterly audits) 34.00

Services for other matters 8.75

Re-imbursement of out-of-pocket expenses 3.04

Total 45.79

k) Disclosure with respect to loans and advances

 The Company has advanced loan to Dhunseri Infrastructure Limited, Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Company amounting to 
C132.47 lakhs, which includes interest of C2.47 lakhs as on March 31, 2024. The details are provided in Note No. 7 of the Standalone 
Financial Statements in the Annual Report. 

 Further, the Company has advanced a loan of C22.50 Crores to Dhunseri Tea & Industries Limited (DTIL) on April 05, 2024 at 
an interest of 8% p.a. receivable quarterly from DTIL for meeting its short-term fund requirements, as approved by the Audit 
Committee and Board at its meeting held on May 24, 2023. Please refer the details as mentioned in Item No. 8 of 108th AGM 
notice.

l) Monitoring Governance of Subsidiary Companies

 Pursuant to Regulation 16(1)(c) and 24 of the Listing Regulations, the Company has two material subsidiaries as on March 31, 2024 
i.e. Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited and Twelve Cupcakes Pte. Ltd. 

 The Company has adopted a Policy for Determining Material Subsidiaries of the Company, pursuant to Regulation 16(1)(c) of the 
SEBI Listing Regulations. This policy is available on the Company’s website.

 Mrs. A.Kanoria, Independent Director of the Company is on the Board of Dhunseri Poly Films Pvt. Ltd. and Dr. B.Sen, Independent 
Director of the Company, is on the Board of Twelve Cupcakes Pte. Ltd. The investments made by the unlisted subsidiaries are 
placed before the Audit Committee which is reviewed by the said Committee. The Minutes/Resolutions, as applicable of the 
subsidiary companies are placed before the Board of Directors of the Company on a quarterly basis and the attention of the 
Directors is drawn to significant transactions and arrangements entered into by the subsidiary companies. The performance of the 
subsidiaries are reviewed by the Board periodically.

 The Company is compliant with other requirements under Regulation 24 of the SEBI Listing Regulations with regard to its subsidiary 
companies.
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Details of material subsidiaries:

1. Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited

Date of Incorporation November 28, 2020

Place of Incorporation Kolkata, West Bengal

Statutory Auditors M/s B S R & Co., LLP, Chartered Accountants

Date of Appointment of Statutory Auditors August 11, 2021

2. Twelve Cupcakes Pte. Ltd

Date of Incorporation May 8, 2011

Place of Incorporation Singapore

Statutory Auditors Natrajan & Swaminathan

Date of Appointment of Statutory Auditors June 25, 2019

18. Unclaimed Suspense Account

Disclosure in respect of equity shares transferred in “Domestic Corporate Unclaimed Shares Account” is as hereunder:

Particulars No. of Shareholders No. of Shares

Aggregate number of shareholders and the outstanding shares in the Unclaimed 
Suspense Account as on April 1, 2023 157 15,700

Add: Number of shareholders and aggregate number of shares transferred to the 
Unclaimed Suspense Account during the year 3 210

Less: Number of shareholders and aggregate number of shares transferred to IEPF 
during the year since the dividend has not been claimed for seven consecutive years NIL NIL

Less: Number of shareholders who approached the Company for transfer of shares 
and shares transferred from suspense account during the year 3 300

Aggregate number of shareholders and the outstanding shares (on the basis of 
folio number) in the Unclaimed Suspense Account as on  March 31, 2024 157 15,610

The voting rights on the shares in the Unclaimed Suspense Account as on March 31, 2024 shall remain frozen till the rightful owners 
of such shares claim them.
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19. Disclosure of certain types of agreements binding listed entities

 There is no agreement impacting management or control of the Company or imposing any restriction or create any liability upon 
the Company pursuant to clause 5A of paragraph A of Part A of Schedule III of the Listing Regulations.

20. CEO and CFO Certification

 As per sub-regulation 8 of Regulation 17 of the Listing Regulations, the Chairman and the Managing Director and the CFO 
of the Company, certifies to the Board regarding the review of the financial statements, compliance with the accounting 
standards, maintenance of the internal control for financial reporting, accounting policies, amongst others. The same is 
annexed to this report.

21. Auditors’ Certificate on Corporate Governance 

 As required by Part E of Schedule V of the Listing Regulations, a certificate from Mamta Binani & Associates, Practicing Company 
Secretaries, confirming compliance with the conditions of Corporate Governance, is attached to this report forming part of the 
Annual Report.

For and on behalf of 
     The Board of Directors

Place: Kolkata C.K.Dhanuka
Date: May 24, 2024 Executive Chairman
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Certificate in respect of Compliance with the 
Code of Conduct of the Company *

I, Chandra Kumar Dhanuka in my capacity as the Managing Director and the CEO of the Company do hereby certify that during the 

financial year 2023-24, all Directors and Senior Executives of the Company have complied with and adhered to the Code of Conduct of 

the Company as approved and prescribed by the Board of Directors of the Company.

For Dhunseri Ventures Ltd.

Place: Kolkata  C.K.Dhanuka
Date: May 24, 2024  Executive Chairman

*The Code of Conduct can be viewed on the Company’s website http://aspetindia.com/investors/code-of-conduct/
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To,
The Members,
Dhunseri Ventures Limited
Dhunseri House
4A, Woodburn Park
Kolkata 700020

We have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of Dhunseri Ventures 
Limited (‘the Company’) having CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697 and having registered office situated at Dhunseri House 4A, Woodburn 
Park, Kolkata 700020 (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’), produced before us by the Company for the purpose of issuing this 
Certificate, in accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V Para-C Sub clause 10(i) of the Securities Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the verifications (including Directors Identification Number (DIN) 
status at the portal (www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to us by the Company & its Officers, We 
hereby certify that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company as stated below for the Financial Year ending on March 31, 
2024 have been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as Directors of companies by the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, or any such other Statutory Authority.

Sr. No. Name of Director DIN Date of appointment in Company
1. Mr. Chandra Kumar Dhanuka 00005684 13/12/1973
2. Mrs. Aruna Dhanuka 00005677 09/12/2016
3. Mr. Rajiv Kumar Sharma 05197101 01/04/2024
4. Mr. Mrigank Dhanuka 00005666 31/01/2003
5. Mr. Bharat Jhaver 00379111 09/12/2016
6. Mr. Joginder Pal Kundra 00004228 03/07/2010
7. Dr. Basudeb Sen 00056861 03/07/2010
8. Mrs. Anuradha Kanoria 00081172 14/08/2019
9. Mr. Raj Vardhan Kejriwal 00449842 03/07/2020

10. Mr. Sameer Sah 01844078 17/03/2021

Ensuring the eligibility of the appointment /continuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility of the management of the Company. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these based on our verification. This certificate is neither an assurance as to the future viability 
of the Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For Mamta Binani & Associates  
Practicing Company Secretaries 

Madhuri Pandey
Partner
CP No. 20723
Membership No: F12731
UDIN: F012731F000650931 

Place: Kolkata
Date: May 24, 2024 

Certificate of Non-Disqualification of Directors 
(Pursuant to Regulation 34(3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10)(i) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015)



76   |   Dhunseri Ventures Limited

We in our official capacity do hereby confirm and certify that:

(a) We have reviewed financial statements and the cash flow statement for the year ended 31st March, 2024 and that to the best of 
our knowledge and belief:

 • these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements that might 
be misleading;

 • these statements together presents a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with existing accounting 
standards, applicable laws and regulations.

(b) There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the financial year 2023-
24 which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s Code of Conduct.

(c) We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and we have evaluated the 
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting. Deficiencies in the design or 
operation of such internal controls, if any, of which we are aware, have been disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Committee 
and steps have been taken to rectify these deficiencies.

(d) We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee

 • There have not been any significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year ended 31st 
March, 2024.

 • There have not been any changes in accounting policies during the year, and

 • We are not aware of any instance during the year of any fraud with involvement therein of the management or an 
employee having a significant role in the Company’s internal control system over financial reporting.

For Dhunseri Ventures Ltd. 

C.K.Dhanuka V.Jain
Executive Chairman  Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 24, 2024

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Certification 
Under Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015
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To, 
The Members,
Dhunseri Ventures Limited
Dhunseri House
4A, Woodburn Park
Kolkata-700020

The Corporate Governance Report prepared by Dhunseri Ventures Limited (“the Company”), contains details as stipulated in Regulations 
17 to 27, clauses (b) to (i) of Regulation 46(2) read with Schedule V of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended (“the Listing Regulations”) with respect to Corporate Governance for the 
year ended March 31, 2024. This report is required by the Company for annual submission to the stock exchange and to be sent to the 
shareholders of the Company.

The compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our examination 
was limited to the review of procedures and implementation thereof, as adopted by the Company for ensuring compliance with 
conditions of Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and the representations made by the 
Directors and the management, we certify that the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated 
in the Listing Regulations for the year ended on March 31, 2024. 

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For Mamta Binani & Associates
Practicing Company Secretaries 

Madhuri Pandey
Partner

CP No.: 20723
Membership No: F12731
UDIN: F012731F000651050

Place: Kolkata
Date: May 24, 2024

Certificate on Compliance with the Conditions of Corporate 
Governance as per Provisions of Chapter IV of Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015
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Impairment assessment of investments in subsidiaries
See note 6 to standalone financial statements

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The carrying value of investments in subsidiaries 
as at 31 March 2024 was INR 71,619.43 lakhs. As 
stated in Note 1.10 of the financial statements, 
Investment in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 
provision for impairment loss. Investments are 
tested for impairment wherever event or changes 
in circumstances indicate uncertainties over 
recoverability of the carrying amount of investments.

In view of the significance of the matter we applied the following audit 
procedures in this area, among others to obtain audit evidence:

• Tested the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key 
controls in respect of the Company's impairment review process of 
investments in subsidiaries;

• Where potential indicators of impairment were identified, we evaluated 
Company's impairment assessments and assumptions associated with fair 
value measurements of such investments;

Independent Auditor's Report

To
The Members of
DHUNSERI VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial 
Statements

Opinion

We have audited the standalone financial statements of Dhunseri 
Ventures Limited (the “Company”) which comprise the standalone 
balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the standalone statement 
of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), 
standalone statement of changes in equity and standalone 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
standalone financial statements, including material accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 
2013 (“Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, 
and its profit and other comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.  

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 

on Auditing (SAs) specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. 

Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in 

the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone 

Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 

of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued 

by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with 

the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act 

and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 

the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the standalone 

financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment assessment of investments in subsidiaries (Contd.)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

For investments where impairment indicators exist, 
significant judgments and estimates are required to 
assess the fair value of such investments.

Considering the degree of management judgment 
involved in the impairment assessment of 
investments in subsidiaries and the financial 
quantum of the aforesaid assets, we have 
determined this to be a key audit matter.

• Performed sensitivity analysis and verified reasonableness of the key 
assumptions applied in calculating the fair value of such investments and 
considered the resultant impact on the impairment testing;

• Performed a retrospective review to assess the reasonableness of 
Company's projections by comparing historical forecast to actual results;

• Evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures made in the standalone financial 
statements with respect to such investments.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and 
Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are 
responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual 
report, but does not include the financial statements and 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the standalone financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Management's and Board of Directors' Responsibilities 
for the Standalone Financial Statements  

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors are 
responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Act 
with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial 

statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, 
profit/loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity  
and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 
133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of 
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection 
and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, the 
Management and Board of Directors are responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the 

Company’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone 
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the standalone financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
standalone financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether 
the company has adequate internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Management and Board of 
Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management 

and Board of Directors use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparation of standalone financial statements 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the standalone 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
standalone financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the standalone financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 
(“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India in 
terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in the “Annexure 
A” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 
4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

 a. We have sought and obtained all the information and 
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

 b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law 
have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from 
our examination of those books, except for the following 
matters: (i) The Company has used an accounting 
software, which is operated by a third party software 
service provider for maintainence of its books of account 
and its daily backup on servers physically located in India. 
In the absence of system and organisation controls report 
for the period 1 October 2023 to 31 March 2024, we are 
unable to conclude on the daily backup of the books of 
account during the aforesaid period; (ii) the matters stated 
in the paragraph 2(B)(f) below on reporting under Rule 
11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

 c. The standalone balance sheet, the standalone statement 
of profit and loss (including other comprehensive 
income), the standalone statement of changes in equity 
and the standalone statement of cash flows dealt with by 
this Report are in agreement with the books of account.

 d. In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements comply with the Ind AS specified under 
Section 133 of the Act.

 e. On the basis of the written representations received from 
the directors as on 31 March 2024, 01 April 2024 and 
02 April 2024 taken on record by the Board of Directors, 
none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2024 
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164(2) of the Act.

 f. the modification relating to the maintenance of accounts 
and other matters connected therewith are as stated in the 
paragraph 2A(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)
(b) and paragraph 2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 
11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

 g. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements of 
the Company and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B”.

 B. With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us:

 a. The Company does not have any pending litigations 
which would impact its financial position.

 b. The Company did not have any long-term contracts 
including derivative contracts for which there were 
any material foreseeable losses.

 c. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, 
required to be transferred, to the Investor Education 
and Protection Fund by the Company.

 d (i) The management has represented that, to the 
best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed 
in the Note 43 to the standalone financial 
statements, no funds have been advanced or 
loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds 
or share premium or any other sources or kind 

of funds) by the Company to or in any other 

person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities 

(“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, 

whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that 

the Intermediary shall directly or indirectly lend 

or invest in other persons or entities identified in 

any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 

Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 

any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of 

the Ultimate Beneficiaries.
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  (ii) The management has represented that, to the 

best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed 

in the Note 43 to the standalone financial 

statements, no funds have been received by 

the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), 

including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), 

with the understanding, whether recorded in 

writing or otherwise, that the Company shall 

directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other 

persons or entities identified in any manner 

whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding 

Parties (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 

guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 

Ultimate Beneficiaries.

  (iii) Based on the audit procedures performed 

that have been considered reasonable and 

appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has 

come to our notice that has caused us to believe 

that the representations under sub-clause (i) and 

(ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (i) and (ii) 

above, contain any material misstatement.

 e. The final dividend paid by the Company during the 

year, in respect of the same declared for the previous 

year, is in accordance with Section 123 of the Act to 

the extent it applies to payment of dividend.

  As stated in Note 36 to the standalone financial 

statements, the Board of Directors of the Company 

have proposed final dividend for the year which 

is subject to the approval of the members at the 

ensuing Annual General Meeting. The dividend 

declared is in accordance with Section 123 of the Act 

to the extent it applies to declaration of dividend.

 f. Based on our examination which included test checks, 

the Company has used an accounting software, 

which is operated by a third party software service 

provider, for maintaining its books of account. In the 

absence of reporting on compliance with the audit 

trail requirements in the system and organisation 

controls report for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 

September 2023 and in the absense of system and 

organisation controls report for the period 1 October 

2023 to 31 March 2024, we are unable to comment 

whether audit trail feature of the said software was 

enabled and operated throughout the year for all 

relevant transactions recorded in the software or 

whether there were any instances of the audit trail 

feature been tampered with.

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’s 

Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

 In our opinion and according to the information and 

explanations given to us, the remuneration paid by the 

Company to its directors during the current year is in accordance 

with the provisions of Section 197 of the Act. The remuneration 

paid to any director is not in excess of the limit laid down under 

Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not 

prescribed other details under Section 197(16) of the Act which 

are required to be commented upon by us.

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay
 Partner

Place: Kolkata Membership no: 055757 
Date: 24 May 2024  ICAI UDIN:24055757BKEYKU2306
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(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal 
and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of 
even date)

(i) (a) (A) The Company has maintained proper records 

showing full particulars, including quantitative details 

and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

  (B) The Company has maintained proper records 

showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(i) (b) According to the information and explanations given 

to us and on the basis of our examination of the 

records of the Company, the Company has a regular 

programme of physical verification of its Property, 

Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant 

and equipment are verified every year. In accordance 

with this programme, the aforesaid property, plant 

and equipment were verified during the year. In our 

opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is 

reasonable having regard to the size of the Company 

and the nature of its assets. No discrepancies were 

noticed on such verification.

 (c) According to the information and explanations given 

to us and on the basis of our examination of the 

records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable 

properties (other than immovable properties where 

the Company is the lessee and the leases agreements 

are duly executed in favour of the lessee) disclosed 

in the standalone financial statements are held in the 

name of the Company.

 (d) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, the Company has not revalued its 

Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use 

assets) or intangible assets or both during the year.

 (e) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or 

pending against the Company for holding any benami 

property under the Prohibition of Benami Property 

Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

(ii) (a) The Company is in trading and treasury business 

and is not required to hold any physical inventories. 

Accordingly, clause 3(ii)(a) of the Order is not 

applicable.

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, the Company has been sanctioned 

working capital limits in excess of five crore rupees, 

in aggregate, from banks or financial institutions on 

the basis of security of current assets. However, such 

working capital limits have been sanctioned based 

on pledge of Company’s current and non-current 

investments, for which no returns are required to be 

submitted to the banks or financial institutions.

(iii)  According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, the Company has made investments 

in companies and other parties, provided guarantee 

and granted loans to companies in respect of which the 

requisite information is as below. The Company has not 

provided any security or advances in nature of loans to 

companies, firms, limited liability partnership or other 

parties during the year. The Company has not provided 

guarantee and granted loans to firms, limited liability 

partnership or any other parties. Further, the Company 

has not made investments in firms or limited liability 

partnership. 

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Standalone Financial

Statements of Dhunseri Ventures Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
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 (a) Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as 

per the information and explanations given to us the 

Company has provided loans or stood guarantee to any 

other entity as below:

Particulars Guarantees 
(D Lakhs)

Loans  
(D Lakhs)

Aggregate amount during 
the year Subsidiaries* 62,800.00 30.00

Balance outstanding as at 
balance sheet date
Subsidiaries*

94,694.30 130.00

  *As per the Companies Act, 2013

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and based on the audit procedures conducted by us, 

in our opinion the investments made during the year 

and the terms and conditions of the grant of loans and 

guarantees provided during the year are, prima facie, not 

prejudicial to the interest of the Company. The Company 

has not provided any security or granted any advances in 

the nature of loans during the year.

 (c) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records of 

the Company, in the case of loans given, in our opinion 

the repayment of principal and payment of interest has 

been stipulated and the receipts of interests have been 

regular. The repayment date of the principal has been 

extended before the due date in case of loan of C130.00 

lakhs given to Dhunseri Infrastructure Limited, wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Company.

 (d) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, there is no overdue amount for more 

than ninety days in respect of loans given. Further, the 

Company has not given any advances in the nature of 

loans to any party during the year.

 (e) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records of 

the Company, in our opinion following instances of loans 

falling due during the year were renewed or extended or 

settled by fresh loans:

Name of the 
parties

Aggregate 
amount of 

loans  
granted 

during the 
year  

(D lakhs)

Aggregate 
overdue 
amount 

settled by 
extension 
granted to 

same parties 
(D lakhs)

Percentage  
of the 

aggregate 
to the total 

loans granted 
during the 

year

Dhunseri 
Infrastructure 
Limited

130.00 130.00 100%

 (f) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records of 

the Company, the Company has not granted any loans or 

advances in the nature of loans either repayable on demand 

or without specifying any terms or period of repayment.

(iv)  According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of records of the 

Company, in respect of investments made and loans and 

guarantees given by the Company, in our opinion the 

provisions of Section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 

2013 (“the Act”) have been complied with. The Company 

has not provided any security during the year.

(v)  The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts 

which are deemed to be deposits from the public. 

Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

(vi)  According to the information and explanations given to us, 

the Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance 

of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the 

services provided by it. Accordingly, clause 3(vi) of the Order 

is not applicable.

(vii) (a) The Company does not have liability in respect of 

Service tax, Duty of excise, Sales tax and Value added 

tax during the year since effective 1 July 2017, these 

statutory dues has been subsumed into GST.
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(viii)  According to the information and explanations 

given to us and on the basis of our examination of 

the records of the Company, the Company has not 

surrendered or disclosed any transactions, previously 

unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the 

tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as 

income during the year. 

(ix) (a) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in 

repayment of loans and borrowing or in the payment 

of interest thereon to any lender.

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, the Company has not been declared a 

wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 

government or government authority.

 (c) According to the information and explanations given to 

us by the management, the Company has not obtained 

any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)

(c) of the Order is not applicable.

 (d) According to the information and explanations given 

to us and on an overall examination of the balance 

sheet of the Company, we report that no funds raised 

on short-term basis have been used for long-term 

purposes by the Company.

 (e) According to the information and explanations given 

to us and on an overall examination of the standalone 

financial statements of the Company, we report that 

the Company has not taken any funds from any entity 

or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its 

subsidiaries or associates as defined under the Act.

 (f) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and procedures performed by us, we report that the 

  According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, in our opinion amounts deducted 

/ accrued in the books of account in respect of 

undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Service 

Tax, Provident Fund, Income-Tax or Cess or other 

statutory dues have been regularly deposited by the 

Company with the appropriate authorities. As explain 

to us, the Company did not have any dues on account 

of Employees State Insurance and Duty of Customs.

  According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in 

respect of Goods and Service Tax, Provident Fund, 

Income-Tax or Cess or other statutory dues were in 

arrears as at 31 March 2024 for a period of more than 

six months from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, statutory dues relating to Goods 

and Service Tax, Provident Fund, Employees State 

Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or 

other statutory dues which have not been deposited 

on account of any dispute are as follows:

Name 
of the statute

Nature 
of the dues

Amount 
(D in Lakhs)

Period to 
which the 

amount relates

Forum 
where dispute 

is pending
Remarks, 

if any

Income Tax Act, 
1961 Income Tax 375.96 2017-18

Commissioner 
of Income Tax 

(Appeals)
None
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Company has not raised loans during the year on the 

pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries or associate 

companies (as defined under the Act).

(x) (a) The Company has not raised any moneys by way of 

initial public offer or further public offer (including debt 

instruments). Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is 

not applicable.

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to 

us and on the basis of our examination of the records 

of the Company, the Company has not made any 

preferential allotment or private placement of shares or 

fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. 

Accordingly, clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

(xi) (a) Based on examination of the books and records of 

the Company and according to the information and 

explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on 

the Company has been noticed or reported during the 

course of the audit.

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to 

us, no report under sub-section (12) of Section 143 of 

the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as 

prescribed under Rule 13 of the Companies (Audit and 

Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

 (c) As represented to us by the management, there are no 

whistle blower complaints received by the Company 

during the year.

(xii)  According to the information and explanations given to 

us, the Company is not a Nidhi Company. Accordingly, 

clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii)  In our opinion and according to the information and 

explanations given to us, the transactions with related 

parties are in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of 

the Act, where applicable, and the details of the related 

party transactions have been disclosed in the standalone 

financial statements as required by the applicable 

accounting standards.

(xiv) (a) Based on information and explanations provided to us 

and our audit procedures, in our opinion, the Company 

has an internal audit system commensurate with the size 

and nature of its business.

 (b) We have considered the internal audit reports of the 

Company issued till date for the period under audit.

(xv)  In our opinion and according to the information and 

explanations given to us, the Company has not entered 

into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons 

connected to its directors and hence, provisions of Section 

192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

(xvi) (a) As explained in Note 41 of the standalone financial 

statements, the Company is not required to be registered 

under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 

1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not 

applicable.

 (b) As explained in Note 41 of the standalone financial 

statements, the Company is not required to be registered 

under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 

1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not 

applicable.

 (c) The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) 

as defined in the regulations made by the Reserve Bank 

of India. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not 

applicable.

 (d) The Company is not part of any group (as per the 

provisions of the Core Investment Companies (Reserve 

Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly, the 

requirements of clause 3(xvi)(d) are not applicable.

(xvii)  The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current 

and in the immediately preceding financial year.
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(xviii)  There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors 

during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(xviii) of the Order 

is not applicable.

(xix)  According to the information and explanations given 

to us and on the basis of the financial ratios, ageing 

and expected dates of realisation of financial assets 

and payment of financial liabilities, other information 

accompanying the standalone financial statements, our 

knowledge of the Board of Directors and management 

plans and based on our examination of the evidence 

supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our 

attention, which causes us to believe that any material 

uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report 

that the Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities 

existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall 

due within a period of one year from the balance sheet 

date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as 

to the future viability of the Company. We further state 

that our reporting is based on the facts up to the date 

of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee 

nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a 

period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get 

discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

(xx)  In our opinion and according to the information and 

explanations given to us, there is no unspent amount 

under sub-section (5) of Section 135 of the Act pursuant 

to any project. Accordingly, clauses 3(xx)(a) and 3(xx)(b) 

of the Order are not applicable.

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay
 Partner
Place: Kolkata Membership no: 055757 
Date: 24 May 2024  ICAI UDIN:24055757BKEYKU2306
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Report on the internal financial controls with reference 
to the aforesaid standalone financial statements under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A)(g) under ‘Report on Other 
Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report 
of even date)

Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference 

to financial statements of Dhunseri Ventures Limited (“the 

Company”) as of 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit 

of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the 

year ended on that date.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, 

adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial 

statements and such internal financial controls were operating 

effectively as at 31 March 2024, based on the internal 

financial controls with reference to financial statements 

criteria established by the Company considering the essential 

components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 

Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 

issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the 

“Guidance Note”).

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities 
for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management and the Board of Directors are 

responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial 

controls based on the internal financial controls with reference 

to financial statements criteria established by the Company 

considering the essential components of internal control 

stated in the Guidance Note. These responsibilities include 

the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 

internal financial controls that were operating effectively for 

ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 

including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding 

of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 

the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and 

the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as 

required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 

internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed 

under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an 

audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial 

statements. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that 

we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 

internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

were established and maintained and if such controls operated 

effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 

with reference to financial statements and their operating 

effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with 

reference to financial statements included obtaining an 

understanding of internal financial controls with reference to 

financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness 

exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error.

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor's report on the standalone financial

statements of Dhunseri Ventures Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 

Company’s internal financial controls with reference to financial 

statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to 
Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference 

to financial statements is a process designed to provide 

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls 

with reference to financial statements include those policies 

and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 

that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) 

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and 

that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 

only in accordance with authorisations of management and 

directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised 

acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that 

could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with 
Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements, including the 

possibility of collusion or improper management override 

of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud 

may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 

evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to 

financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk 
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Standalone Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Notes  As at  
31 March 2024

 As at  
31 March 2023

Assets
(1) Non-current Assets

(a) Property, plant and equipment 3  740.63  348.90 
(b) lnvestment property 4  1,114.51  1,137.99 
(c) Intangible assets 5  1.22  1.80 
(d) Financial assets  

(i)   Investments 6A  1,56,504.40  1,25,383.01 
(ii)  Loans 7  132.47  102.00 
(iii) Other Financial assets 8  1.32  1.26 

Total Non-Current Assets  1,58,494.55  1,26,974.96 
(2) Current Assets

(a) Inventories 9  95.50  -   
(b) Financial Assets  

(i) Investments 6B  22,375.39  17,753.38 
(ii) Trade receivables 10  3,423.22  -   
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 12  605.41  1,213.64 
(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above 13  41.76  50.06 
(v) Other financial assets 8  3,575.04  1,985.74 

(c) Current tax assets 14A  823.63  2,071.04 
(d) Other current assets 11  92.73  56.32 

Total Current Assets  31,032.68  23,130.18 
Total Assets  1,89,527.23  1,50,105.14 
Equity and Liabilities
Equity

(a) Equity share capital 15A  3,503.29  3,503.29 
(b) Other equity 15B  1,73,473.14  1,40,142.47 

Total Equity  1,76,976.43  1,43,645.76 
Liabilities
(1) Non-current liabilities

(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 18  27.52  40.15 
(ii) Lease Liabilities  77.55  -   

(b) Provisions 16  73.63  44.58 
(c) Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 17  3,810.37  1,706.40 

Total Non-current liabilities  3,989.07  1,791.13 
(2) Current liabilities

(a) Financial liabilities
(i)  Borrowings 18  3,012.63  3,028.33 
(ii) Lease Liabilities  55.83  63.61 
(iii) Trade payables 19
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  1.34  0.36 
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises  3,401.14  44.05 
(iv) Other financial liabilities 20  1,670.68  798.13 

(b) Current Tax Liabilities   14B  336.26  541.73 
(c) Other current liabilities 21  36.21  149.79 
(d) Provisions 16  47.64  42.25 

Total Current Liabilities  8,561.73  4,668.25 
Total Equity and Liabilities  1,89,527.23  1,50,105.14 
Material accounting policies                        1
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements   
As per our report of even date attached.
For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697
Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Notes  Year Ended  
31 March 2024

  Year Ended  
31 March 2023

I Revenue from operations 22  34,954.47  15,642.97 

II Other income 23  15,200.60  15,850.97 

III Total Income (I+II)  50,155.07  31,493.94 

IV Expenses

Purchase of stock in trade 24  25,930.92  12,471.11 

Changes in inventories of stock in trade 25  (95.50)  -   

Employee benefits expense 26  1,309.39  1,286.95 

Finance costs 27  657.34  509.41 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 28  180.45  222.12 

Other expenses 29  1,479.25  1,801.89 

Total expenses (IV)  29,461.85  16,291.48 

V Profit before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)  20,693.22  15,202.46 

VI Exceptional item  -    -   

VII Profit before tax (V-VI)  20,693.22  15,202.46 

Current tax (Includes income tax for earlier years amounting to H382.19 Lakhs  
(31 March 2023-H Nil))  3,448.91  3,084.51 

 Deferred tax charge  564.04  47.68 

VIII Tax expenses 30  4,012.95  3,132.19 

IX Profit for the year (VII-VIII)  16,680.27  12,070.27 

X Other comprehensive income (OCI)

 Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

(i) Equity investments through other comprehensive income- net gain on 
disposal and change in fair value  20,989.95  (1,545.64)

(ii) Remeasurement loss of defined benefit obligations  (10.51)  (0.69)

(iii) Income tax relating to these items  (2,577.80)  192.62 

Other comprehensive income for the year (net of taxes)   18,401.64  (1,353.71)

XI Total comprehensive income for the year (IX+X)  35,081.91  10,716.56 

XII Earnings per equity share: 31

[Nominal value per share:  H10/- each (Previous Year- H10/- each)]

(1) Basic  47.62  34.46 

(2) Diluted  47.62  34.46 

Material accounting policies                        1
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements   
As per our report of even date attached.
For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697
Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2024

A) Equity Share Capital  (H in lakhs)

Particulars  Amount
Balance as at 31 March 2022  3,503.29 
Changes in equity share capital during 2022-23  -   
Balance as at 31 March 2023  3,503.29 
Changes in equity share capital during 2023-24  -   
Balance as at 31 March 2024  3,503.29 

B) Other Equity (H in lakhs)

Particulars

Reserves and Surplus Equity 
Instruments 

through 
Other Com-
prehensive 

Income

TotalCapital 
Reserve

Securities 
Premium

Capital 
Redemption 

Reserve
General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earning

Balance as at 01 April 2022  262.07  1,661.41  12.48  33,830.83  84,853.11  10,207.00 1,30,826.90 
Total comprehensive income for the 
year ended 31 March 2023
Profit for the year  -    -    -    -    12,070.27  -    12,070.27 
Other Comprehensive Income (net of tax)  -    -    -    -    (0.52)  (1,353.19)  (1,353.71)
Total comprehensive income  -    -    -    -    12,069.75  (1,353.19)  10,716.56 
Transfer within equity
Gain (net of tax) on sale of equity 
shares designated as FVOCI-
transferred to retained earnings  

 -    -    -    -    3,234.62  (3,234.62)  -   

Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity
Distributions to owners
 Dividend  -    -    -    -    (1,400.99)  -    (1,400.99)
Balance as at 31 March 2023  262.07  1,661.41  12.48  33,830.83  98,756.49  5,619.19  1,40,142.47 
Balance as at 01 April 2023  262.07  1,661.41  12.48  33,830.83  98,756.49  5,619.19  1,40,142.47 
Total comprehensive income for the 
year ended 31 March 2024
Profit for the year  -    -    -    -    16,680.27  -    16,680.27 
Other Comprehensive Income (net of tax)  -    -    -    -    (7.86)  18,409.50  18,401.64 
Total comprehensive income  -    -    -    -    16,672.41  18,409.50  35,081.91 
Transfer within equity

Gain (net of tax) on sale of equity 
shares designated as FVOCI-
transferred to retained earnings

 -    -    -    -    6,488.50  (6,488.50)  -   

Transactions with owners, recorded 
directly in equity
Distributions to owners

Dividend  -    -    -    -    (1,751.24)  -    (1,751.24)
Balance as at 31 March 2024  262.07  1,661.41  12.48  33,830.83  1,20,166.16  17,540.19  1,73,473.14 

Refer Note 15B for description of reserves 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements   
As per our report of even date attached.
For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697
Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024

(H in lakhs)

Particulars  Notes  Year Ended  
31 March 2024

 Year Ended  
31 March 2023

Cash Flow From Operating Activities

Profit before tax  20,693.22  15,202.46 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 28  180.45  222.12 

(Profit)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 23  0.04  (3.40)

Unrealised Foreign Exchange Loss/(Gain)  0.23  (2.36)

Financial instruments measured at FVTPL - net change in fair value 22  (5,137.65)  (2,066.39)

Net Loss / (Gain) on Disposal of Investments measured at FVTPL 22  (3,171.86)  411.96 

Interest Income 23  (853.53)  (845.48)

Rent received 23  (88.02)  (84.69)

Dividend income from Associate 23  (9,314.44)  (8,500.00)

Finance Costs 27  657.34  509.41 

Operating Profit before changes in working capital  2,965.78  4,843.63 

Working capital adjustments:

Increase in Inventories  (95.50)  -   

Increase in Trade receivables  (3,423.22)  -   

Decrease in Current Investments  3,680.34  10,056.61 

(Increase)/Decrease in Financial Assets and Other assets  (1,659.41)  3,031.89 

Increase/(Decrease) in Financial Liabilities and Other Liabilities  3,215.75  (288.85)

Cash Generated from Operations  4,683.74  17,643.28 

Income -Tax Paid (Net of refunds)  (3,444.83)  (3,791.64)

Net Cash generated from Operating Activities (A)  1,238.91  13,851.64 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment/ Intangible Assets  (15.80)  (264.26)

Proceeds on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment  0.65  4.89 

Rental Income from Investment Property 23  88.02  84.69 

Investment in Subsidiary Company  (12,120.64)  (35,238.45)

Sale of Non-current Investments (net)  2,572.76  13,690.28 

Dividend received from Investment in Associate 23  9,314.44  8,500.00 

Interest Received  853.87  2,017.23 

Net Cash generated from/(used in) Investing Activities (B)  693.30  (11,205.62)
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(H in lakhs)

Particulars  Notes  Year Ended  
31 March 2024

 Year Ended  
31 March 2023

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Dividends paid 36  (1,751.24)  (1,400.99)

Finance Costs paid  (646.75)  (505.05)

Payment of Lease Liabilities  (114.13)  (147.97)

Repayment of Long term borrowings  (28.32)  (931.90)

Net Cash used in Financing Activities (C)  (2,540.44)  (2,985.91)

Net decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C)  (608.23)  (339.89)

Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents 12  1,213.64  1,553.53 

Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 12  605.41  1,213.64 

1. The aforesaid standalone statement of cash flow has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Ind AS 7- "Statement of 
Cash Flow".     

2. Disclosure on reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities as required by Ind AS 7 has been included in Note 32.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the standalone financial statements  

As per our report of even date attached.

For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697

Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer

Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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Reporting Entity 

Dhunseri Ventures Limited (Formerly known as Dhunseri Petrochem Limited) is a company limited by shares and incorporated and 

domiciled in India. The Company is primarily engaged in Trading and Treasury Operations. Equity Shares of the Company are listed on 

Bombay Stock Exchange Ltd and National Stock Exchange of India Ltd. 

The Standalone Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue with the resolution of the Board of Directors on May 

24, 2024.

1. Material Accounting Policies   

 This Note provides a list of the Material Accounting Policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. These financial statements are the 

separate financial statements of the Company. 

1.1  Compliance with Ind AS 

 The standalone financial statements comply in all material aspects with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under 

Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) [Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015] and other relevant 

provisions of the Act and generally accepted accounting practices in India. 

1.2 Historical Cost Convention 

 These standalone financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:  

 (a) Certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) that are measured at fair value; (Refer note 6) 

 (b) Defined benefit plans – plan assets measured at fair value. (Refer note 16).

1.3    Revenue Recognition

Sale of goods 

At contract inception, Company assess the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and identify as a performance 

obligation each promise to transfer to the customer. Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of promised products or services 

to customers in an amount of the transaction price that is allocated to that performance obligation and that reflects the consideration 

which the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products or services. 

The Company considers the terms of the contract and its customary business practices to determine the transaction price. The 

transaction price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods 

or services to a customer net of returns, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties (for example, taxes).  

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024



96   |   Dhunseri Ventures Limited

With respect to sale of products revenue is recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied and the customer 

obtains the control of goods or services. There are no significant financing components involved on contract with customers. Invoices 

are usually payable within the credit period as agreed with respective customers.

The Company recognises revenue only when it is probable that it will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange 

for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer. 

Royalty Income 

The Company recognises revenue for a sales based royalty only when the sales are made by the licensee.  

1.4 Property, plant and equipment 

 All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, impairment loss, if any. Cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of these items. 

 The cost of any item of PPE shall be recognised as an asset if and only if it is probable that future economic benefit associated 

with the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All repairs and 

maintenance are charged to statement of profit and loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

  Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value 

 Depreciation is computed based on the management’s estimate of useful life of a property, plant and equipment which is 

in accordance with the useful lives of property, plant and equipment indicated in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013. 

In respect of certain assets categorised under “Motor Vehicles” and “Office Equipments” based on internal management 

assessment and independent technical evaluation, the management believes that these assets have useful lives of 8 years and 

2 years respectively, which is different from the useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule II of the Act, 5 years and 2-5 

years respectively. Depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted 

if appropriate. Item of Property, plant and equipment for which related actual cost do not exceed C5,000 are fully depreciated 

in the year of purchase. 

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. The gains/losses are recognised in 

the statement of profit or loss.

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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 Transition to Ind AS 

 The cost property, plant and equipment at 1 April 2016, the company’s date of transition to Ind AS, was determined with reference 

to its carrying value recognised as per the previous GAAP (deemed cost), as at the date of transition to Ind AS. 

1.5 Investment Property 

 Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Company, 

is classified as Investment Property. Investment Property is measured at its cost, including related transaction costs and where 

applicable borrowing costs less depreciation and impairment, if any. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset's carrying 

amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Company and 

the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part 

of an investment property is replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 

 Depreciation on building is provided over its useful life using straight line method.  

 Useful life considered for calculation of depreciation for assets class are as follows- 

Non-Factory Building                            60 years 

 The fair values of investment property is disclosed in the notes. Fair value is determined by an independent valuer who holds 

a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and category of the investment 

property being valued. 

 Rental Income from investment property is recognised as income in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

lease except where the rentals are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation.  

 Transition to Ind AS 

 The cost of investment property at 1 April 2016, the company’s date of transition to Ind AS, was determined with reference to 

its carrying value recognised as per the previous GAAP (deemed cost), as at the date of transition to Ind AS.

1.6   Intangible Assets 

 Intangible assets (Computer Software) have a finite useful life and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation, impairment 

loss, if any.

 Computer Software for internal use which is primarily acquired from third party vendors is capitalised. Subsequent costs 

associated with maintaining such software are recognised as expense as incurred. Cost of Software includes license fees and cost 

of implementation/system integration services where applicable.

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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 Transition to Ind AS 

 The cost Intangible assets at 1 April 2016, the company’s date of transition to Ind AS, was determined with reference to its 

carrying value recognised as per the previous GAAP (deemed cost), as at the date of transition to Ind AS. 

 Amortisation methods and periods 

 The Company amortises intangible assets with a finite useful life using the straight-line method over the following periods: 

 • Computer software   5 Years 

1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 The Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 

estimated.   

 For impairment testing, assets that do not generate independent cash inflows are combined together into cash-generating units 

(CGUs). Each CGU represents the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash 

inflows of other assets or CGUs. 

 The recoverable amount of a CGU (or an individual asset) is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value 

in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU (or the asset). 

 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment 

losses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Impairment loss recognised in respect of a CGU is allocated first to 

reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets 

of the CGU (or Group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 

 In respect of other assets for which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company reviews at each reporting 

date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there 

has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such a reversal is made only to the extent that 

the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 

amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.8 Leases 

 i. The Company as a lessee 

 The Company assesses whether a contract contains a lease as per the requirements of Ind AS 116 “Leases” at inception of a 

contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in 

exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset (ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic 

benefits from use of the asset through the period of the lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

 To classify each lease, the company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an 

operating lease. As part of this assessment, the company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major 

part of the economic life of the asset. 

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

 • fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

 • variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement 

date;

 • amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

 • the exercise price under a purchase option that the company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional 

renewal period if the company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a 

lease unless the company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

 The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a lease liability at the lease commencement date, except for leases with 

a term of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Company 

recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

 Certain lease arrangements include the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. ROU assets and 

lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 

 The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 

payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle 

and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives 

received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to 

the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of the lease 

term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use 

asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property 

and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 

remeasurements of the lease liability. 

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 

discounted using the incremental borrowing rate obtained from various external financing sources. Lease liabilities are remeasured 

with a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset if the Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise 

an extension or a termination option.

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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 ii. The Company as a lessor 

 When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating 

lease. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract 

is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 For operating leases, rental income is recognized on a straight basis over the term of the relevant lease.

1.9 Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates  

 Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are stated at cost less provision for impairment loss, if any. 

Investments are tested for impairment wherever event or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit and loss for the amount by which the carrying 

amount of investments exceed its recoverable amount.  

1.10 Financial Instruments 

1.10.1 Recognition and initial measurement  

 Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and 

financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit and loss 

(FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 

1.10.2 Classification and subsequent measurement  

 Financial assets  

 On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at 

 • amortised cost; 

 • Fair Value through Other Comprehensive income (FVOCI) – equity investment; or 

 • Fair Value through profit and loss (FVTPL)  

 Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the company changes its 

business model for managing financial assets. 

 A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

 • The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 • The contractual terms of the financial  asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal  

 and interest on the principal amount  outstanding. 
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 On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present 

subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI (designated as FVOCI – equity investment). This election is made on 

an investment by investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all 

derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 

requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI or at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch that would otherwise arise.    

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses  

Financial assets at FVTPL these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost these assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit 
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified 

as held- for- trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured 

at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses 

are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.    

1.10.3. Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Company derecognises a financial  asset when the contractual rights  to the cash flows  from the financial  asset expire, or 

it transfers  the rights  to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards  of 

ownership of the financial  asset are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and 

rewards  of ownership and does not retain control  of the financial  asset. 

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains either all or substantially 

all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not derecognised.  
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Financial liabilities 

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. 

The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under the modified terms are 

substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between 

the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

1.10.4. Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial  liabilities are offset and the net amount  presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, the 

Company currently has a legally  enforceable right  to set off the amounts  and it intends  either to settle them on a net basis or to 

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

1.10.5. Impairment of financial instruments 

The Company recognises loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets measured at amortised 

cost. Loss allowance for trade receivables with no significant financing component is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 

For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition in which case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The amount of expected 

credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be 

recognised is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.

1.11  Borrowing Cost 

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency borrowings to the extent that 

they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are directly 

attributable to acquisition or construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use 

are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.12      Foreign Currency Translation 

(a)   Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the standalone financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Company operates (‘the functional currency’). The standalone financial statements are presented in Indian 

rupee (C), which is the Company's functional and presentation currency. All amounts have been rounded-off to the nearest lakhs 

unless otherwise indicated. 

(b)   Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. At 

the year end, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are restated at the year end exchange rates. Foreign 

exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translations of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
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Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the statement of profit and loss, within 

finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis within other 

income/other expense. 

1.13  Employee Benefits 

(i)    Short-term employee benefits 

Short -term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid, if the Company has a legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount 

as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the amount of obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(ii)   Defined Benefit Plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company's net obligation in 

respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have 

earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. 

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. 

When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic 

benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan ("the asset ceiling"). 

In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding 

interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised in OCI. The Company determines the net interest 

expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 

benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any 

changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest 

expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service 

('past service cost' or 'past service gain') or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Company 

recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

(iii) Defined Contribution Plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity 

and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The Company makes specified monthly contributions towards 

Government administered provident fund scheme. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an 

employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which the related services are rendered by employees. 

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 
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(iv)   Other long term employee benefit obligations 

The Company's net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than post-employment benefits is the amount of future 

benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine 

its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The obligation is measured on the basis of an annual independent 

actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurement gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period 

in which they arise. 

1.14   Income Tax 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business 

combination or to an item recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

(i) Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax 

payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected 

to be paid or received after considering the uncertainty, if any, related to income taxes.  It is measured using tax rates (and tax laws) 

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and 

it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or simultaneously. 

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of carried 

forward tax losses and tax credits.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 

can be used. The existence of unused tax losses is strong evidence that future taxable profit may not be available. Therefore, in case 

of a history of recent losses, the company recognises a deferred tax asset only to the extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary 

difference or there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which such deferred tax asset can 

be realised. Deferred tax assets – unrecognised or recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognised/ reduced to the 

extent that it is probable/ no longer probable respectively that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 

based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
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The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at 

the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they 

relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 

current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

1.15  Provision  

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not 

recognised for future operating losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimates of the expenditure required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the 

passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

1.16   Dividends, interest income and interest expense 

Dividend Income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Company's right to receive payment is established. 

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method 

The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 

the financial instrument to: 

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 

• the amortised cost of the financial liability 

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the 

asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired 

subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 

financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 

1.17    Current/ non-current classification 

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/non-current classification. An asset is classified as 

current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 
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 • It is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 

 • It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

 • It is expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

 • Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period 

Current assets include the current portion of non-current financial assets. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when it satisfies any of the following criteria: 

 • It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 

 • It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

 • It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

 • There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period 

Current liabilities include the current portion of long term financial liabilities. The Company classifies all other liability as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are classified as non-current asset or liabilities. 

The operating cycle is the time between acquisition of assets and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Company has 

identified twelve months as its operating cycle. 

Based on the time involved between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash and cash equivalents, the 

company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle for determining current and non-current classification of assets and 

liabilities in the balance sheet.

2.1 Critical Estimates And Judgement    

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make estimates, judgments and 

assumptions. These estimates, judgments and assumptions affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the period. Application of accounting policies that require critical accounting estimates involving complex 

and subjective judgments and the use of assumptions in these financial statements have been disclosed below. Accounting estimates 

could change from period to period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Appropriate changes in estimates are made as 

management becomes aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in the financial 

statements in the period in which changes are made and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the 

year ending 31 March 2024 is included in the following notes: 
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  • Note 6: impairment assessment of investments in subsidiaries and associates carried at cost 

 • Note 14: measurement of defined benefit obligations - key actuarial assumptions; 

 • Note 33: determination of fair value of financial assets; 

2.2 Recent accounting pronouncements 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards 

or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Company 

2.2A Material accounting policy information 

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to Ind AS 1) from 1 April 2023. Although the amendments 

did not result in any changes in the accounting policies themselves, they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the 

financial statements.  

The amendments require the disclosure of 'material' rather than 'significant' accounting policies. The amendments also provide 

guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific 

accounting policy information that users need to understand other information in the financial statements.

3. Property, plant and equipment

See accounting policies in note 1.4 and 1.8

Reconciliation of carrying amount
(H in lakhs)

Particulars

Owned Asset Leased 
Asset

 Total
Buildings Office 

Equipment

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures
Land Vehicles Building

Cost or deemed cost (gross carrying 
amount)

Balance at 01 April 2022  8.37  54.23  127.27  -    146.12  483.65  819.64 

Additions during the year  -    13.34  1.44  120.23  89.61  -    224.62 

Disposal during the year  -    -    -    -    (16.21)  -    (16.21)

Balance at 31 March 2023  8.37  67.57  128.71  120.23  219.52  483.65  1,028.05 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



108   |   Dhunseri Ventures Limited

3. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.) 

Balance at 01 April 2023  8.37  67.57  128.71  120.23  219.52  483.65  1,028.05 

Additions during the year  294.69  30.41  44.18  -    6.24  173.30  548.82 

Disposal during the year  -    (0.34)  -    -    (13.72)  -    (14.06)

Balance at 31 March 2024  303.06  97.64  172.89  120.23  212.04  656.95  1,562.81 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 01 April 2022  1.19  39.41  93.41  -    71.34  289.88  495.23 

Depreciation for the year  0.17  7.55  10.04  -    41.90  138.97  198.63 

Disposal  -    -    -    -    (14.72)  -    (14.72)

Balance at 31 March 2023  1.36  46.96  103.45  -    98.52  428.85  679.14 

Balance at 01 April 2023  1.36  46.96  103.45  -    98.52  428.85  679.14 

Depreciation for the year  0.18  6.80  7.51  -    43.78  98.12  156.39 

Disposal  -    (0.32)  -    -    (13.03)  -    (13.35)

Balance at 31 March 2024  1.54  53.44  110.96  -    129.27  526.97  822.18 

Carrying amounts (net)

At 31 March 2023  7.01  20.61  25.26  120.23  121.00  54.80  348.90 

At 31 March 2024  301.52  44.20  61.93  120.23  82.77  129.98  740.63 

(a) As at 31 March 2024, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of C51.91 lakhs (31 March 2023- C88.21 lakhs) are 
subject to first charge to secure bank loans.       

4. Investment Property      
See accounting policies in note 1.5

(A) Reconciliation of carrying amount
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Buildings

Cost or deemed cost (gross carrying amount)

Balance at 01 April 2022  1,280.33 

Additions during the year  38.84 

Balance at 31 March 2023  1,319.17 

Balance at 01 April 2023  1,319.17 

Additions during the year

Balance at 31 March 2024  1,319.17 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 01 April 2022  158.19 

Depreciation for the year  22.99 

Balance at 31 March 2023  181.18 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



Annual Report 2023-24   |   109

4. Investment Property (Contd.)

Particulars Buildings

Balance at 01 April 2023  181.18 

Depreciation for the year  23.48 

Balance at 31 March 2024  204.66 

Carrying amounts (net)

At 31 March 2023  1,137.99 

At 31 March 2024  1,114.51 

 

(B) Measurement of Fair Values

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurement for all the investment property has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the 
valuation technique used.       

(ii) Valuation Technique       

The fair valuation is based on current prices in the active market for similar properties. The main inputs used are quantum, area, 
location, demand, restrictive entry to the complex, age of building and trend of fair market rent in the area.

(C) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties 

          (H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended  
31 March 2024

Year Ended  
31 March 2023

Rental Income (Refer Note 23)  88.02  84.69 

Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income (*)  -    -   

Profit from investment properties before depreciation  88.02  84.69 

Depreciation  23.48  22.99 

Net Income  64.54  61.70 

* The direct operating expenses include property tax, electricity and maintenance expenses amounting to C18.39 lakhs (31 March 
2023- C21.38 lakhs) incurred during the year which has been reimbursed by the tenant.

(E) Leasing arrangements        

The Company has given certain investment properties on operating lease arrangements. These lease arrangements range for a period 
up to 2 years and are cancellable in nature. The leases are renewable for a further period on mutually agreeable terms.
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4. Investment Property (Contd.)

(F) Fair Value
          (H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended  
31 March 2024

Year Ended  
31 March 2023

Investment properties       3,634.21  3,634.21 

Fair value of the investment property is based on the valuation by a registered valuer as defined under rule 2 of Companies (Registered 
Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017.             

5. Intangible Assets
 See accounting policies in note 1.6

Reconciliation of carrying amount (H in lakhs)

Particulars Computer Software

Cost or deemed cost (gross carrying amount)

Balance at 01 April 2022  4.08 

Additions during the year  0.80 

Balance at 31 March 2023  4.89 

Balance at 01 April 2023  4.89 

Additions during the year  -   

Balance at 31 March 2024  4.89 

Accumulated Amortisation

Balance at 01 April 2022  2.59 

Amortisation for the year  0.50 

Balance at 31 March 2023  3.09 

Balance at 01 April 2023  3.09 

Amortisation for the year  0.58 

Balance at 31 March 2024  3.67 

Carrying amounts (net)

At 31 March 2023  1.80 

At 31 March 2024  1.22 
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6. Investments

 See Accounting Policies in note 1.9 and 1.10      

 The Company designated the investments shown below as equity instruments at FVOCI because these equity securities represent  
 investments that the Company intends to hold for the long term for strategic purposes.

 (A) Non-Current Investments
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Unquoted Equity Shares

Investment in subsidiaries (At cost):

Dhunseri Infrastructure Ltd.
99,50,000 (31 March 2023: 99,50,000) fully paid up equity shares of face value of 
C10/- each  4,883.00  4,883.00 

Dhunseri Poly Films Pvt Ltd.
6,83,09,000 (31 March 2023: 6,00,09,000) fully paid up equity shares of face value 
of C10/- each  59,300.00  51,000.00 

Twelve Cupcakes Pte Ltd.
52,90,000 (31 March 2023: 52,90,000) fully paid up equity shares of face value of 
SGD 1 each  2,652.36  2,652.36 

DVL USA Inc
5,76,500 (31 March 2023: 49,008) fully paid up equity shares of face value of USD 
10 each  4,784.07  389.61 

Investment in Associates (At cost):

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Pvt Ltd.
2,12,50,000 (31 March 2023: 2,12,50,000) fully paid up equity shares of face value 
of C10/- each  4,312.00  4,312.00 

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Company S.A.E. (Formerly Egyptian Indian Polyester 
Company S.A.E.)
44,95,000 (31 March 2023: 44,95,000) fully paid up equity shares of face value of 
US$ 10 each  18,357.48  18,357.48 

Unquoted Equity Shares at FVOCI

Borosil Scientific Limited
2,32,432 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  586.01  -   

Uniply Industries Ltd.*
10,57,563 (31 March 2023: 10,57,563) equity shares of C2/- each  41.99  41.99 

Total Unquoted Equity Shares  94,916.91  81,636.44 
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6. Investments

 (A) Non-Current Investments (Contd.) (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Quoted Equity Shares at FVOCI    

Axis Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 1,21,125) equity shares of C2/- each  -    1,039.86 

Bharti Airtel Ltd
96,825 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  1,189.59  -   

Caplin Point Laboratories Ltd.
50,218 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C2/- each  660.54  -   

Cera Sanitaryware Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 11,077 ) equity shares of C5/- each  -    709.27 

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd.
6,66,045 (31 March 2023: 6,66,045) equity shares of C10/- each  1,239.84  1,209.87 

Divis Laboratories Ltd.
84,745 (31 March 2023: 48,025) equity shares of C2/- each  2,919.72  1,355.91 

Escorts Kubota Ltd.
1,60,308 (31 March 2023: 1,54,683) equity shares of C10/- each  4,452.23  2,925.13 

GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals Ltd
7,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  146.00  -   

Godawari Power & Ispat Ltd
83,102 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  629.33 

Gujarat Fluorochemicals Ltd.
31,506 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  975.85  -   

HDFC Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 2,36,614) equity shares of C1/- each  -    3,808.42 

Himadri Speciality Chemical Ltd.
3,75,000 (31 March 2023 : 3,10,000) equity shares of C1/- each  1,133.63  270.63 

Hitachi Energy India Ltd.
25,000 (31 March 2023 : 53,102) equity shares of C2/- each  1,742.93  1,775.41 

ICICI Bank Ltd.
1,57,461 (31 March 2023: 1,57,461) equity shares of C2/- each  1,721.52  1,381.33 

IFB Industries Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023 : 33,104) equity shares of C10/- each  -    244.14 

Indiabulls Housing Finance PP Ltd.
8,10,825 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares partly paid C0.67/- each  684.74  -   

Inox Wind Ltd.
4,21,600 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  2,199.07  -   

JSW Energy Limited
2,14,650 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  1,135.28  -   

Life Insurance Corporation of India
2,25,000 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  2,061.34  -   
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6. Investments

 (A) Non-Current Investments (Contd.) (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Mrs. Bectors Food Specialities Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023 : 1,33,774) equity shares of C10/- each  -    714.29 

NATCO Pharma Ltd.
1,29,250 (31 March 2023: 1,03,000) equity shares of C2/- each  1,230.52  580.25 

Orient Cement Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 4,71,525) equity shares of C1/- each  -    518.44 

Piramal Pharma Ltd.
3,41,250 (31 March 2023: Nil ) equity shares of C10/- each  439.87  -   

Poonawalla Fincorp Ltd.
3,46,200 (31 March 2023: 3,53,923 ) equity shares of C2/- each  1,611.91  1,035.22 

Punjab Chemicals & Crop Protection Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 88,339) equity shares of C10/- each  -    731.27 

Reliance Industries Ltd
1,01,516 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  3,016.75  -   

REC Ltd.
1,90,000 (31 March 2023: 1,16,250) equity shares of C10/- each  856.90  134.21 

Schneider Electric Infrastructure Ltd.
5,45,550 (31 March 2023: 4,33,050) equity shares of C2/- each  4,042.80  674.26 

State Bank of India
2,04,075 (31 March 2023: 1,73,440) equity shares of C1/- each  1,535.36  908.39 

Sumitomo Chemical India Ltd.
13,66,342 (31 March 2023: 13,17,892) equity shares of C10/- each  4,751.45  5,615.54 

Tata Motors - DVR Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 2,62,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    547.97 

Tata Motors Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 48,750) equity shares of C2/- each  -    205.14 

Titagarh Rail Systems Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 2,62,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    688.80 

Time Technoplast Ltd.
2,44,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  610.39  -   

Vardhman Special Steels Ltd.
1,68,925 (31 March 2023: 5,259) equity shares of C10/- each  358.29  20.89 

Varun Beverages Ltd.
5,26,376 (31 March 2023: 2,63,188) equity shares of C5/- each  7,361.89  3,650.42 

Whirlpool of India Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 10,000) equity shares of C10/- each  -    131.51 

Total (Equity Instruments - Quoted)  48,707.74  30,876.57 

TOTAL  1,43,624.65  1,12,513.01 
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6. Investments

 (A) Non-Current Investments (Contd.) (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Investment in Debentures (Unquoted)

Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (at FVTPL)
9,75,000 (31 March 2023: 9,75,000) debentures of C1,000/- each of IVL Dhunseri 
Petrochem Industries Pvt Ltd  12,879.75  12,870.00 

Total (Debentures)  12,879.75  12,870.00 

Total Non-current Investments  1,56,504.40  1,25,383.01 

Total Non-current Investments

Aggregate book value of quoted investments  48,707.74  30,876.57 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments  48,707.74  30,876.57 

Aggregate value of unquoted investments  1,07,796.66  94,506.44 
* Not actively traded

6. (B) Current Investments
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Unquoted Equity Shares at FVTPL

Borosil Scientific Limited
77,481 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  195.34  -   

Uniply Industries Ltd.*
7,98,603 (31 March 2023: 7,98,603) equity shares of C2/- each  31.70  31.70 

Quoted Equity Shares at FVTPL

Axis Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 11,175) equity shares of C2/- each  -    95.94 

Bajaj Finance Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023 : 34,250) equity shares of C2/- each  -    1,923.74 

Bharti Airtel Ltd
32,275 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  396.53  -   

Caplin Point Laboratories Ltd.
16,740 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C2/- each  220.19  -   

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd.
9,436 (31 March 2023: 9,436) equity shares of C10/- each  17.57  17.14 

Divis Laboratories Ltd.
14,515 (31 March 2023: 2,275) equity shares of C2/- each  500.09  64.23 

Escorts Kubota Ltd.
32,686 (31 March 2023: 30,811) equity shares of C10/- each  907.79  582.65 

GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals Ltd
2,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  48.67  -   
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6. (B) Current Investments (Contd.)
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Godawari Power & Ispat Ltd
27,700 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  209.77  -   

Gujarat Fluorochemicals Ltd.
10,503 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  325.31  -   

HDFC Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 30,056) equity shares of C1/- each  -    483.77 

Himadri Speciality Chemical Ltd.
30,000 (31 March 2023 : 20,000) equity shares of C1/- each  90.69  17.46 

Hitachi Energy India Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 17,706) equity shares of C2/- each  -    591.98 

ICICI Bank Ltd.
4,27,939 (31 March 2023: 4,48,939) equity shares of C2/- each  4,678.66  3,938.32 

Indiabulls Housing Finance PP Ltd
2,70,275 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares partly paid C0.67/- each  228.25  -   

Jio Financial Services Limited
2,15,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  762.33  -   

JSW Energy Limited
71,550 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  378.43  -   

Life Insurance Corporation of India
75,000 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  687.11  -   

Mrs Bectors Food Specialities Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 44,592) equity shares of C10/- each  -    238.10 

NATCO Pharma Ltd.
8,750 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C2/- each  83.30  -   

Orient Cement Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 5,28,475) equity shares of C1/- each  -    581.06 

Piramal Pharma Ltd.
1,13,750 (31 March 2023: Nil ) equity shares of C10/- each  146.62  -   

Poonawalla Fincorp Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 68,977) equity shares of C2/- each  -    201.76 

Punjab Chemicals & Crop Protection Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 6,098) equity shares of C10/- each  -    50.48 

Reliance Industries Ltd
4,504 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  133.85  -   

REC Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 38,750) equity shares of C10/- each  -    44.74 

Schneider Electric Infrastructure Ltd.
1,81,850 (31 March 2023: 1,44,350) equity shares of C2/- each  1,347.60  224.75 

State Bank of India
68,025 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  511.79  -   
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6. (B) Current Investments (Contd.)
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Sumitomo Chemical India Ltd.
78,203 (31 March 2023: 62,053) equity shares of C10/- each  271.95  264.41 

Tata Motors - DVR Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 87,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    182.66 

Tata Motors Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 16,250) equity shares of C2/- each  -    68.38 

Time Technoplast Ltd.
81,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  203.46  -   

Titagarh Rail Systems Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 87,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    229.60 

Vardhman Special Steels Ltd.
56,308 (31 March 2023: 1,753) equity shares of C10/- each  119.43  6.96 

Varun Beverages Ltd.
3,04,168 (31 March 2023: 1,52,084) equity shares of C5/- each  4,254.09  2,109.41 

Whirlpool of India Limited
Nil (31 March 2023: 10,000) equity shares of C10/- each  -    131.51 

Total Equity Shares at FVTPL  16,750.52  12,080.75 

Investments in Mutual Funds at FVTPL

Ampersand Growth Opportunities Fund Scheme I
1,83,184 (31 March 2023: 1,83,184) units of Face Value C100/- each  616.16  376.16 

SBI Short Term Debt Fund-Direct Plan-Growth
Nil (31 March 2023: 7,61,655) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  -    217.11 

SBI Savings Fund-Direct Plan-Growth
Nil (31 March 2023: 30,58,896) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  -    1,149.27 

SBI Liquid Fund Regular Plan-Growth
40,099 (31 March 2023: Nil) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  1,501.98  -   

SBI Savings Fund-Regular Plan-Growth
92,48,367 (31 March 2023: 1,10,98,901) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  3,506.73  3,930.09 

Total  5,624.87  5,672.63 

Total Current Investments  22,375.39  17,753.38 

Total Current Investments

Aggregate book value of quoted investments  16,523.48  12,049.05 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments  16,523.48  12,049.05 

Aggregate value of unquoted investments  5,851.91  5,704.33 

Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments  -    -   

* Not actively traded
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6. (C) Equity shares designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 Following are the details of dividend received from investment in equity shares designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income:

(H in lakhs)

Particulars 
 Fair Value at  Dividend income 

recognised during  Fair Value at  Dividend income 
recognised during 

31 March 2024 2023-24 31 March 2023 2022-23

Axis Bank Ltd.  -    -    1,039.86  1.16 

Cera Sanitaryware Ltd.  -    -    709.27  1.50 

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd.  1,239.84  19.98  1,209.87  26.64 

Divis Laboratories Ltd.  2,919.72  14.86  1,355.91  13.73 

Escorts Kubota Ltd.  4,452.23  11.22  2,925.13  8.02 

HDFC Bank Ltd.  -    -    3,808.42  25.64 

Himadri Speciality Chemical Ltd.  1,133.63  0.78  270.63  0.81 

Hitachi Energy Ltd.  1,742.93  1.81  1,775.41  0.82 

ICICI Bank Ltd.  1,721.52  12.60  1,381.33  5.17 

Life Insurance Corporation of India  2,061.34  9.00  -    -   

Natco Pharma Ltd.  1,230.52  12.28  580.25  10.46 

Orient Cement Ltd.  -    -    518.44  4.44 

Poonawalla Fincorp Ltd.  1,611.91  17.31  1,035.22  1.10 

Punjab Chemical & Crop Protection Ltd.  -    -    731.27  2.52 

Reliance Industries Ltd  3,016.75  8.74  -    -   

Rural Electric Corporation Limited (REC)  856.90  41.91  -    -   

State Bank of India  1,535.36  19.60  908.39  15.74 

Sumitomo Chemical India Ltd.  4,751.45  84.13  5,615.54  12.08 

Vardhman Special Steels Limited  358.29  0.70  -   

Varun Beverages Ltd.  7,361.89  9.21  3,650.42  6.58 

 35,994.28  264.13  27,515.36  136.41 

Dividends recognised during the period relating to 
investments disposed during the year  63.64  177.86 

6. (D) As at 31 March 2024, the following investments are pledged as security against bank loans: (Refer Note 18)
(H in lakhs)

Particulars 
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

Fair Value Fair Value

Non-current and current investments  7,638.87  6,918.85 
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7. Loans
(H in lakhs)

Particulars 
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

 Current  Non current  Current  Non current 

Unsecured, considered good

Loan to related parties (Refer Note 38)  -    132.47  -    102.00 

Total Loans  -    132.47  -    102.00 

(i) The Company's exposure to credit & currency risk are disclosed in Note 35.     

(ii) Details of loans, investments and guarantee covered under Section 186(4) of the Companies Act, 2013
(H in lakhs)

(a) Details of Loans  31 March 2024  31 March 2023

Loan at the beginning of the year  102.00  76.93 

Loan given during the year  30.00  30.00 

Interest for the current year  10.26  7.28

Loan repaid/converted during the year  -    -   

Interest repaid during the year  9.79  12.21

Accrued interest on loan  2.47  2.00

Outstanding balance as at the end of the year  132.47  102.00 

(i) Loan to related parties represents loan given to Dhunseri Infrastructure Limited, a subsidiary, bearing interest rate of 9% p.a. and 
the outstanding amount as on 31 March 2024 is C132.47 lakhs (As on 31 March 2023-C102 lakhs).

(b)  Details of corporate guarantee given by the Company is as below:
(H in lakhs)

Name of the Company Date of undertaking Purpose 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited 3 November 2021 Long-term loan facility  23,394.30  23,171.58 

Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited 3 December 2021 Long-term loan facility  4,500.00  4,500.00 

Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited 3 June 2022 Long-term loan facility  4,000.00  4,000.00 

Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited 18 March 2024 Long-term loan facility  62,800.00  -   

(iii) Percentage of Loans outstanding
(H in lakhs)

Type of borrower

As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
Amount of loan 

or advance in the 
nature of loan 
outstanding

Percentage to the 
total Loans and 
Advances in the 
nature of loans

Amount of loan 
or advance in the 

nature of loan 
outstanding

Percentage to the 
total Loans and 
Advances in the 
nature of loans

Promoters  -    -    -    -   

Directors  -    -    -    -   

Key Managerial Personnel  -    -    -    -   

Related Parties  132.47 100%  102.00 100%
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8. Other Financial Assets
(H in lakhs)

Particulars 
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

 Current  Non current  Current  Non current 

Interest accrued on Debentures (Refer Note 38)  745.88  -    745.88  -   

Security Deposit  24.12  1.32  24.11  1.26 

Receivable from related party (Refer Note 38)  2,432.78  -    840.56  -   

Receivable against sale of shares  372.26  -    374.87  -   

Other Receivables  -    -    0.32  -   

Total Other Financial Assets  3,575.04  1.32  1,985.74  1.26 

(i) The Company's exposure to credit & currency risk are disclosed in Note-35

9. Inventories
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Stock-in-Trade (Including Material in Transit)  95.50  -   

Total Inventories  95.50  -   

10. Trade Receivables
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Trade Receivables (Unsecured and Considered good) (Refer Note 38)  3,423.22  -   

Total Trade Receiavbles  3,423.22  -   

Trade Receivables Ageing
As at 31st March 2024  (H in lakhs)

Particulars
Outstanding  for following periods from date of transaction

Less than 
6 Months

 6 Months 
- 1 year  1 - 2 year 2 - 3 year More than 

3 years Total

i) Undisputed Trade Receivables - considered good  3,423.22  -    -    -    -    3,423.22 

ii) Undisputed Trade Receivables - which have   
significant increase in Credit Risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables - credit impared  -    -    -    -    -    -   

iv) Disputed Trade Receivables - considered good  -    -    -    -    -    -   

v) Disputed Trade Receivables - which have 
significant increase in Credit Risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

vi) Disputed Trade Receivables - credit impared  -    -    -    -    -    -   
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10. Trade Receivables (Contd.)

Trade Receivables Ageing
As at 31st March 2023  (H in lakhs)

Particulars
Outstanding  for following periods from date of transaction

Less than 
6 Months

 6 Months 
- 1 year  1 - 2 year 2 - 3 year More than 

3 years Total

i) Undisputed Trade Receivables - considered good  -    -    -    -    -    -   

ii) Undisputed Trade Receivables - which have 
significant increase in Credit Risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables - credit impared  -    -    -    -    -    -   

iv) Disputed Trade Receivables - considered good  -    -    -    -    -    -   

v) Disputed Trade Receivables - which have 
significant increase in Credit Risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

vi) Disputed Trade Receivables - credit impared  -    -    -    -    -    -   

11. Other Current Assets
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Deposits with Government Authorities and Others  37.17  3.11 

Prepaid Expenses  50.89  45.68 

Advances to employees  2.25  6.52 

Other Advances  2.42  1.01 

Total Other Current Assets  92.73  56.32 

12. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Cash and cash equivalents

 Balances with Banks 

       Current Accounts  595.23  1,203.54 

 Cash in hand  10.18  10.10 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  605.41  1,213.64 
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13. Other Bank Balances 
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Other bank balances

Unpaid Dividend Accounts [Refer (i) below]  41.76  50.06 

Total Other Bank Balances  41.76  50.06 

(i) Earmarked for payment of dividend.

14A. Current Tax Assets 
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Advance payment of taxes  823.63  2,071.04 

Total Current Tax Assets  823.63  2,071.04 

14B. Current Tax Liabilities 
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Provision for Taxation  336.26  541.73 

Total Current Tax Liabilities  336.26  541.73 

15. Equity share capital and Other Equity 
 (All amounts in C lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

A. Equity Share Capital (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Authorised

 35,12,20,000 (31 March, 2023: 35,12,20,000) Equity Shares of C10/- each  35,122.00  35,122.00 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up

 3,50,24,754 (31 March, 2023: 3,50,24,754) Equity Shares of C10/- each fully paid up  3,502.48  3,502.48 

 Add : Shares Forfeited  0.81  0.81 

Total Equity Share Capital  3,503.29  3,503.29 
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(a) Reconciliation of number of shares at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period    
(H in lakhs)

Particulars 
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

No. of Shares Amount               
(D in lakhs) No. of Shares Amount               

(D in lakhs)

Balance as at the beginning of the year  3,50,24,754  3,502.48  3,50,24,754  3,502.48 

Balance as at the end of the year  3,50,24,754  3,502.48  3,50,24,754  3,502.48 

(b) Terms/ Rights attached to Equity Shares

 The Company has one class of equity share having a par value of C10/- each. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote per share 
held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting except in the case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidation the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the 
remaining assets of the Company after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to their shareholding.   
          

(c) Shares of the Company held by Holding Company 

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468  1,97,67,468 

(d) Particulars of shareholders holding more than 5% of Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up share.

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468  1,97,67,468 

% Holding 56.44% 56.44%

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited  30,78,759  30,78,759 

% Holding 8.79% 8.79%

Mint Investments Limited  20,79,414  20,79,414 

% Holding 5.94% 5.94%

(e) Change in shareholding of promoters

 As at 31 March 2024

Shares held by promoters at the end of the year % change 
during the yearName of the promoter  No. of shares % of total shares

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468 56.44 -

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited  30,78,759 8.79 -

Mint Investments Limited  20,79,414 5.94 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka Karta Of Shankarlal Chandra Kumar (Huf)  4,07,323 1.16 -

Trimplex Investments Limited  2,88,126 0.82 -

Mrigank Dhanuka  1,15,921 0.33 -
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Chandra Kumar Dhanuka  94,047 0.27 -

Madhuting Tea Private Limited  91,000 0.26 -

Aruna Dhanuka  82,510 0.24 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Aman Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Ayaan Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Shree Shaligram Trust  47,000 0.13 -

Tarulika Khaitan  12,000 0.03 -

Pavitra  Khaitan  10,000 0.03 -

Mitali Khaitan (Minor) Represented By Mr. Haigreve Khaitan Father & 
Natural Guardian  10,000 0.03 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Partner, Sew Bhagwan & Sons  4,432 0.01 -

 2,62,68,000 75.00

 As at 31 March 2023

Shares held by promoters at the end of the year % change 
during the yearName of the promoter  No. of shares % of total shares

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468 56.44 -

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited  30,78,759 8.79 -

Mint Investments Limited  20,79,414 5.94 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka Karta Of Shankarlal Chandra Kumar (Huf)  4,07,323 1.16 -

Trimplex Investments Limited  2,88,126 0.82 -

Mrigank Dhanuka  1,15,921 0.33 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka  94,047 0.27 -

Madhuting Tea Private Limited  91,000 0.26 -

Aruna Dhanuka  82,510 0.24 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Aman Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Ayaan Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Shree Shaligram Trust  47,000 0.13 -

Tarulika Khaitan  12,000 0.03 -

Pavitra  Khaitan  10,000 0.03 -

Mitali Khaitan (Minor) Represented By Mr. Haigreve Khaitan Father & 
Natural Guardian  10,000 0.03 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Partner, Sew Bhagwan & Sons  4,432 0.01 -

 2,62,68,000 75.00 0.00
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15. Equity share capital and other equity (Contd.)

B. Other Equity
(i) Reserves and Surplus

(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Capital Reserve [Refer (a) below]  262.07  262.07 

Capital Redemption Reserve [Refer (b) below]  12.48  12.48 

Securities Premium [Refer (c) below]  1,661.41  1,661.41 

General Reserve [Refer (d) below]  33,830.83  33,830.83 

Retained Earnings [Refer (e) below]  1,20,166.16  98,756.49 

Sub Total (i)  1,55,932.95  1,34,523.28 

(ii) Other Reserves
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Equity Instrument through Other Comprehensive Income [Refer (f) below]  17,540.19  5,619.19 

Sub Total (ii)  17,540.19  5,619.19 

Total Other Equity [(i)+(ii)]  1,73,473.14  1,40,142.47 

(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

(a) Capital Reserve
 Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  262.07  262.07 
 This reserve represents the difference between the fair value of net assets acquired by 

the Company in the course of business acquisition and the consideration paid for such 
combination.           

(b) Capital Redemption Reserve
 Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  12.48  12.48 
 Represents reserve created for buy back of Equity Shares and redemption of preference 

shares and can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
(c) Securities Premium
 Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  1,661.41  1,661.41 
 This reserve represents the premium on issue of shares and can be utilised in 

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
(d) General Reserve
 Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  33,830.83  33,830.83 
 This reserve is created by an appropriation from one component of equity (generally 

retained earnings) to another, not being an item of Other Comprehensive Income. The 
same can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
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(e) Retained Earnings  (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning of the year  98,756.49  84,853.11 
Add: Profit for the year  16,680.27  12,070.27 
Add: Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations (net of tax)  (7.86)  (0.52)
Add: Transfer within equity- Gain on sale of equity shares designated as FVOCI-transfer to 
retained earnings (net of tax)  6,488.50  3,234.62 

Less: Dividend paid  (1,751.24)  (1,400.99)
Balance as at the end of the year  1,20,166.16  98,756.49 

This reserve represents the cumulative profits of the Company and effects of remeasurement of defined benefit obligations. This 
reserve can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

(f) Equity Instrument through Other Comprehensive Income (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning of the year  5,619.18  10,207.00 
Add: Equity investments through Other Comprehensive income- Net gain/(loss) on disposal 
and change in fair value (net of tax)  18,409.51  (1,353.19)

Less: Transfer within equity- Loss/(Gain) on sale of equity shares designated as FVOCI-
transfer to retained earnings (net of tax)  (6,488.50)  (3,234.62)

Balance as at the end of the year  17,540.19  5,619.19 
This reserve represents the cumulative gains (net of losses) arising on the revaluation of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through Other Comprehensive Income, net of amounts reclassified, if any, to Retained Earnings when those instruments are disposed off.

16. Provisions
 Assets and Liabilities relating to employee benefits
 See accounting policies in Note 1.13

(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Net defined benefit liability-Gratuity plan  42.90  23.96 
Liability for compensated absences  78.37  62.87 
Total employee benefit liabilities  121.27  86.83 
Non current  73.63  44.58 
Current  47.64  42.25 
Total employee benefit liabilities  121.27  86.83 

For details related to employee benefit expense, see Note 26.

The Company has a defined gratuity plan in India with LICI, governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The plan entitles an employee, 
who has rendered at least five years of continuous service, to gratuity, at the rate of fifteen days salary/wages for every completed year of 
service or part thereof in excess of six months, based on the rate of salary/wages last drawn by the employee concerned.

The defined benefit plan for gratuity is administered by a single gratuity fund that is legally separate from the Company. The board of 
the gratuity fund is required by law to act in the best interests of the plan participants and is responsible for setting certain policies 
(e.g. investment and contribution policies) of the fund. 

These defined benefit plans expose the Company to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and market 
(investment) risk.
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A. Funding

 The Plan is funded by the Company. The funding requirements are based on the gratuity fund’s actuarial measurement framework 
set out in the funding policies of the plan. The funding of the plan is based on a separate actuarial valuation for funding purposes 
for which the assumptions may differ from the assumptions set out in (E). Employees do not contribute to the plan. 

 The Company expects to pay C9.33 lakhs (31 March 2023 - C8.13 lakhs) in contribution to its defined benefit plans in 2024-25.

 B. Reconciliation of the net defined benefit (asset)/ liability
 The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit (asset) 

liability and its components
(H in lakhs)

Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Balance at the beginning of the year  201.36  179.56 

Current service cost  13.40  10.79 

Interest cost  14.84  12.77 

Benefits Paid  -    (2.49)

Actuarial Gain recognised in other comprehensive income -  change in financial assumption  6.65  (0.95)

Actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income - experience adjustments  3.09  1.68 

Balance at the end of the year  239.34  201.36 

(H in lakhs)

Reconciliation of the present value of plan assets    
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Balance at the beginning of the year  177.40  152.48 

Contribution paid to the plan  6.74  14.04 

Interest income  13.08  10.84 

Return on plan asset excluding interest income recognised in other comprehensive income  (0.77)  0.04 

Balance at the end of the year  196.45  177.40 

Net defined benefit liability at the end of the year  42.89  23.96 

C. (H in lakhs)

i) Expense recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss 
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Current service cost  13.40  10.79 

Interest cost  14.84  12.77 

Interest Income  (13.08)  (10.84)

 15.16  12.72 
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16. Provisions (Contd.)
(H in lakhs)

ii) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income 
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation  9.74  0.73 

Return on plan asset excluding interest income  0.77  (0.04)

 10.51  0.69 

D. Plan assets

Plan assets comprise the following:
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Funds managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India 100.00% 100.00%

E. Defined benefit obligation
 i. Actuarial assumptions

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Discount rate 7.21% 7.37%
Future salary growth 7.00% 5.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on "Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2012-14)".

ii. Sensitivity Analysis 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions 
constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below:

(H in lakhs)

Particulars 
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount Rate (0.50% movement)  (1.75)  1.90  (1.75)  1.85 

Future salary growth (0.50% movement)  1.90  (1.76)  1.89  (1.80)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an 
approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown. 

iii. Maturity Profile of Defined Benefit Obligation (H in lakhs)

Year 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
a) 0 to 1 Year  209.81  169.27 

b) 1 to 2 Year  0.49  15.66 

c) 2 to 3 Year  0.49  0.27 

d) 3 to 4 Year  1.61  0.27 

e) 4 to 5 Year  0.50  0.71 

f) 5 to 6 Year  4.39  0.27 

g) 6 Year onwards  22.07  14.93 
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16. Provisions (Contd.)

F. Contribution to Defined Contribution Plan comprising C21.08 lakhs (31 March 2023-C20.46 lakhs) on account of the Company's 
Contribution to Superannuation fund, C0.79 lakhs (31 March 2023-Nil) on account of Company's Contribution to National Pension 
Scheme and C36.82 lakhs (31 March 2023- C33.13 lakhs) on account of the Company's Contribution to Provident Fund has been 
recognised as an expense and included in Note-26-Employee Benefit Expenses under the head "Contribution to provident and 
other funds" in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

17. Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)
 See accounting policies in Note 1.16

(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Deferred Tax Liability  3,874.47  1,759.82 

Deferred Tax Asset  64.10  53.42 

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities [Refer Note 26]  3,810.37  1,706.40 

18. Borrowings
(H in lakhs)

Particulars 

Non Current Current* 

As at  
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Secured

Loan repayable after a period of 1 year from the 
reporting date [Refer (i) below]  27.52  40.15  12.63  28.33 

Loan repayable on demand within a period of 1 year 
from the reporting period [Refer (i) below]  -    -    3,000.00  3,000.00 

Total Borrowings  27.52  40.15  3,012.63  3,028.33 

(i) Out of the above, the interest rate for the borrowings of C1.21 lakhs is 8.22%. The same is repayable in 2 further equated monthly 
instalments, the last instalment being on 7 May 2024. The loan is secured against the motor car purchased. (Refer Note 3)

 The interest rate for the borrowings of C38.94 lakhs is 6.69%. The same is repayable in 38 further equated monthly instalments, the 
last instalment being on 7 May 2027. The loan is secured against the motor car purchased. (Refer Note 3)   

 For the remaining loan of C3,000 lakhs, interest rate will be 9.40%. The same is repayable on demand and is secured against investments 
(Refer Note 6D)       

(ii) The Company's exposure to liquidity risk is disclosed in Note 35.       

(iii) Borrowings have been sanctioned based on pledge of Company’s current and non-current investments, for which no returns are 
required to be submitted to the banks or financial institutions.
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19. Trade Payables
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Trade payable for goods & services

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  1.34  0.36 

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises  3,401.14  44.05 

Total Trade Payables  3,402.48  44.41 

Disclosures as required under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (" the MSMED Act") based on the 
information available with the Company are given below: 

(H in lakhs)
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

(a) The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the end of the 
accounting year 

- Principal  1.34  0.36 

- Interest  -    -   

(b) The amount of the interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the MSMED Act 
along with the amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day 
during each accounting year

 -    -   

(c) The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment 
(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without 
adding the interest specified under MSMED Act

 -    -   

(d) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year  -    -   

(e) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 
years, until such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small 
enterprise for the purpose of disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 
23 of the MSMED Act

 -    -   

(i) The Company's exposure to liquidity risk are disclosed in Note 35.

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Unbilled Dues

Outstanding for following  periods from date of transaction
TotalLess than 1 

year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  3 
years

(i) MSME  -    1.34  -    -    -    1.34 

(ii) Others  62.77  3,338.37  -    -    -    3,401.14 

(iii) Disputed dues – MSME  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) Disputed dues - Others  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 62.77  3,339.71  -    -    -    3,402.48 
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19. Trade Payables (Contd.)

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2023
(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Unbilled Dues

Outstanding for following  periods from date of transaction
TotalLess than 1 

year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  3 
years

(i) MSME  -    0.36  -    -    -    0.36 

(ii) Others  33.79  10.26  -    -    -    44.05 

(iii) Disputed dues – MSME  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) Disputed dues - Others  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 33.79  10.62  -    -    -    44.41 

(i) The Company's exposure to liquidity risk are disclosed in Note 35.

20. Other Current Financial Liabilities
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Unpaid Dividends  41.76  50.06 

Employee related liabilities  681.76  748.07 

Payables for Capital Goods  359.72  -   

Payable for Acquisition of Investment  573.82  -   

Other Payable  13.62  -   

Total Other Current Financial Liabilities  1,670.68  798.13 

(i) The Company's exposure to liquidity risk are disclosed in Note 35.

21. Other Current Liabilities
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Statutory Dues Payable  36.21  149.79 

Total Other Current Liabilities  36.21  149.79 
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22. Revenue from Operations
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Sale of Products

Sale of commodities  14,547.65  9,676.27 

Sale of goods  11,675.46  3,166.44 

Other Operating Revenue

Net exchange loss on Foreign currency transaction/translations  -    204.97 

Dividend income from Investments designated at FVOCI and FVTPL  421.86  450.12 

Net change in fair value of financial asset measured at FVTPL  5,137.65  2,066.39 

Export Incentives  -    78.78 

Gain on disposal of financial assets measured at FVTPL  3,099.16  -   

Gain on disposal of mutual funds measured at FVTPL  72.69  -   

Total Revenue from Operations  34,954.47  15,642.97 

The amount of revenue from contracts with customers recognised in statement of profit and loss is the contracted price.

23. Other Income
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Interest Income from financial assets  853.53  845.48 

Dividend income from associates  9,314.44  8,500.00 

Rental Income from investment property  88.02  84.69 

Royalty Income  4,898.78  6,378.18 

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (net)  -    3.40 

Miscellaneous Income  45.83  39.22 

Total Other Income  15,200.60  15,850.97 

24. Purchase of stock in trade
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Purchase of stock in trade  25,930.92  12,471.11 

Total Purchases  25,930.92  12,471.11 
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25. Changes in inventories of stock in trade
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Changes in inventories of stock in trade  (95.50)  -   

Total Change in Inventories  (95.50)  -   

26. Employee Benefits Expense 
 See accounting policies in Note 1.13

(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Salaries, Wages and Bonus  1,233.17  1,218.22 

Contribution to provident fund and other funds  58.69  53.59 

Gratuity Expense  15.16  12.72 

Staff welfare expenses  2.37  2.42 

Total Employee benefit expenses  1,309.39  1,286.95 

27. Finance Costs
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Interest Expense on borrowings  646.75  499.82 

Interest on Lease Liabilities  10.59  9.59 

Total Finance Costs  657.34  509.41 

28. Depreciation and Amortisation Expense
 See accounting policies in Note 1.4, 1.5, 1.6 and 1.8

(H in lakhs)

Particulars Note Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 3  156.39  198.63 

Depreciation on investment property 4  23.48  22.99 

Amortisation of intangible assets 5  0.58  0.50 

Total depreciation and amortisation expenses  180.45  222.12 
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29. Other Expenses
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Note Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Rent 34  87.19  3.96 

Repairs and maintenance  8.30  13.59 

Freight, Delivery and Shipping charges  157.06  225.63 

Corporate social responsibility expenditure [Refer (a) below]  245.00  200.00 

Net exchange loss on Foreign currency transaction/translations  6.32  -   

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  0.04  -   

Professional charges  308.70  305.02 

Travelling expenses  120.12  196.58 

Loss on Sale of Investments measured at FVTPL  -    411.96 

Payment to Auditors [Refer (b) below]  45.79  37.64 

Miscellaneous expenses  500.73  407.51 

Total Other Expenses  1,479.25  1,801.89 

(a) Details of Corporate Social Responsibility Expenditure are set out below:
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act  80.00  160.16 

Amount approved by the Board to be spent during the year  245.00  200.00 

Amount spent during the year on

(i) Construction/Acquisition of an asset  -    -   

(ii) On purposes other than (i) above  245.00  200.00 

The nature of CSR Activities undertaken during the year by the Company is detailed below: 
(H in lakhs)

Sr.No. Nature of project on which expenses incurred Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

1 Promoting Health Care including Preventive Health Care  100.00  100.00 

2 Training to promote rural sports, nationally recognised sports, 
paralympic sports and olympic sports  145.00  100.00 
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29. Other Expenses (Contd.) 

 (b) Includes Auditors' remuneration paid/payable as set out below:
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Payment to auditors 

As auditor
Statutory audit  22.00  19.50 
Limited Review  12.00  12.00 
Other matters (Certificates)  8.75  3.75 

Reimbursement of expenses  3.04  2.39 
Total  45.79  37.64 

30. Income tax
See accounting policy in note 1.14
A. Amounts recognised in statement of profit and loss (H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Current tax (a)

Current period (Includes income tax for earlier years amounting to C382.19 Lakhs (31 March 
2023- Nil)  3,448.91  3,084.51 

Deferred tax (b)

Attributable to-

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  564.04  47.68 

Tax expense (a + b)  4,012.95  3,132.19 

B. Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income (H in lakhs)
Year ended 31 March 2024

Before tax Tax (expense)/
benefit Net of tax

Remeasurement loss of the net defined benefit liability plans  (10.51)  2.65  (7.86)

Gain on fair valuation/disposal of equity investments through OCI  20,989.95  (2,580.45)  18,409.50 

 20,979.44  (2,577.80)  18,401.64 

(H in lakhs)
Year ended 31 March 2023

Before tax Tax expense/
(benefit) Net of tax

Remeasurement loss of the net defined benefit liability plans  (0.69)  0.17  (0.52)

Loss on fair valuation/disposal of equity investments through OCI  (1,545.64)  192.45  (1,353.19)

 (1,546.33)  192.62  (1,353.71)
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30. Income tax (Contd.)

C. Reconciliation of effective tax rate  (H in lakhs)
Year ended 31 March 2024

Profit before tax  20,693.22 
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 25.17%  5,208.48 
Effect of:
Tax exempt income -0.62%  (129.08)
Income Tax for Earlier Years 1.85%  382.19 
Non-deductible expenses 0.30%  61.98 
Income which is taxed at special rates -5.14%  (1,063.67)
Allowances claimed -2.16%  (447.43)
Others 0.00%  0.48 
Effective tax rate 19.40%  4,012.95 

(H in lakhs)
Year ended 31 March 2023

Profit before tax  15,202.46 

Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 25.17%  3,826.46 

Effect of:

Tax exempt income -1.00%  (152.60)

Non-deductible expenses 0.33%  50.90 

Income which is taxed at special rates -1.24%  (189.15)

Allowances claimed -2.36%  (359.02)

Others -0.29%  (44.40)

Effective tax rate 20.61%  3,132.19 

D. The major components of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets arising on account of timing differences are as follows: 
(H in lakhs)

As at 31 March 2024
Balance  

as at  
01 April 2023

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

during 2023-24

Recognised 
 in OCI during  

2023-24

Balance as at  
31 March 2024

Difference in carrying value and tax base of property, 
plant and equipment and investment property  (262.53)  6.43  -    (256.10)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of 
investments  (1,467.94)  (573.45)  (1,539.93)  (3,581.32)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of ROU 
assets and Lease Liability  2.22  (1.36)  -    0.86 

Expenses allowable on payment basis  21.85  4.34  -    26.19 

 (1,706.40)  (564.04)  (1,539.93)  (3,810.37)
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30. Income tax (Contd.)

(H in lakhs)

As at 31 March 2023 Balance as at  
01 April 2022

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

during 2022-23

Recognised 
in OCI during 

2022-23

Balance as at  
31 March 2023

Difference in carrying value and tax base of property, 
plant and equipment and investment property  (271.09)  8.56  -    (262.53)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of 
investments  (2,001.57)  (55.07)  588.70  (1,467.94)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of ROU 
assets and Lease Liability  2.07  0.15  -    2.22 

Expenses allowable on payment basis  23.17  (1.32)  -    21.85 

 (2,247.42)  (47.68)  588.70  (1,706.40)

31. Earnings Per Equity Share

Particulars Year ended 
31 March 2024

Year ended  
31 March 2023

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

(i) Profit for the year - (C in lakhs)  16,680.27  12,070.27 

(ii) Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding during the year used as a 
denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share  3,50,24,754  3,50,24,754 

(iii) Face value of each Equity Shares (C)  10.00  10.00 

(iv) Dilutive Potential Equity Shares  -    -   

(v) Basic and Diluted earnings per share (C)  47.62  34.46 

32. Reconciliation of Liabilities from Financing Activities

31 March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Opening

balance as at  
1 April 2023

Cash flows Non-cash 
changes*

Closing 
balance as at 

31 March 2024

Borrowings  3,068.48  (28.33)  -    3,040.15 

Lease liabilities  63.61  (114.13)  183.90  133.38 

 3,132.09  (142.46)  183.90  3,173.53 
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32. Reconciliation of Liabilities from Financing Activities (Contd.) 

31 March 2023
(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Opening

balance as at  
1 April 2022

Cash flows Non-cash 
changes*

Closing 
balance as at 

31 March 2023

Borrowings  4,000.38  (931.90)  -    3,068.48 

Lease liabilities  201.99  (147.97)  9.59  63.61 

 4,202.37  (1,079.87)  9.59  3,132.09 

* Non cash changes represent lease liability recognised during the year, amounting to C173.30 (31 March 2023- Nil) and interest 
expenses amounting to C10.59 lakhs (31 March 2023-C9.60 lakhs) 

33. a) Contingent liability as at 31 March 2024 is C Nil (Previous year C Nil).

 b) Commitments

 As at 31 March 2024 and as at 31 March 2023, the Company has commited to provide financial support to Dhunseri Infrastructure 
Ltd, a subsidiary, with regard to operations of such subsidiary. 

34. Leases
A. Leases as lessee
i. Short-term 
 The Company has taken on lease, premises at various locations under operating leases. The lease arrangements are cancellable 

by either of the parties after giving a notice of 3 months. The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for these leases.  

Expenses pertaining to the above short-term leases recognised in the statement of profit and loss is as follows:
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year ended 
31 March 2024

Year ended  
31 March 2023

Expenses relating to short-term leases  87.19  3.96 

 87.19  3.96 

Lease payments for short-term leases not included in the measurement of the lease liability are classified as cash flows from 
operating activities.

ii. Right-of-use asset and lease liabilities recognised in the financial statements represents the Company's lease of guesthouse and lease 
of office premises. The lease is for a period of 2 years and 3 years respectively. There being no variable component of lease rentals.

 The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be made after the 
reporting date:

(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Less than one year  66.00  59.12 

Between one year and five years  82.50  -   

More than 5 years  -    -   

 148.50  59.12 

Total cash outflow for leases 201.32  151.93 
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34. Leases (Contd.) 

B. Leases as lessor

 The Company leases out its investment property. The Company has classified these leases as operating leases, because they do 
not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the assets.

 The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received 
after the reporting date.

(H in lakhs)

Period As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Less than one year  66.48  87.82 

 66.48  87.82 

35. Financial Risk Management

 The Company's activities expose it to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

 • Credit Risk (See 35 (ii));
 • Liquidity Risk (See 35 (iii));
 • Market Risk (See 35 (iv));

i. Risk Management Framework

The Company is exposed to normal business risks from changes in market interest rates and currency exchange rates and from non-
performance of contractual obligations by counterparties. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for 
speculative or trading purposes.      

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Company. The Company has a system of controls in place to create an 
acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management continually monitors the 
Company’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.

ii. Credit risk

Credit Risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or a customer contract, leading 
to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities, including deposits with banks and financial 
institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.  

Credit Risks for balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Company's treasury department in accordance with 
the Company Policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to 
each counterparty. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risk and therefore mitigate financial loss through counterparties 
potential failure to make payments. Such limits are reviewed from time to time.

Trade receivables       
The Company has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before 
the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Sale limits are established for each customer and 
reviewed       

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 6(A), 
6(B), 7, 8, 10, 12, 13.      
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35. Financial Risk Management (Contd.) 

iii. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.    

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. Due to the 
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Company treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under 
committed credit lines. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Company's liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on 
the basis of expected cash flows.   

As of 31 March 2024, the Company had cash and bank balances of C647.17 lakhs. As of 31 March 2023, the Company had cash and 
bank balances of C1,263.70 lakhs. 

Exposure to Liquidity Risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and 
undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements:

As at 31 March 2024
 (H in lakhs)

Carrying 
amount

Contractual Cash Flows

Particulars Total 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 
5 years

Borrowings  3,040.15  3,220.70  3,191.06  13.68  15.96  -   

Trade Payables  3,402.48  3,402.48  3,402.48  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  1,670.68  1,670.68  1,670.68  -    -    -   

Total  8,113.31  8,293.86  8,264.22  13.68  15.96  -   

As at 31 March 2023
(H in lakhs)

Carrying 
amount

Contractual Cash Flows

Particulars Total 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 
5 years

Borrowings  3,068.48  3,076.78  3,032.24  14.90  29.64  -   

Trade Payables  44.41  44.41  44.41  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  798.13  798.13  798.13  -    -    -   

Total  3,911.02  3,919.32  3,874.78  14.90  29.64  -   

iv. Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as prices of securities, foreign exchange rates and interest rates– will affect 
the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.
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35. Financial Risk Management (Contd.)

a) Price Risk

Exposure 

The Company's exposure to equity securities and mutual funds price risk arises from investments held by the Company and classified 
in the Balance Sheet either at fair value through OCI or at fair value through profit or loss.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities and mutual funds, the Company diversifies its portfolio. 
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Company.

The majority of the Company's equity investments are publicly traded.

Sensitivity

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the index on the Company's equity and profit for the period. 
The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity index had increased by 5% or decreased by 5% with all other variables held 
constant, and that the Company's equity instruments moved in line with the index.

(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Impact on Profit before Tax Impact on Other  

Components of Equity
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Equity Shares-Quoted

Increase in market price by 5%  827.80  602.45  2,437.60  1,543.83 

Decrease in market price by 5%  (827.80)  (602.45)  (2,437.60)  (1,543.83)

Mutual Funds

Increase in NAV by 5%  281.24  283.63  -    -   

Decrease in NAV by 5%  (281.24)  (283.63)  -    -   

Profit for the period would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on mutual funds and equity securities classified as at fair value 
through profit or loss. Other Components of equity would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on equity securities classified  
as fair value through other comprehensive income.

(b) Currency Risk:

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Company is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which assets and liabilities 
are denominated and the functional currency of the Company. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated 
are USD and SGD.      

The Company uses forward exchange contracts in certain cases to hedge its currency risk, most with a maturity of less than one year 
from the reporting date.
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35. Financial Risk Management (Contd.)

Exposure

The summary quantitative data about the Company's exposure to currency risk on the reporting date:
(Foreign currency in lakhs)

Particulars
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

SGD USD SGD USD

Accrued Royalty  -    5.44  -    -   

Payable for Acquisition of Investments  -    (6.89)  -    -   

Other Payables  (0.22)  -    -    (0.03)

Security Deposit  0.39  -    0.39  -   

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening/ (weakening) of the foreign currencies against Cat 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 would have 
affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below:

(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Profit/(Loss) Equity, net of tax

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

31 March 2024

USD (5% movement)  (6.01)  6.01  (4.50)  4.50 

SGD (5% movement)  0.53  (0.53)  0.39  (0.39)

(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Profit/(Loss) Equity, net of tax

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

31 March 2023

USD (5% movement)  (0.10)  0.10  (0.08)  0.08 

SGD (5% movement)  1.21  (1.21)  0.90  (0.90)

C. Interest rate risk
The Company carries only fixed rate instruments.
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35. Financial Risk Management (Contd.)

Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Company's interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to management is as follows.

(H in lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets  132.47  102.00 

Financial liabilities  (3,040.15)  (3,068.48)

 (2,907.68)  (2,966.48)

Variable-rate instruments

Financial assets  -    -   

Financial liabilities  -    -   

 -    -   

Cash flow Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A reasonable possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis presumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange 
rates, remain constant.

36. Capital Risk Management

 (a) Risk Management

 The Company aims to manage its capital efficiently so as to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and to optimise 
returns to our shareholders.   

 The capital structure of the Company is based on management's judgement of the appropriate balance of key elements in order 
to meet its strategic and day to day needs. The management considers the amount of capital in proportion to risk and manage the 
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. 

 The Company's policy is to maintain a stable and strong capital structure with a focus on total equity so as to maintain investor, 
creditors and market confidence and to sustain future development and growth of its business. The Company will take appropriate 
steps in order to maintain, or if necessary adjust, its capital structure.

(b) Dividends
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended
31 March 2024

Year Ended
31 March 2023

(i) Dividend on Equity Shares paid during the year

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 of C5.00 (31 March 2023 – C4) per fully 
paid share of C10 each  1,751.24  1,400.99 

(ii) Dividends not recognised at the end of the reporting period

The Board of Directors at its meeting held on 24 May 2024 have recommended the payment 
of a final dividend of C5.00 (31 March 2023 - C5.00) per fully paid equity share of face value 
of C10 each for the financial year ended 31 March 2024. The above is subject to approval of 
shareholders in the ensuing annual general meeting and hence is not recognised as a liability.

 1,751.24  1,751.24 
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37. Financial Instruments - Fair values (Contd.)

B. Measurement of Fair Values

 Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes listed equity instruments 
that have quoted/ published price. The fair value of all equity instruments which are traded in the stock exchanges is valued 
using the closing price as at the reporting period.

 Level 2: Level 2 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using unquoted prices. The mutual funds are valued using the 
closing NAV.          

 Level 3: Level 3 hierarchy includes financial instruments that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 The fair value of investments in unquoted mutual funds and units of venture capital funds (categorised under Level 2 fair value 
hierarchy) is determined by reference to quotes from the financial institutions i.e.  Net asset value (NAV)  for investments in 
mutual funds/units of venture capital funds as declared by such financial institutions.

 Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

 The following table presents the changes in Level 3 items:
(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Debentures

As at
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Value as at commencement of the year  12,943.69  12,368.44 

Acquisition during the year  781.35  -   

Gain on fair valuation recognised in statement of profit and loss  9.75  575.25 

Value as at end of the year  13,734.79  12,943.69 

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring Level 3 fair values for financial instruments measured at fair 
value in the Balance Sheet as well as significant unobservable inputs used.

Financial Instruments measured at fair value

Type Valuation Technique Significant unobservable 
inputs

Inter-relationship
between significant 

unobservable inputs and fair 
value measurement

Debt securities Discounted Cash Flows:
The valuation model considers 
present value of the expected 
payment, discounted using a 
risk-adjusted discount rate. 
The expected payment is 
determined by considering the 
possible scenarios of forecast 
revenue and EBITDA, the 
amount to be paid under each 
scenario and the probability of 
each scenario.

• Forecast annual revenue 
growth rate (31 March 2024: 
1.50%, 31 March 2023: 3%)

• Weighted Average Cost of 
Capital (31 March 2024: 
17.79%, 31 March 2023: 
16.63%)

The estimated fair value would 
increase(decrease) if :

• the annual revenue growth 
were higher(lower);

• the weighted average cost of 
capital were lower (higher)

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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38. Related Party Transactions
 (1)  Relationship:

Particulars Country of 
Incorporation

Ownership Interest
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

(a) Parent entity
Dhunseri Investments Limited India 56.44% 56.44%
(b) Subsidiary Companies
Dhunseri Infrastructure Limited India 100% 100%
Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited India 100% 100%
Twelve Cupcakes Pte. Ltd Singapore 88.68% 88.68%
DVL USA Inc. (Wholly Owned Subsidiary of Dhunseri Ventures Limited) (w.e.f. 
01.02.2024)* USA 100.00% 94.23%

(c) Associate
IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E Egypt 50% 50%
IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Private Limited India 50% 50%

 (d) Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

Name Designation
Mr. C. K. Dhanuka Executive Chairman
Mr. M. Dhanuka Vice Chairman
Mrs. A. Dhanuka Managing Director
Mr. R. K. Sharma Executive Director (Finance)
Mr. V. Jain Chief Financial Officer
Mrs. S. Gulati Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
Mr. Bharat Jhaver Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director
Mr. J.P.Kundra Non-Executive Director
Dr. B.Sen Non-Executive Director
Mrs. Anuradha Kanoria Non-Executive Director
Mr. R.V.Kejriwal Non-Executive Director
Mr. Sameer Sah Non-Executive Director

 (e) Enterprises over which KMP(s) are able to exercise significant influence and with whom transactions have taken place

 Trimplex Investments Limited
 Naga Dhunseri Group Limited
 Mint Investments Limited
 Khaitan & Co. LLP
 Khaitan & Co.
 Dhunseri Tea & Industries Limited

 (f) Firm in which relative of director is a partner 

 TPT Ventures LLP
 * During the year the company has acquired 51% stake of DVL USA Inc from Twelve Cupcakes Pte. Ltd.  

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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38. Related Party Transactions (Contd.)

(2) Details of related party transactions/balances:
(H in lakhs)

Nature of Transactions/Balances 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(a) Parent Company

Dhunseri Investments Limited

Dividend Paid  988.37  790.70 

Purchase of Property, plant and equipment  359.72  114.50 

(b) Subsidiary Companies

Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited

Investment in shares  8,300.00  35,000.00 

Fee for Corporate Guarantee (Refer note 23)  45.83  39.22 

Sale of goods  9,590.09  -   

Purchase of goods  2,123.07  -   

Other Receivables (Refer note 8)  103.78  50.62 

Trade Receivable (Refer note 10)  3,423.22  -   

Dhunseri Infrastructure Limited

Loan given  30.00  30.00 

Interest on loan  10.26  7.28 

Receivable on account of loan given and interest thereon (Refer note 7)  132.47  102.00 

Twelve Cupcakes Pte Ltd. 

Reimbursement of rent and maintenance expenses  40.61  7.18 

Purchase of DVL USA Inc Shares  638.01  -   

Payable for Acquistion of Investment (Refer note 20)  (573.81)

Other Payables (Refer note 20)  (13.62)  -   

DVL USA Inc.

Investment in shares 4394.46  238.45 

(c) Associate

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Private Limited 

Rental Income (Refer note 23)  88.02  84.69 

Dividend Received (Refer note 23)  4,250.00  8,500.00 

Royalty Income (Refer note 23)  2,402.07  3,426.49 

Reimbursement of expenses  18.39  21.38 

Purchase of Motor Vehicle  6.24  -   

Sale of RoDTEP Licence  -    40.85 

Purchase of goods  9,523.73  2,986.88 

Interest on Compulsorily Convertible Debentures  828.75  828.75 

Receivable towards interest accrued on Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (Refer note 8)  745.88  745.88 

Trade Payables (Refer note 19)  (3,026.87)  -   

Other Receivables (Refer note 8)  1,875.44  789.94 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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38. Related Party Transactions (Contd.)
 (H in lakhs)

Nature of Transactions/Balances 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E (Formerly Egyptian Indian Polyester Co. S.A.E)

Royalty income (Refer note 23)  2,496.71  2,951.68 

Dividend Income (Refer note 23)  5,064.44  -   

Other Receivables (Refer note 8)  453.58  -   

(d) Entities over which KMP(s) are able to exercise significant influence

Trimplex Investments Limited

Rent and Service Charges  85.03  82.50 

Dividend Paid  14.41  11.53 

Mint Investments Limited

Dividend Paid  103.97  83.18 

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited

Dividend Paid  153.94  123.15 

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Limited

Dividend Received  20.26  27.02 

Khaitan & Co. LLP

Legal and Professional Fees  8.83  6.75 

Khaitan & Co.

Legal and Professional Fees  21.93  11.03 

(e) Post Employment Benefit Plan Entity

Dhunseri Petrochem Limited Employees Gratuity Fund  6.74  14.04 

(f) The Company has given a Corporate Guarantee amounting to C23,394.30 lakhs (31 March 2023-C23,171.58 lakhs) to Oldenburgische 
Landesbank Aktiengesellchaft Bank in respect of the loan taken by its subsidiary, Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited. 

(g) The Company has given a Corporate Guarantee amounting to C8,500 lakhs (31 March 2023-C8,500 lakhs) to HDFC Bank Limited in 
respect of the loan taken by its subsidiary, Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited.   

(h) The Company has given a Corporate Guarantee amounting to C62,800 lakhs (31 March 2023-CNil) to State Bank of India and EXIM 
Bank in respect of the loan taken by its subsidiary, Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited.   

(i) The Company has paid dividend to shareholders that includes related parties.

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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38. Related Party Transactions (Contd.) 

(3) Compensation of Key Managerial Personnel: 
(H in lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Short-term employee benefits  954.97  1,002.69 

Post-employment benefits  50.88  59.01 

Long-term employee benefits  27.76  7.85 

Sitting Fees  22.20  17.40 

Total Compensation  1,055.81  1,086.95 

(4a) Analysis of remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel for the year 2023-24
(H in lakhs)

Name
Short 

Term Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Other Long 
Term Employee 

Benefits
Sitting  
Fees  Total 

Mr. C.K. Dhanuka  357.91  15.31  0.93  -    374.15 

Mr. R.K. Sharma  165.98  16.50  12.52  -    195.00 

Mrs. A. Dhanuka  379.78  16.58  7.86  -    404.22 

Mr. V. Jain  33.45  1.71  3.18  -    38.34 

Mrs. S. Gulati  17.85  0.78  3.27  -    21.90 

Mr. M. Dhanuka  -    -    -    1.50  1.50 

Mrs. A. Kanoria  -    -    -    2.40  2.40 

Mr. J. P. Kundra  -    -    -    5.70  5.70 

Mr. B. Sen  -    -    -    3.00  3.00 

Mr. S. Sah  -    -    -    3.10  3.10 

Mr. R. V. Kejriwal  -    -    -    2.30  2.30 

Mr. B. Jhaver  -    -    -    4.20  4.20 

Total  954.97  50.88  27.76  22.20  1,055.81 

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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38. Related Party Transactions (Contd.) 

(4b) Analysis of remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel for the year 2022-23
(H in lakhs)

Name
Short 

Term Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Other Long 
Term Employee 

Benefits
Sitting  
Fees  Total 

Mr. C.K. Dhanuka  388.79  14.27  0.89  -    403.95 

Mr. R.K. Sharma  156.22  23.00  5.87  -    185.09 

Mrs. A. Dhanuka  412.27  19.12  0.30  -    431.69 

Mr. V. Jain  30.10  1.88  0.36  -    32.34 

Mrs. S. Gulati  15.31  0.74  0.43  -    16.48 

Mr. M. Dhanuka  -    -    -    1.50  1.50 

Mrs. A. Kanoria  -    -    -    2.10  2.10 

Mr. J. P. Kundra  -    -    -    4.10  4.10 

Mr. B. Sen  -    -    -    3.30  3.30 

Mr. S. Sah  -    -    -    3.10  3.10 

Mr. R. V. Kejriwal  -    -    -    0.50  0.50 

Mr. B. Jhaver  -    -    -    2.80  2.80 

Total  1,002.69  59.01  7.85  17.40  1,086.96 

(5) Amount Payable to KMPs as the end of the year:
(H in lakhs)

Name 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Mr. C. K. Dhanuka  317.53  347.29 

Mr. R. K. Sharma  12.52  9.62 

Mrs. A. Dhanuka  317.53  347.29 

(6) Terms and Conditions

Transactions relating to dividends were on the same term and conditions that applied to other shareholders. Transactions relating to 
acquisitions and disposal of investment are made based on independent valuation report. Transactions relating to rental and royalty 
income and rent and service charges are as per terms of related agreements. All other transactions are made on normal commercial 
terms and conditions. 

All related party transaction are reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company.     

All outstanding balances are unsecured and are receivable/ repayable in cash.

39. Disclosure on operating segment have been provided in the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, separate disclosures in 
the standalone financial statements as per the requirements of Ind AS 108, Operating Segments, are not considered necessary.

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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40. Analytical Ratios       

Particulars Reference March 31, 
2024

March 31, 
2023  % Variance Reason for change if change 

more than 25%

A. Current Ratio (a/b)  3.62  4.95 -26.87% Decrease due to increase in trade 
payable and other payables.

Current Assets (a)

Current Liabilities (b)

B. Return on Equity Ratio (a/b) 10.40% 8.68% 19.78% Not Applicable

Profit for the year (a)

Average shareholder's equity (b) (c+d)/2

Opening Total equity (c) 

Closing Total equity (d)

C. Inventory turnover ratio (a/b)  549.19  -    -   

Cost of Goods Sold / Sales (a)

Average Inventory (b) (c+d)/2

Opening Inventory (c) 

Closing Inventory (d)

D. Trade Receivables turnover ratio (a/b)  6.82  -   

Credit Sales (a)

Average Receivables (b) (c+d)/2

Opening Receivables (c) 

Closing Receivables (d)

E. Trade payables turnover ratio (a/b)  7.15  -   

Credit Purchases (a)

Average Payables (b) (c+d)/2

Opening Payables (c) 

Closing Payables (d)

F. Net capital turnover ratio (a/b)  1.56  0.85 83.53% Decrease in Working Capital due 
to investment in Subsidiary

Revenue from Operations (Net) (a)

Working Capital (b) (c-d)

Current Assets (c)

Current Liabilities (d)

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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40. Analytical Ratios (Contd.)

Particulars Reference March 31, 
2024

March 31, 
2023  % Variance Reason for change if change 

more than 25%

G. Net profit ratio (a/b)  0.48  0.77 -37.66% High Operating Cost and Lower 
Margin in Trading Operations.

Profit for the year after taxes (a)

Revenue from Operations (Net) (b)

H. Return on Capital employed (a/b) 12.84% 10.86% 18.22% Not Applicable

Earnings Before Interest, Tax and 
Exceptional Item (a)

Average Capital Employed (b) (c+d)/2

Opening Capital Employed (c)

Closing Capital Employed (d) (e+f+g-h)

Net Worth (e)

Total debt and lease liabilities (f)

Deferred Tax Liability (g)

Deferred Tax Asset (h)

I. Debt-Equity Ratio (a/b) 0.02 0.02 0.00% Not Applicable

Total Debt including lease liabilities (a)

Shareholder's Equity (b)

J. Debt Service Coverage Ratio (a/f)  22.20  8.08 174.75% Increase in profits due to higher 
income from treasury operations.

Earnings available for debt Service (a) (a = b + c + d)

Net Profit after Taxes (b)

Non cash expenses (c )

Finance cost (d)

Other adjustments (e)  -    -   

Debt Service (f) (f = g + h + i)

Interest Payments (g)

Lease Payments (h)

Principal Repayments (i)

K. Return on investment (a/b) 49.65% 0.93% 5262.91% Favourable stock markets in the 
current year

Income from Investments (a)

Average cost of Investments (b) (b = (c + d)/2)

Opening Investments (c) 

Closing Investments (d)

Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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41. During the previous year ended 31 March 2022, the Company’s “financial assets” and “income from financial assets” exceeded 

50% of the total assets and gross income respectively. The Board of Directors of the Company, based on an independent legal 

opinion, had concluded that it was not required to register itself with the RBI as a NBFC mainly due to the fact that the principal 

business of the Company is to deal with all types of Petrochemicals and other products and it does not intend to carry on the 

business as a NBFC and the situation prevailing on 31 March 2022 was transitory in nature. The statutory auditors had qualified 

their report in this regard. In line with Company's business plans and based on audited financial statements for year ended 31 

March 2023, such criterion is no longer met and the Company is currently not required to seek any such registration. 

42. There are no material events after the reporting period till the date of issue of these standalone financial statements.

43. No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or 

kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”) with the 

understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall lend or invest in party identified by or on 

behalf of the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries). The Company has not received any fund from any party(s) (Funding Party) with 

the understanding that the Company shall whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified by or 

on behalf of the funding party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 

Beneficiaries.

As per our report of even date attached.

For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697

Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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Independent Auditor's Report

To

The Members of

DHUNSERI VENTURES LIMITED

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 

Dhunseri Ventures Limited (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (Holding Company 

and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”) and 

its associates, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet 

as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit 

and loss (including other comprehensive income), consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement 

of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the  

consolidated financial statements, including material  

accounting policies and other explanatory information 

(hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated financial 

statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 

to the explanations given to us, and based on the consideration 

of reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements 

of such subsidiaries and associate as were audited by the other 

auditors, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give 

the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) 

in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 

conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in 

India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group and its 

associates as at 31 March 2024, of its consolidated profit and 

other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity 

and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on 

Auditing (SAs) specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Our 

responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 

of the Group and its associates in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in terms of the Code of Ethics issued by 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the relevant 

provisions of the Act, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 

believe that the audit evidence obtained by us along with the 

consideration of reports of the other auditors referred to in 

paragraph (a) of the “Other Matters” section below, is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the  

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and 

Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Holding Company’s Management and Board of Directors are 

responsible for the other information. The other information 

comprises the information included in the Holding Company’s 

annual report, but does not include the financial statements and 

auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 

cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 

Capital Expenditure recorded in Property, Plant and Equipment

See Note 3 to consolidated financial statements

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has commenced commercial production 

of BOPET films manufacturing plant at Panagarh in 

the state of West Bengal during the year. Property, 

plant and equipment aggregating to INR 53,555.10 

lakhs has been capitalised pertaining to the aforesaid 

project during the year.

The management has evaluated the costs (including 

the borrowing cost incurred which are directly 

attributable to construction of the aforesaid project) 

incurred and applied judgement to identify costs 

that are eligible for capitalisation in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles in India. 

Judgment is also involved in determining the date 

when the project or its components are ready for 

use as intended by the management and qualifies 

for capitalization.

We identified capitalisation of costs incurred for 

construction of the Panagarh plant as key audit 

matter due to the significance and nature of the 

amounts involved.

In view of the significance of the matter we applied the following audit 

procedures in this area, among others to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 

evidence:

• assessed the appropriateness of the accounting policy for property, plant 

and equipment as per the relevant accounting standard;

• obtained an understanding of and evaluated the design and implementation 

of the Group's keyinternal financial controls over property, plant and 

equipment (including capital work-in-progress);

• as part of our substantive procedures, traced the transactions recorded to 

the relevant supporting documents, on a sample basis;

• in relation to the borrowing costs we obtained the supporting calculations, 

verified the inputs to the calculation and tested the arithmetical accuracy of 

the model;

• evaluated the reasonableness of the management’s estimate of the useful 

life of the property, plant and equipment, including the determination of 

the date when these assets were ready for their intended use;

• assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures made in 

accordance with the relevant accounting standard.
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or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 

be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 

to report in this regard.

Management's and Board of Director's Responsibilities 

for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Holding Company’s Management and Board of Directors 

are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these 

consolidated financial statements in term of the requirements of 

the Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated state 

of affairs, consolidated profit/ loss and other comprehensive 

income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated cash flows of the Group including its associates in 

accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted 

in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)  

specified under Section 133 of the Act. The respective 

Management and Board of Directors of the companies included  

in the Group and the respective Management and Board of 

Directors of its associates are responsible for maintenance of 

adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 

of the Act for safeguarding the assets of each company and for 

preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the 

selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; 

making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 

internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for 

ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 

records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 

and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of 

the consolidated financial statements by the Management and 

Board of Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective 

Management and Board of Directors of the companies included 

in the Group and the respective Management and Board of 

Directors of its associates are responsible for assessing the ability 

of each company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 

as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the respective Board 

of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included 

in the Group and the respective Management and Board of 

Directors and of its associates are responsible for overseeing the 

financial reporting process of each company. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements,whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
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those risks, andobtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 

audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we 

are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether 

the company has adequate internal financial controls with 

reference to financial statements in place and the operating 

effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and 

Board of Directors use of the going concern basis of accounting 

in preparation of consolidated financial statements and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may castsignificant doubt on the appropriateness of this 

assumption. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 

to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Group and its associates to cease to 

continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements,including the disclosures, 

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 

the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial statements of such entities or business activities 

within the Group and its associates to express an opinion on 

the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit 

of the financial statements of such entities included in the 

consolidated financial statements of which we are the 

independent auditors. For the other entities included in the 

consolidated financial statements, which has been audited 

by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits 

carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our 

audit opinion. Our responsibilities in this regard are further 

described in paragraph (a) of the section titled “Other 

Matters” in this audit report.

We communicate with those charged with governance of 

the Holding Company and such other entities included in 

the consolidated financial statements of which we are the 

independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 

governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
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of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 

in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matters 

(a) We did not audit the financial statements of three 

subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflects total assets 

(before consolidation adjustments) of C12,668.61 lakhs 

as at 31 March 2024, total revenues (before consolidation 

adjustments) of C7,311.04 lakhs and net cash inflows 

(before consolidation adjustments) amounting to C672.00 

lakhs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the 

consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial 

statements also include the Holding Company’s share of net 

profit (and other comprehensive income) of C11,554.54 lakhs 

for the year ended 31 March 2024, in respect of an associate, 

whose financial statements has not been audited by us. These 

financial statements have been audited by other auditors 

whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management 

and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in 

so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in 

respect of the subsidiaries and associate, and our report in 

terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as 

it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries and associate is based 

solely on the reports of the other auditors.

b. A subsidiary and an associate are located outside India whose 

financial statements and other financial information have 

been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the irrespective countries and which 

have been audited by other auditors under generally 

accepted auditing standards applicable in their respective 

countries. The Holding Company’s management has 

converted the financial statements of such subsidiary and 

associate located outside India from accounting principles 

generally accepted in their respective countries to accounting 

principles generally accepted in India. We have audited these 

conversion adjustments made by the Holding Company’s 

management. Our opinion in so far as it relates to the 

balances and affairs of such subsidiary and associate located 

outside India is based on the reports of other auditors and 

the conversion adjustments prepared by the management of 

the Holding Company and audited by us.

 Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our 

report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, 

is not modified in respect of these matters with respect to 

our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other 

auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 

(“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India in 

terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in the “Annexure 

A” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 

of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit 

and on the consideration of reports of the other auditors 

on separate financial statements of such subsidiaries and 

associates as were audited by other auditors, as noted in 

the “Other Matters” paragraph, we report, to the extent 

applicable, that:

a. We have sought and obtained all the information and 

explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 

were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid 

consolidated financial statements.
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b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law 

relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial 

statements have been kept so far as it appears from our 

examination of those books and the report of the other 

auditor, except for the following matters: (i) The Holding 

Company and a subsidiary company incorporated in India 

have used an accounting software,which is operated by a 

third party software service provider for maintainence of its 

books of account and its daily backup on servers physically 

located in India. In the absence of system and organisation 

controls report for the period 1 October 2023 to 31 March 

2024, we are unable to conclude on the daily backup of the 

books of account of the Holding Company and a subsidiary 

company during the aforesaid period (ii) In case of an associate 

company incorporated in India,the back-up of the payroll 

software which form part of the ‘books of account and other 

relevant books and papers in electronic mode’ have not been 

maintained on the servers physically located in India during 

the year; (iii) In case of an associate company incorporated 

in India, in the absence of relevant evidences with respect to 

the daily back-up of the books of account during the period 

1 April 2023 till 30 April 2023, we are unable to conclude on 

the daily backup of the books of account during the aforesaid 

period; (iv) In case of an associate company incorporated 

in India, the back-up of the books of account and other 

relevant books and papers in electronic mode has not been 

kept on servers physically located in India during the period 

1 May 2023 till 24 March2024; (v) The matters stated in the 

paragraph 2(B)(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the 

Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

c. The consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement 

of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 

consolidated statement of cash flows dealt with by this 

Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account 

maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements.

d. In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial 

statements comply with the Ind AS specified under Section 

133 of the Act.

e. On the basis of the written representations received from the 

directors of the Holding Company as on 31 March 2024 and 

1 April 2024 and 2 April 2024 taken on record by the Board 

of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of the 

statutory auditors of its subsidiary company incorporated 

in India, none of the directors of the Group companies, its 

associate company incorporated in India is disqualified as on 

31 March 2024 from being appointed as a director in terms of 

Section 164(2) of the Act.

f. the modification relating to the maintenance of accounts 

and other matters connected therewith are as stated in the 

paragraph 2(A)(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)

(b) and paragraph [2B(f)] below on reporting under Rule 11(g) 

of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

g. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding 

Company and its subsidiary companies and associate company 

incorporated in India and the operating effectiveness of such 

controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure B”.

B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the 

Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies 

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the 

best of our information and according to the explanations 

given to us and based on the consideration of the reports of 

the other auditors on separate financial statements of the 

subsidiaries and associates, as noted in the “Other Matters” 

paragraph:
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 a. There were no pending litigations as at 31 March 2024 

which would impact the consolidated financial position of 

the Group and its associates.

 b. The Group and its associates did not have any material 

foreseeable losses on long-term contracts including 

derivative contracts during the year ended 31 March 2024.

 c. There has been no delay in transferring amounts to the 

Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding 

Company during the year ended 31 March 2024. There 

are no amounts which arerequired to be transferred to the 

Investor Education and Protection Fund by the subsidiaries 

companies and associate company incorporated in India 

during the year ended 31 March 2024.

 d) (i) The respective management of the Holding Company 

and its subsidiary companies and associate company 

incorporated in India whose financial statements have 

been audited under the Act have represented to us and 

the other auditor of such subsidiary company that, to 

the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the 

Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements, no 

funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either 

from borrowed funds or share premium or any other 

sources or kind of funds) by the Holding Company or any 

of such subsidiary companies and associate company to 

or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign 

entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, 

whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 

Intermediary shall directly or indirectly lend or invest 

in other persons or entities identified in any manner 

whatsoever by or on behalf of the Holding Company 

or any of such subsidiary companies and associate 

company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 

guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 

Beneficiaries.

  (ii) The respective management of the Holding Company 

and its subsidiary companies and associate company 

incorporated in India whose financial statements 

have been audited under the Act have represented to 

us and the other auditor of such subsidiary company 

that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as 

disclosed in the Note 47 to the consolidated financial 

statements,no funds have been received by the Holding 

Company or any of such subsidiary companies and 

associate company from any person(s) or entity(ies), 

including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with 

the understanding, whether recorded in writing or 

otherwise, that the Holding Company or any of such 

subsidiary companies and associate company shall 

directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or 

entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on 

behalf of the Funding Parties (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 

or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf 

of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

  (iii) Based on the audit procedures that have been 

considered reasonable and appropriate in the 

circumstances performed by us and that performed by 

the auditor of the subsidiary company incorporated in 

India whose financial statements have been audited 

under the Act, nothing has come to our or other 

auditors notice that has caused us or the other auditor 

to believe that the representations under sub-clause 

(i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (i) and (ii) 

above, contain any material misstatement.

  e) The final dividend paid by the Holding Company and 

associate company incorporated in India during the 

year, in respect of the same declared for the previous 

year and the interim dividend declared and paid by 
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the associate Company incorporated in India, is in 

accordance with Section123 of the Act to the extent it 

applies to payment of dividend. As stated in Note 40 to 

the consolidated financial statements, the respective 

Board of Directors of the Holding Company and its 

associate company have proposed final dividend 

for the year which is subject to the approval of the 

respective members at the ensuing Annual General 

Meeting. The dividend declared is in accordance 

with Section 123 of the Act to the extent it applies to 

declaration of dividend.

  f.  Based on our examination which included test checks, 

except for the instances mentioned below, the Group 

and its associate company have used accounting 

softwares for maintaining its books of account which 

has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility. 

For accounting softwares for which audit trail feature 

is enabled, except for the instances mentioned below, 

the audit trail facility has been operating throughout 

the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 

software and we did not come across any instance 

of audit trail feature being tampered with during the 

course of our audit.

  (i) The Holding Company and a subsidiary companies 

incorporated in India have used an accounting software, 

which is operated by a third party software service 

provider, for maintaining its books of account. In the 

absence of reporting on compliance with the audit trail 

requirements in the system and organisation controls 

report for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 September 2023 

and in the absense of system and organisation controls 

report for the period 1 October 2023 to 31 March 

2024, we are unable to comment whether audit trail 

feature of the said software was enabled and operated 

throughout the year for all relevant transactions 

recorded in the software or whether there were any 

instances of the audit trail feature been tampered with.

  (ii) In case of an associate company incorporated in India:

 1.  The Company has used an accounting software, which is 

operated by a third party software service provider, for 

maintaining its books of account relating to payroll. In 

the absence of reporting on compliance with the audit 

trail requirements in the independent auditor’s report 

of the service organisation, we are unable to comment 

on the audit trail feature of the said software.

 2.  The Company has used accounting softwares for 

maintaining its books of account for the period 1 April 

2023 to 30 April 2023 which has a feature of recording 

audit trail (edit log) facility. However, in the absence 

of availibility of relevant edit logs, we are unable to 

comment whether the audit trail feature at the database 

level and the application level has operated throughout 

the year or whether there were any instances of audit 

trail feature being tampered with.

 3.  The Company has used an accounting software for 

maintaining its books of account for the period 1 

May 2023 to 31 March 2024 wherein the audit trail 

was enabled at the database level, however in the 

absence of availibility of relevant edit logs, we are 

unable to comment whether the audit trail feature at 

the database level has operated throughout the year or 

whether there were any instances of audit trail feature 

being tampered with.
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C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’s 

Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

 In our opinion and according to the information and 

explanations given to us and based on the report of the 

statutory auditors of such subsidiary company incorporated 

in India which was not audited by us, the remuneration paid 

during the current year by the Holding Company and its 

subsidiary company to its directors is in accordance with the 

provisions of Section 197 of the Act. The remuneration paid 

to any director by the Holding Company and its subsidiary 

company is not in excess of the limit laid down under Section 

197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not 

prescribed other details under Section 197(16) of the Act 

which are required to be commented upon by us.

For B S R & Co. LLP

Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay

 Partner

Place: Kolkata Membership no: 055757 

Date: 24 May 2024  ICAI UDIN:24055757BKEYKW9071
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(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of 
even date)

(xxi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, following companies incorporated in India and 

included in the consolidated financial statements, have unfavourable remarks, qualification or adverse remarks given by the 

respective auditors in their reports under the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (CARO):

Sr. No. Name of the entities CIN Holding Company/
Subsidiary/ Associate

Clause number of the 
CARO report which 
is unfavourable or 

qualified or adverse

1 IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries 
Private Limited

U25203WB2015PTC207942 Associate Company (ii)(b)

2 Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited U25209WB202OPTC241596 Subsidiary Company (ii)(b), (xvii)

3 Dhunseri Infrastructure Limited U45400WB2013PLC190485 Subsidiary Company (i)(c), (xvii)

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay
 Partner

Place: Kolkata Membership no: 055757 
Date: 24 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24055757BKEYKW9071

Annexure A to the Independent Auditors’ report on the Consolidated

Financial Statements of Dhunseri Ventures Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
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Report on the internal financial controls with reference 
to the aforesaid consolidated financial statements under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A)(g) under ‘Report on 
Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of 
our report of even date) 

Opinion

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of Dhunseri Ventures Limited (hereinafter referred 

to as “the Holding Company”) as of and for the year ended 31 

March 2024, we have audited the internal financial controls with 

reference to financial statements of the Holding Company and 

such companies incorporated in India under the Act which is its 

subsidiary companies and its associate company, as of that date.

In our opinion and based on the consideration of report of the 

other auditor on internal financial controls with reference to 

financial statements of subsidiary company as was audited by 

the other auditor, the Holding Company and such companies 

incorporated in India which are its subsidiary companies and 

its associate company, have, in all material respects, adequate 

internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 

and such internal financial controls were operating effectively 

as at 31 March 2024, based on the internal financial controls 

with reference to financial statements criteria established by 

such companies considering the essential components of such 

internal controls stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal 

Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute 

of Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”).

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities 
for Internal Financial Controls 

The respective Company's Management and the Board of  

Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining 

internal financial controls based on the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements criteria 

established by the respective company considering the essential 

components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note. 

These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 

maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were 

operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct 

of its business, including adherence to the respective company's 

policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and 

detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 

of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable 

financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 

Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 

143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal 

financial controls with reference to financial statements. Those 

Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements were established 

and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all 

material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 

with reference to financial statements and their operating 

effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with  

reference to financial statements included obtaining an 

understanding of internal financial controls with reference to 

financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness 

exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating 

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 

Annexure B to the Independent Auditors’ report  on the consolidated financial

statements of Dhunseri Ventures Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
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including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the 

audit evidence obtained by the other auditor of the relevant 

subsidiary company in terms of their reports referred to in the 

Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to 
Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to 

financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 

company's internal financial controls with reference to financial 

statements include those policies and procedures that (1) 

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 

the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that 

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 

of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 

of the company are being made only in accordance with 

authorisations of management and directors of the company; 

and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 

timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition 

of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the 

financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with 
Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls 

with reference to financial statements, including the possibility 

of collusion or improper management override of controls, 

material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not 

be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 

financial controls with reference to financial statements to 

future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements may become 

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Other Matters

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the 

adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements in so far as it 

relates to a subsidiary company, which is a company incorporated 

in India, is based on the corresponding report of the auditor of 

such company incorporated in India.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay
 Partner

Place: Kolkata Membership no: 055757 
Date: 24 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24055757BKEYKW9071
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Notes  As at  
31 March 2024

 As at  
31 March 2023

Assets
(1) Non-current Assets

(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 3  61,550.02  6,420.84 
(b) Capital Work in Progress 4  5,483.77  53,650.13 
(c) lnvestment Property 5  1,114.51  1,137.99 
(d) Goodwill 6  69.81  69.81 
(e) Other Intangible Assets 6  30.39  37.94 
(f) Investments in equity accounted investees 7  1,87,642.22  1,85,760.72 
(g) Financial assets  

(i) Investments 8A  62,215.49  43,788.56 
(ii) Other Financial Assets 9  1,255.89  687.68 

(h) Other Non-current Assets 10  7,885.33  6,012.47 
Total Non-current assets  3,27,247.43  2,97,566.14 

(2) Current Assets
(a) Inventories 11  2,687.21  60.48 
(b) Financial Assets  

(i) Investments 8B  27,355.35  21,703.83 
(ii) Trade Receivables 12  251.04  14.70 
(iii) Cash and Cash Equivalents 13  2,690.26  6,095.56 
(iv) Bank Balances other than (iii) above 14  24,324.26  21,365.33 
(v) Other Financial Assets 9  4,094.90  2,138.13 

(c) Current Tax Assets 15A  1,046.11  2,135.22 
(d) Other Current Assets 10  3,114.98  1,862.95 
Total Current Assets  65,564.11  55,376.20 

Total Assets  3,92,811.54  3,52,942.34 
Equity

(a) Equity Share Capital 16A  3,503.29  3,503.29 
(b) Other Equity 16B  2,92,416.47  2,60,225.56 
Equity Attributable to owners of the Company     2,95,919.76  2,63,728.85 
(c) Non controlling interest  422.36  433.23 
Total Equity  2,96,342.12  2,64,162.08 

Liabilities
(1) Non-current liabilities

(a) Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 17  27,665.04  30,879.50 
(ii) Lease Liabilities  839.88  1,144.41 

(b) Provisions 18  475.17  405.88 
(c) Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 19  43,960.92  41,672.04 
(d) Other Non Current Liabilities 22  7,330.49  7,400.24 
Total Non-current liabilities  80,271.50  81,502.07 

(2) Current liabilities
(a) Financial Liabilities

(i) Borrowings 17  7,968.61  3,028.33 
(ii) Lease Liabilities  1,217.85  1,406.03 
(iii) Trade Payables 20
     Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  155.42  0.36 
     Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises  4,194.78  489.59 
(iv) Other Financial Liabilities 21  1,532.34  1,334.37 

(b) Other Current Liabilities 22  729.48  432.21 
(c) Provisions 18  63.18  45.57 
(d) Current Tax Liabilities 15B  336.26  541.73 
Total Current liabilities  16,197.92  7,278.19 

Total Equity and Liabilities  3,92,811.54  3,52,942.34 
Material accounting policies                        1
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements   
As per our report of even date attached.
For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697
Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Notes  Year Ended  
31 March 2024

  Year Ended  
31 March 2023

1 Income
Revenue from operations 23  40,348.36  23,191.09 
Other income 24  7,630.73  7,663.83 
Total Income  47,979.09  30,854.92 

2 Expenses
Cost of materials consumed 25  10,931.39  1,983.64 
Purchase of stock-in-trade  14,284.12  12,471.11 
Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade, finished goods and work-in-progress 26  (592.34)  -   
Employee benefits expense 27  5,312.78  4,041.82 
Finance costs 28  1,614.17  573.84 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 29  2,870.53  2,203.03 
Other expenses 30  5,040.71  4,767.29 
Total Expenses  39,461.36  26,040.73 

3 Profit before exceptional items, share of net profit from equity accounted investees and tax (1-2)  8,517.73  4,814.19 
4 Exceptional items  -    -   
5 Profit before share of net profit from equity accounted investees and tax (3-4)  8,517.73  4,814.19 
6 Share of profit of Equity Accounted Investees 43  10,787.41  66,964.13 
7 Profit before tax (5-6)  19,305.14  71,778.32 

Current tax (Includes reversal of income tax for earlier years amounting to C382.19 lakhs (31 
March 2023-CNil))  3,448.91  3,081.00 

Deferred tax  646.12  14,508.81 
8 Tax expenses 31  4,095.03  17,589.81 
9 Profit for the year (7-8)  15,210.11  54,188.51 
10 Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

(a) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
 (i) Equity investments through Other Comprehensive income- Net gain on disposal and 

change in fair value  20,989.95  (1,545.64)

(ii) Remeasurement loss of net defined benefit liability  (8.67)  (3.30)
(iii) Share of OCI of associates  (11.97)  (16.09)
(iv) Income Tax relating to these items  (2,574.78)  196.69 

(b) Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
(i) Exchange difference in translating financial statements of foreign operations  432.47  8,025.40 
(ii) Income Tax relating to these items  (105.83)  (1,983.98)

Other Comprehensive Income for the year (net of taxes)  18,721.17  4,673.08 
11 Total Comprehensive Income for the year (9+10)  33,931.28  58,861.59 
12 Profit attributable to:

 - Owners of the Company  15,308.02  54,246.91 
 - Non-controlling interest  (97.91)  (58.40)

 15,210.11  54,188.51 
13 Other Comprehensive Income attributable to :

 - Owners of the Company  18,721.17  4,673.08 
 - Non-controlling interest  -    -   

 18,721.17  4,673.08 
14 Total Comprehensive Income attributable to :

 - Owners of the Company  34,029.19  58,919.99 
 - Non-controlling interest  (97.91)  (58.40)

 33,931.28  58,861.59 
15 Earnings per equity share: 32

[Nominal value per share:  H10/- each (Previous Year- H10/- each)]
(1) Basic  43.71  154.88 
(2) Diluted  43.71  154.88 

Material accounting policies                        1
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements   
As per our report of even date attached.
For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697
Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024

(H in lakhs)

Particulars  Notes  Year Ended  
31 March 2024

 Year Ended 
31 March 2023

Cash Flow From Operating Activities

Profit before tax  19,305.14  71,778.32 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 29  2,870.53  2,203.03 

Share of profit from equity accounted investees 43  (10,787.41)  (66,964.13)

(Profit)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (0.31)  42.24 

Unrealised foreign exchange loss  0.28  1,018.86 

Financial instruments measured at FVTPL - net change in fair value 23  (5,174.78)  (2,121.93)

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of investments measured at FVTPL 23  (3,379.94)  134.82 

Interest income 24  (2,540.68)  (1,092.42)

Deferred Government Grant  (50.20)  -   

Rent income from investment property 24  (88.02)  (84.69)

Finance costs 28  1,614.17  573.84 

Operating Profit before changes in working capital  1,768.78  5,487.94 

Working capital adjustments:

Increase in Inventories  (2,626.73)  (9.29)

Increase in Trade receivables  (236.34)  (3.00)

Decrease in Current investments  2,896.06  10,544.26 

(Increase)/Decrease in Financial assets and other assets  (3,160.70)  2,028.95 

Increase in Financial liabilities and other liabilities  4,259.46  59.17 

Net Cash Generated from Operations  2,900.53  18,108.03 

Income -Tax Paid (Net of refunds)  (3,603.13)  (3,852.40)

Net Cash generated from/(Used in) Operating Activities (A)  (702.60)  14,255.63 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment/ Intangible Assets  (8,510.17)  (35,780.07)

Proceeds from disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment  1.02  40.34 

Rent received 24  88.02  84.69 

Movement in bank balances & deposits other than cash and cash 
equivalents  (3,618.43)  (18,930.28)

Sale of Non-current Investments (net)  2,572.76  13,690.28 

Dividend received from associate  9,314.44  8,500.00 

Interest Received  2,541.02  2,271.34 

Net Cash generated from/(Used in) Investing Activities (B)  2,388.66  (30,123.70)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)

(H in lakhs)

Particulars  Notes  Year Ended  
31 March 2024

 Year Ended 
31 March 2023

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Dividend paid  (1,751.24)  (1,400.99)

Interest paid  (2,155.50)  (505.28)

Payment of Lease liabilities  (1,723.99)  (1,521.85)

Proceeds from short-term borrowings  500.00  -   

Repayment of Long term borrowings  (28.32)  (931.90)

Proceeds from long-term borrowings  74.40  23,770.23 

Net Cash generated from/(used in) Financing Activities (C)  (5,084.65)  19,410.21 

Net increase/(decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (A+B+C)  (3,398.59)  3,542.14 

Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents 13  6,095.56  2,705.89 

Effects of exchange fluctuation  (6.71)  (152.47)

Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents 13  2,690.26  6,095.56 

1. The aforesaid consolidated statement of cash flow has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Ind AS 7- "Statement of Cash Flow".
2. Disclosure on reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities as required by Ind AS 7 has been included in Note 42.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements  
As per our report of even date attached.

For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697

Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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Reporting Entity

Dhunseri Ventures Limited (the "Holding Company") is a company limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in India. The 
Holding Company is primarily engaged in treasury and trading operations. Equity Shares of the Holding Company are listed on Bombay 
Stock Exchange Ltd and the National Stock Exchange of India Ltd. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue with the resolution of the Board of Directors of the 
Holding Company on May 24, 2024. 

1. Material Accounting Policies 

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements 
comprise of the Company and its subsidiaries (referred to collectively as the "Group") and the Group's interests in associates. 

1.1  Compliance with Ind AS 

The consolidated financial statements comply in all material aspects with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under Section 
133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) read with [Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015] and other relevant 
provisions of the Act and Generally Accepted Accounting Practices in India.

1.2 Historical Cost Convention 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:  

(a) Certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) that is measured at fair value (Refer Note 8) 

(b) Defined benefit plans – plan assets measured at fair value (Refer Note 18) 

1.3    Revenue Recognition 

Sale of goods 

At contract inception, Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and identify as a performance 
obligation each promise to transfer to the customer. Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of promised products or services 
to customers in an amount of the transaction price that is allocated to that performance obligation and that reflects the consideration 
which the Group expects to receive in exchange for those products or services. 

The Group considers the terms of the contract and its customary business practices to determine the transaction price. The transaction 
price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services 
to a customer net of returns, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties (for example, taxes).  

With respect to sale of products, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied and the customer 
obtains the control of goods or services. There is no significant financing components involved on contract with customers. Invoices 
are usually payable within the credit period as agreed with respective customers. 

The Group recognises revenue only when it is probable that it will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for 
the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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Royalty Income 

The Group recognises revenue for a sales based royalty only when the sales are made by the licensee.   

1.4  Property, plant and equipment 

All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, impairment loss, if any. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of these items. 

The cost of any item of PPE shall be recognised as an asset if an only if it is probable that future economic benefit associated with the 
item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All repairs and maintenance are 
charged to statement of profit and loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each balance sheet date is classified as capital 
advances and cost of assets not ready for use at the balance sheet date are disclosed under capital work-in-progress. 

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value 

Depreciation is computed based on the management’s estimate of useful life of a property, plant and equipment which is in accordance 
with the useful lives of property, plant and equipment indicated in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013. In respect of certain assets 
categorised under “Motor Vehicles” and “Office Equipments” based on internal management assessment and independent technical 
evaluation, the management believes that these assets have useful lives of 8 years and 2 years respectively, which is different from the 
useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule II of the Act, 5 years and 2-5 years respectively. Depreciation method, useful lives 
and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate. Item of Property, plant and equipment for 
which related actual cost do not exceed C5,000 are fully depreciated in the year of purchase.  

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. The gains/losses are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

Transition to Ind AS 

The cost property, plant and equipment at 1 April 2016, the company’s date of transition to Ind AS, was determined with reference to 
its carrying value recognised as per the previous GAAP (deemed cost), as at the date of transition to Ind AS. 

1.5    Investment Property 

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is classified as 
Investment Property. Investment Property is measured at its cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing 
costs less depreciation and impairment, if any. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset's carrying amount only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is 
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
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Depreciation on building is provided over its useful life using straight line method.  

Useful life considered for calculation of depreciation for assets class are as follows- 
Non-Factory Building                                 60 years 

The fair values of investment property is disclosed in the notes. Fair values is determined by an independent valuer who holds a recognised 
and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued. 

Rental Income from investment property is recognised as income in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease 
except where the rentals are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation.  

Transition to Ind AS 

The cost of investment property at 1 April 2016, the company’s date of transition to Ind AS, was determined with reference to its 
carrying value recognised as per the previous GAAP (deemed cost), as at the date of transition to Ind AS 

1.6  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets (Computer Software) have a finite useful life and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation, impairment loss, if any.

Intangible assets (for internal use) which is primarily acquired from third party vendors is capitalised. Subsequent expenditure is 
capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure 
is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Amortisation methods and periods 

The Group amortises intangible assets with a finite useful life using the straight-line method over the following periods: 

•  Computer software     5-6 Years 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset 
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognized in the statement of profit and loss unless such expenditure forms part of carrying value of another asset.  

Transition to Ind AS 

The cost Intangible assets at 1 April 2016, the company’s date of transition to Ind AS, was determined with reference to its carrying 
value recognised as per the previous GAAP (deemed cost), as at the date of transition to Ind AS. 

1.7      Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.   

For impairment testing, assets that do not generate independent cash inflows are combined together into cash-generating units 
(CGUs). Each CGU represents the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or CGUs.
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The recoverable amount of a CGU (or an individual asset) is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use 
is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU (or the asset). 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment 
losses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Impairment loss recognised in respect of a CGU is allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU (or 
Group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 

In respect of other assets for which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Group reviews at each reporting date 
whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.  

1.8  Leases 

i.  The Group as a lessee 

The Group assesses whether a contract contains a lease as per the requirements of Ind AS 116 “Leases” at inception of a contract. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether: (i) 
the contract involves the use of an identified asset (ii) the Group has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 
through the period of the lease and (iii) the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. 

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part 
of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional 

renewal period if the company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a 
lease unless the company is reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a lease liability at the lease commencement date, except for leases with a term 
of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes the 
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Certain lease arrangements include the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. ROU assets and 
lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised. 
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The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 

payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and 

remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The 

right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease 

term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-

use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful 

life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use 

asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 

discounted using the incremental borrowing rate of the Group obtained from various external financing sources. Lease liabilities are 

remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset if the Group changes its assessment if whether it will 

exercise an extension or a termination option. 

ii. The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. Whenever 

the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance 

lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

For operating leases, rental income is recognized on a straight basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

1.9  Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average 

formula, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in 

bringing them to their present location and condition. Cost includes the reclassification from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying 

cash flow hedges relating to purchases of raw material. In the case of manufactured inventories and work-in-progress, cost includes an 

appropriate share of fixed production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling 

expenses. The net realisable value of work-in-progress is determined with reference to the selling prices of related finished products.

Raw materials, components and other supplies held for use in the production of finished products are not written down below cost 

except in cases where material prices have declined and it is estimated that the cost of the finished products will exceed their net 

realisable value.

The comparison of cost and net realisable value is made on an item-by-item basis.

1.10  Government Grants

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value where the Company concludes that the grant is related to 

assets. The grant is subsequently recognised in the statement of profit and loss based on fulfillment of obligation as specified in the 

underlying scheme applicable to the grant. 
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1.11  Financial Instruments

1.11.1  Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 

1.11.2  Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at  

• amortised cost; 
• Fair Value through Other Comprehensive income (FVOCI) – equity investment; or 
• Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)   

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the group changes its business 
model for managing financial assets. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
• the contractual terms of the financial  asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows  that are solely payments  of principal and 

interest on the principal amount  outstanding. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI (designated as FVOCI – equity investment). This election is made on an investment by 
investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes 
all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses   

Financial assets at FVTPL these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost these assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit 
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not reclassified to profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses   

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified 
as held- for- trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured 
at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.  

1.11.3. Derecognition

Financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial  asset when the contractual rights  to the cash flows  from the financial  asset expire, or it transfers  
the rights  to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards  of ownership of 
the financial  asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards  of 
ownership and does not retain control  of the financial  asset. 

If the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains either all or substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not derecognised. 

Financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. 

The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under the modified terms are 
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

1.11.4. Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial  liabilities are offset and the net amount  presented in the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group 
currently has a legally  enforceable right  to set off the amounts  and it intends  either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.11.5. Impairment of financial instruments 

The Group recognises loss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets measured at amortised 
cost. Loss allowance for trade receivables with no significant financing component is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 
For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk from initial recognition in which case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The amount of expected 
credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be 
recognised is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. 

1.11.6. Derivative financial instruments  

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency, interest rate risk exposures.
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Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes 
therein are generally recognised in profit or loss.

1.12   Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.13   Borrowing Cost 

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency borrowings to the extent that 
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are directly 
attributable to acquisition or construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.14  Foreign Currency Translation 

(a)   Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Group operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian 
rupee (C), which is the Group's functional and presentation currency. All amounts have been rounded-off to the nearest lakhs unless 
otherwise indicated. 

(b)   Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. At 
the year end, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are restated at the year end exchange rates. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translations of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the statement of profit and loss, within 
finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis within other 
income/other expense.

(c)   Foreign Operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations (subsidiaries and associates) including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition, are translated into INR, the functional currency of the Group, at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and 
expenses of foreign operations are translated into INR at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average rate if the 
average rate approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction. 

When a foreign operation is disposed off in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the 
cumulative amount of exchange differences related to that foreign operation recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as part of 
the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of 
the cumulative amount is re-allocated to NCI. When the Group disposes of only a part of its interest in an associate or a joint venture while 
retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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1.15  Employee Benefits 

(i)    Short-term employee benefits 

Short -term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid, if the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a 

result of past service provided by the employee, and the amount of obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(ii)  Defined Benefit Plans 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group's net obligation in respect 

of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned 

in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. 

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. 

When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic 

benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan ("the asset ceiling"). 

In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding 

interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised in OCI. The Group determines the net interest 

expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 

benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any 

changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest 

expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service ('past 

service cost' or 'past service gain') or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognises 

gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

(iii)  Defined Contribution Plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity 

and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The Group makes specified monthly contributions towards 

Government administered provident fund scheme. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an 

employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which the related services are rendered by employees.

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 

(iv)  Other long-term employee benefits- compensated absences 

Accumulated absences expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months is treated as  long-term  employee benefit for 

measurement purposes. The group's net obligation in respect of other long-term employee benefit of accumulating absences is 

the amount of future benefit that employees have accumulated at the end of the year. That benefit is discounted to determine its 

present value. The obligation is measured annually by a qualified actuary using the projetced unit credit method. Remeasurements are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the company does not have an unconditional right to defer 

the settlement for atleast twelve month after the reporting date.

1.16  Income Tax 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business 

combination or to an item recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

i.  Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax 

payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected 

to be paid or received after considering the uncertainty, if any, related to income taxes.  It is measured using tax rates (and tax laws) 

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Current tax assets and current  tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally  enforceable   right to set off the recognised amounts,  

and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or simultaneously. 

ii. Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of carried 

forward tax losses and tax credits.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can 

be used. The existence of unused tax losses is strong evidence that future taxable profit may not be available. Therefore, in case of a 

history of recent losses, the group recognises a deferred tax asset only to the extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary difference 

or there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which such deferred tax asset can be 

realised. Deferred tax assets – unrecognised or recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognised/ reduced to the 

extent that it is probable/ no longer probable respectively that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 

based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the 

reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they 

relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 

current tax liabilities and assets on a Net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

1.17  Provision 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not 

recognised for future operating losses. 
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Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimates of the expenditure required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the 

passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

1.18 Subsequent events 

There are no material non-adjusting events after the reporting period till the date of issue of these financial statements (i.e. 24 May 2024).

1.19   Dividends, interest income and interest expense 

Dividend Income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Group's right to receive payment is established. 

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method 

The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 

the financial instrument to: 

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 

• the amortised cost of the financial liability

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the 

asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired 

subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 

financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 

1.20 Principles of Consolidation 

1.20.1 Business Combinations 

In accordance with Ind AS 103, the Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred 

to the Group. The consideration transferred for the business combination is generally measured at fair value as at the date the control 

is acquired (acquisition date), as are the net identifiable assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any 

gain on bargain purchase is recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity as capital reserve if there exists clear evidence of the underlying 

reasons for classifying the business combination as resulting in a bargain purchase; otherwise the gain is recognised directly in equity as 

capital reserve. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except to the extent related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships with the acquire. Such 

amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration 

that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured subsequently and settlement is 

accounted for within equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and changes  in the fair 

value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 
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If a business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at its acquisition date 

fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or OCI, as appropriate.   

1.20.2 Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 

its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over entity. The financial statements of 

subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 

control ceases.

1.20.3 Non-controlling interests (NCI) 

NCI are measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree's net identifiable assets at the date of acquisition. 

Changes in the Group's equity interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

1.20.4 Loss of control 

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and 

other components of equity. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value at the date the control is lost. Any 

resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit and loss.

1.20.5 Equity Accounted Investees 

The Group's interests in equity accounted investees comprise interest in associates and joint ventures. 

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating 

policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which  the Group has joint control and has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, 

rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. 

Interests in associates and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method after initially being recognised at cost in the 

consolidated balance sheet. 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 

group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit and loss, and the group's share of other comprehensive 

income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are 

recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 

When the group's share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other 

unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on 

behalf of the other entity. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group's 

interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees are changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 

adopted by the group.
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1.20.6 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the 

Group's interest in investees. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there 

is no evidence of impairment.

1.21 Earnings per share 

Basic Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (or loss) attributable to the owners of the company by the weighted average 
of equity shares outstanding during the year. The weighted average of equity shares outstanding during the year is adjusted for bonus 
issue, bonus element in a right issue to existing shareholders, share split and reverse share split (consolidation of shares). 

Diluted Earnings Per Share 

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit (considered in determination of basic earning per share) after considering 
the effect of interest and other finanicing costs or income (net of attributable taxes) associated with dilutive potential equity shares 
by the weighted average number of equity shares considered for deriving basic earning per share adjusted for the weighted average 
number of equity shares that would have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

1.22 Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/non-current classification.

An asset is treated as current when it is:

• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period
• All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

• It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
• The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The 
Group has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.
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2.1 Critical Estimates And Judgement 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make estimates, judgments 

and assumptions. These estimates, judgments and assumptions affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the period. Application of accounting policies that require critical accounting estimates involving 

complex and subjective judgments and the use of assumptions in these consolidated financial statements have been disclosed below. 

Accounting estimates could change from period to period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Appropriate changes in 

estimates are made as management becomes aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates. Changes in estimates are 

reflected in the financial statements in the period in which changes are made and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes 

to the consolidated financial statements. 

Judgements 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised 

in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes: 

Note 43 - Whether the group has control, joint control or significant influence over an investee 

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the 

year ending 31 March 2024 is included in the following notes: 

• Note 7: impairment assessment of equity accounted investees 

• Note 18: measurement of defined benefit obligations - key actuarial assumptions; 

• Note 34: determination of fair value of financial assets; 

2.2 Recent accounting pronouncements 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies (Indian 

Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended March 31, 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards 

or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Group. 

2.2A Material accounting policy information 

The Group adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to Ind AS 1) from 1 April 2023. Although the amendments did 

not result in any changes in the accounting policies themselves, they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the 

consolidated financial statements.  

The amendments require the disclosure of 'material' rather than 'significant' accounting policies. The amendments also provide 

guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific 

accounting policy information that users need to understand other information in the consolidated financial statements. 
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4. Capital Work-in-Progress
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Capital Work-in-
Progress

Balance at 01 April 2022  8,433.89 

Additions during the year  45,271.44 

Capitalisation during the year  (55.20)

Balance at 31 March 2023  53,650.13 

Balance at 01 April 2023  53,650.13 

Additions during the year  5,388.74 

Capitalisation during the year  (53,555.10)

Balance at 31 March 2024  5,483.77 

(a) Ageing of Capital work in progress is as follows:  

As at 31 March 2024 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
Amount in Capital work-in progress for a period of

TotalLess  than  1 
year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  

3 years

Projects in progress - Polyfilms project  -    -    -    -    -   

Projects in progress - Cupcakes  860.39  -    -    -    860.39 

Projects temporarily suspended - IT SEZ 
Project (Refer Note 33)  -    -    21.86  4,601.52  4,623.38 

Total  860.39  -    21.86  4,601.52  5,483.77 

As at 31 March 2023 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
Amount in Capital work-in progress for a period of

TotalLess  than  1 
year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  

3 years

Projects in progress - Polyfilms project  45,251.15  3,775.60  -    -    49,026.75 

Projects temporarily suspended - IT SEZ 
Project (Refer Note 33)  -    21.86  12.47  4,589.05  4,623.38 

Total  45,251.15  3,797.46  12.47  4,589.05  53,650.13 

(c) Completion Schedule of Capital work in progress is as follows:  

As at 31 March 2024 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
To be completed in

TotalLess  than  1 
year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  

3 years

Projects temporarily suspended - IT SEZ 
Project (Refer Note 33)  -    -    -    4,623.38  4,623.38 

Total  -    -    -    4,623.38  4,623.38 
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As at 31 March 2023 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
To be completed in

TotalLess  than  1 
year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  

3 years
Projects temporarily suspended - IT SEZ 
Project (Refer Note 33)  -    -    -    4,623.38  4,623.38 

Total  -    -    -    4,623.38  4,623.38 

(b) Gross amount of Property Plant and Equipment includes government grant received under Export Promotion of Capital 
Goods license recognised as deferred income on government grant amounting to C7,380.69 lakhs (31 March 2023- C7,400.24)

(c) Borrowing cost capitalised during the year aggregates to C1,845.33 lakhs (31 March 2023- C1,941.45 lakhs). This 
includes net exhange loss on foreign currency borrowings to the extent they are regarded as an adjustment to the 
interest cost aggregating to C599.63 lakhs (31 March 2023- C800.30 lakhs).

5. Investment Property
 See accounting policies in note 1.5

(A) Reconciliation of carrying amount (H in lakhs)

Particulars Buildings

Cost or deemed cost (gross carrying amount)
Balance at 01 April 2022  1,280.33 
Additions  38.84 
Balance at 31 March 2023  1,319.17 
Balance at 01 April 2023  1,319.17 
Additions
Balance at 31 March 2024  1,319.17 
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 01 April 2022  158.19 
Depreciation for the year  22.99 
Balance at 31 March 2023  181.18 
Balance at 01 April 2023  181.18 
Depreciation for the year  23.48 
Balance at 31 March 2024  204.66 
Carrying amounts (net)
At 31 March 2023  1,137.99 
At 31 March 2024  1,114.51 

(B) Measurement of Fair Values 
 (i)  Fair value hierarchy
   The fair value measurement for all the investment property has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs  

to the valuation technique used.

 (ii) Valuation Technique
  The fair valuation is based on current prices in the active market for similar properties. The main inputs used are quantum, area, 

location, demand, restrictive entry to the complex, age of building and trend of fair market rent in the area.
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(C) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties      (H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Rental Income (Refer Note 24)  88.02  84.69 
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income (*)  -    -   
Profit from investment properties before depreciation  88.02  84.69 
Depreciation  23.48  22.99 
Net Income from investment properties  64.54  61.70 

* The direct operating expenses include property tax, electricity and maintenance expenses amounting to C18.39 lakhs (31 March 
2023- C21.38 lakhs) incurred during the year which has been reimbursed by the tenant.     

(D) Leasing arrangements

The Group has given certain investment properties on operating lease arrangements. These lease arrangements range for a period up 
to 2 years and are cancellable in nature. The leases are renewable for a further period on mutually agreeable terms.

(E) Fair Value  (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Investment properties  3,634.21  3,634.21 
Fair value of the investment property is based on the valuation by a registered valuer as defined under rule 2 of Companies 
(Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017. 

6. Intangible Assets
 See accounting policies in note 1.6

 Reconciliation of carrying amount   (H in lakhs)

Particulars Goodwill Computer 
Software

Cost or deemed cost (gross carrying amount)
Balance at 01 April 2022  764.13  4.08 
Additions  -    39.42 
Balance at 31 March 2023  764.13  43.50 
Balance at 01 April 2023  764.13  43.50 
Additions  -    1.25 
Balance at 31 March 2024  764.13  44.75 
Accumulated Amortisation and Impairment losses
Balance at 01 April 2022  694.32  2.59 
Amortisation for the year  -    2.97 
Balance at 31 March 2023  694.32  5.56 
Balance at 01 April 2023  694.32  5.56 
Amortisation for the year  -    8.80 
Balance at 31 March 2024  694.32  14.36 
Carrying amounts (net)
At 31 March 2023  69.81  37.94 
At 31 March 2024  69.81  30.39 
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7. Equity Accounted Investees
 See Accounting Policies in note 1.20.5 (H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Unquoted Equity Shares 

Investment in Associates:

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Private Ltd.

2,12,50,000 (31 March 2023: 2,12,50,000) fully paid up equity shares of face value of C10/- each  77,263.61  82,292.71 

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E (Formerly known as Egyptian Indian Polyester Co. S.A.E.)

44,95,000 (31 March 2023: 44,95,000) fully paid up equity shares of face value of US$ 10 each  1,10,378.61  1,03,468.01 

Total  1,87,642.22  1,85,760.72 

8  (A) Non Current Investments
 See Accounting Policies in note 1.11

 The Company designated the investments shown below as equity instruments at FVOCI because these equity securities 
 represent investments that the Company intends to hold for the long term for strategic purposes.

(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Unquoted Equity Shares at FVOCI

Borosil Scientific Limited
2,32,432 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  586.01  -   

Uniply Industries Ltd.*
10,57,563 (31 March 2023: 10,57,563) equity shares of C2/- each  41.99  41.99 

Total Unquoted Equity Shares  628.00  41.99 

Quoted Equity Share at FVOCI

Axis Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 1,21,125) equity shares of C2/- each  -    1,039.86 

Bharti Airtel Ltd
96,825 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  1,189.59  -   

Caplin Point Laboratories Ltd.
50,218 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C2/- each  660.54  -   

Cera Sanitaryware Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 11,077 ) equity shares of C5/- each  -    709.27 

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd.
6,66,045 (31 March 2023: 6,66,045) equity shares of C10/- each  1,239.84  1,209.87 

Divis Laboratories Ltd.
84,745 (31 March 2023: 48,025) equity shares of C2/- each  2,919.72  1,355.91 

Escorts Kubota Ltd.
1,60,308 (31 March 2023: 1,54,683) equity shares of C10/- each  4,452.23  2,925.13 
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8 (A)  Non Current Investments (Contd.)
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals Ltd
7,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  146.00  -   

Godawari Power & Ispat Ltd
83,102 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  629.33 

Gujarat Fluorochemicals Ltd.
31,506 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  975.85  -   

HDFC Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 2,36,614) equity shares of C1/- each  -    3,808.42 

Himadri Speciality Chemical Ltd.
3,75,000 (31 March 2023 : 3,10,000) equity shares of C1/- each  1,133.63  270.63 

Hitachi Energy India Ltd.
25,000 (31 March 2023 : 53,102) equity shares of C2/- each  1,742.93  1,775.41 

ICICI Bank Ltd.
1,57,461 (31 March 2023: 1,57,461) equity shares of C2/- each  1,721.52  1,381.33 

IFB Industries Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023 : 33,104) equity shares of C10/- each  -    244.14 

Indiabulls Housing Finance PP Ltd
8,10,825 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares partly paid C0.67/- each  684.74  -   

Inox Wind Ltd
4,21,600 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  2,199.07  -   

JSW Energy Limited
2,14,650 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  1,135.28  -   

Life Insurance Corporation of India
2,25,000 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  2,061.34  -   

Mrs. Bectors Food Specialities Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023 : 1,33,774) equity shares of C10/- each  -    714.29 

NATCO Pharma Ltd.
1,29,250 (31 March 2023: 1,03,000) equity shares of C2/- each  1,230.52  580.25 

Orient Cement Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 4,71,525) equity shares of C1/- each  -    518.44 

Piramal Pharma Ltd.
3,41,250 (31 March 2023: Nil ) equity shares of C10/- each  439.87  -   

Poonawalla Fincorp Ltd.
3,46,200 (31 March 2023: 3,53,923 ) equity shares of C2/- each  1,611.91  1,035.22 

Punjab Chemicals & Crop Protection Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 88,339) equity shares of C10/- each  -    731.27 
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8 (A)  Non Current Investments (Contd.)
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023 

Reliance Industries Ltd
1,01,516 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  3,016.75  -   

REC Ltd.
1,90,000 (31 March 2023: 1,16,250) equity shares of C10/- each  856.90  134.21 

Schneider Electric Infrastructure Ltd.
5,45,550 (31 March 2023: 4,33,050) equity shares of C2/- each  4,042.80  674.26 

State Bank of India
2,04,075 (31 March 2023: 1,73,440) equity shares of C1/- each  1,535.36  908.39 

Sumitomo Chemical India Ltd.
13,66,342 (31 March 2023: 13,17,892) equity shares of C10/- each  4,751.45  5,615.54 

Tata Motors - DVR Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 2,62,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    547.97 

Tata Motors Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 48,750) equity shares of C2/- each  -    205.14 

Titagarh Rail Systems Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 2,62,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    688.80 

Time Technoplast Ltd.
2,44,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  610.39  -   

Vardhman Special Steels Ltd.
1,68,925 (31 March 2023: 5,259) equity shares of C10/- each  358.29  20.89 

Varun Beverages Ltd.
5,26,376 (31 March 2023: 2,63,188) equity shares of C5/- each  7,361.89  3,650.42 

Whirlpool of India Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 10,000) equity shares of C10/- each  -    131.51 

Total (Equity Instruments - Quoted)  48,707.74  30,876.57 

Investment in Debentures (Unquoted)

Compulsorily Convertible Debentures at FVTPL
9,75,000 (31 March 2023: 9,75,000 ) debentures of C1,000/- each of IVL Dhunseri 
Petrochem Industries Pvt Ltd  12,879.75  12,870.00 

Total (Debentures)  12,879.75  12,870.00 

Total Non-current Investments  62,215.49  43,788.56 

Total Non-current Investments

Aggregate book value of quoted investments  48,707.74  30,876.57 

Aggregate market value of quoted investments  48,707.74  30,876.57 

Aggregate book value of unquoted investments  13,507.75  12,911.99 

Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments  -    -   

* not actively traded.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



Annual Report 2023-24   |   193

8 (B) Current Investments
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023 

Unquoted Equity Shares at FVTPL

Borosil Scientific Limited
77,481 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  195.34  -   

Uniply Industries Ltd.*
7,98,603 (31 March 2023: 7,98,603) equity shares of C2/- each  31.70  31.70 

Quoted Equity Shares at FVTPL

Axis Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 11,175) equity shares of C2/- each  -    95.94 

Bajaj Finance Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023 : 34,250) equity shares of C2/- each  -    1,923.74 

Bharti Airtel Ltd
32,275 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  396.53  -   

Caplin Point Laboratories Ltd.
16,740 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C2/- each  220.19  -   

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd.
9,436 (31 March 2023: 9,436) equity shares of C10/- each  17.57  17.14 

Divis Laboratories Ltd.
14,515 (31 March 2023: 2,275) equity shares of C2/- each  500.09  64.23 

Escorts Kubota Ltd.
32,686 (31 March 2023: 30,811) equity shares of C10/- each  907.79  582.65 

GlaxoSmithKline Pharmaceuticals Ltd
2,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  48.67  -   

Godawari Power & Ispat Ltd
27,700 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C5/- each  209.77  -   

Gujarat Fluorochemicals Ltd.
10,503 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  325.31  -   

HDFC Bank Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 30,056) equity shares of C1/- each  -    483.77 

Himadri Speciality Chemical Ltd.
30,000 (31 March 2023 : 20,000) equity shares of C1/- each  90.69  17.46 

Hitachi Energy India Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 17,706) equity shares of C2/- each  -    591.98 

ICICI Bank Ltd.
4,27,939 (31 March 2023: 4,48,939) equity shares of C2/- each  4,678.66  3,938.32 

Indiabulls Housing Finance PP Ltd
2,70,275 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares partly paid C0.67/- each  228.25  -   
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8 (B) Current Investments (Contd.)
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023 

Jio Financial Services Limited
2,15,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  762.33  -   

JSW Energy Limited
71,550 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  378.43  -   

Life Insurance Corporation of India
75,000 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  687.11  -   

Mrs Bectors Food Specialities Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 44,592) equity shares of C10/- each  -    238.10 

NATCO Pharma Ltd.
8,750 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C2/- each  83.30  -   

Orient Cement Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 5,28,475) equity shares of C1/- each  -   581.06 

Piramal Pharma Ltd.
1,13,750 (31 March 2023: Nil ) equity shares of C10/- each  146.62  -   

Poonawalla Fincorp Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 68,977) equity shares of C2/- each  -   201.76 

Punjab Chemicals & Crop Protection Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 6,098) equity shares of C10/- each  -    50.48 

Reliance Industries Ltd
4,504 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C10/- each  133.85  -   

REC Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 38,750) equity shares of C10/- each  -    44.74 

Schneider Electric Infrastructure Ltd.
1,81,850 (31 March 2023: 1,44,350) equity shares of C2/- each  1,347.60  224.75 

State Bank of India
68,025 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  511.79  -   

Sumitomo Chemical India Ltd.
78,203 (31 March 2023: 62,053) equity shares of C10/- each  271.95  264.41 

Tata Motors - DVR Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 87,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    182.66 

Tata Motors Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 16,250) equity shares of C2/- each  -    68.38 

Time Technoplast Ltd.
81,500 (31 March 2023: Nil) equity shares of C1/- each  203.46  -   

Titagarh Rail Systems Ltd.
Nil (31 March 2023: 87,500) equity shares of C2/- each  -    229.60 
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8 (B) Current Investments (Contd.)
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023 

Vardhman Special Steels Ltd.
56,308 (31 March 2023: 1,753) equity shares of C10/- each  119.43  6.96 

Varun Beverages Ltd.
3,04,168 (31 March 2023: 1,52,084) equity shares of C5/- each  4,254.09  2,109.41 

Whirlpool of India Limited
Nil (31 March 2023: 10,000) equity shares of C10/- each  -    131.51 

Total Equity Instruments - At FVTPL  16,750.52  12,080.75 

Investments in Mutual Funds at FVTPL

Ampersand Growth Opportunities Fund Scheme I
1,83,184 (31 March 2023: 1,83,184) units of Face Value C100/- each  616.16  376.16 

SBI Short Term Debt Fund-Direct Plan-Growth
Nil (31 March 2023: 7,61,655) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  -    217.11 

SBI Savings Fund-Direct Plan-Growth
1,23,13,980  (31 March 2023: 135,73,425) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  4,979.96  5,099.72 

SBI Liquid Fund Regular Plan-Growth
40,099 (31 March 2023: Nil) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  1,501.98  -   

SBI Savings Fund-Regular Plan-Growth
92,48,367 (31 March 2023: 1,10,98,901) units of Face Value C1,000/- each  3,506.73  3,930.09 

Total Investment in Mutual Fund  10,604.83  9,623.08 

Total Current Investment  27,355.35  21,703.83 

Total Current Investments

Aggregate book value of Quoted Investments  16,523.48  12,049.05 

Aggregate market value of Quoted Investments  16,523.48  12,049.05 

Aggregate book value of unquoted Investments  10,831.87  9,654.78 

Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments  -    -   

* not actively traded.
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8 (C) Equity shares designated at fair value through other comprehensive income

 Following are the details of dividend received from investment in equity shares designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income:

 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
 Fair Value at  Dividend income 

recognised during  Fair Value at  Dividend income 
recognised during 

31 March 2024 2023-24 31 March 2023 2022-23

Axis Bank Ltd.  -    -    1,039.86  1.16 

Cera Sanitaryware Ltd.  -    -    709.27  1.50 

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Ltd.  1,239.84  19.98  1,209.87  26.64 

Divis Laboratories Ltd.  2,919.72  14.86  1,355.91  13.73 

Escorts Kubota Ltd.  4,452.23  11.22  2,925.13  8.02 

HDFC Bank Ltd.  -    -    3,808.42  25.64 

Himadri Speciality Chemical Ltd.  1,133.63  0.78  270.63  0.81 

Hitachi Energy Ltd.  1,742.93  1.81  1,775.41  0.82 

ICICI Bank Ltd.  1,721.52  12.60  1,381.33  5.17 

Life Insurance Corporation of India  2,061.34  9.00  -    -   

Natco Pharma Ltd.  1,230.52  12.28  580.25  10.46 

Orient Cement Ltd.  -    -    518.44  4.44 

Poonawalla Fincorp Ltd.  1,611.91  17.31  1,035.22  1.10 

Punjab Chemical & Crop Protection Ltd.  -    -    731.27  2.52 

Reliance Industries Ltd  3,016.75  8.74  -    -   

Rural Electric Corporation Limited (REC)  856.90  41.91  -    -   

State Bank of India  1,535.36  19.60  908.39  15.74 

Sumitomo Chemical India Ltd.  4,751.45  84.13  5,615.54  12.08 

Vardhman Special Steels Limited  358.29  0.70  -   

Varun Beverages Ltd.  7,361.89  9.21  3,650.42  6.58 

 35,994.28  264.13  27,515.36  136.41 

Dividends recognised during the period relating to 
investments disposed during the year   63.64  177.86 

8 (D) As at 31 March 2024, the following investments are pledged as security against bank loans (Refer Note 17):  
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

Fair value Fair value

Non-current and current investments  7,638.87  6,918.85 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



Annual Report 2023-24   |   197

9. Other Financial Assets
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Note
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

 Current  Non current  Current  Non current 

Fixed Deposit having remaining maturity of more 
than 12 months (Refer Note (i) below)  -    651.20  -    -   

Interest accrued on debentures  41  745.88  -    745.88  -   

Other receivable  49.05  -    0.33  -   

Security Deposit  598.69  604.69  227.11  687.68 

Receivable from related party  41  2,329.02  -    789.94  -   

Receivable against sale of investment  372.26  -    374.87  -   

Total Other Financial Assets  4,094.90  1,255.89  2,138.13  687.68 
(i) Fixed deposits amounting to C651.20 lakhs (31 March 2023-CNil) are under lien with bank.     
(ii) The Group's exposure to credit and currency risk are disclosed in Note 39.

10. Other Assets
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

 Current  Non current  Current  Non current 

Deposits with Government Authorities and Others  2,077.14  -    1,411.90  -   

Capital advances  -    7,854.29  -    6,012.47 

Advance to suppliers/ service providers  25.56  -    23.51  -   

Prepaid Expenses  982.54  31.04  389.46  -   

Advances to employees  12.96  -    8.99  -   

Other Assets  16.78  -    29.09  -   

Total Other Assets  3,114.98  7,885.33  1,862.95  6,012.47 

11. Inventories

 See accounting policies in note 1.9  (H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

(At lower of cost and net realisable value)

(a) Raw material (including raw material in transit amounting to C37.81 lakhs, 31 March 2023: Nil)  1,137.89  60.48 

(b) Work in progress  425.34  -   

(c) Finished goods (including goods in transit amounting to C411.79 lakhs, 31 March 2023: Nil)  794.02  -   

(d) Stores and spares including packing material  234.46  -   

(e) Traded Goods (represents goods in transit amounting to C95.50 lakhs, 31 March 2023: Nil)  95.50  -   

Total Inventories  2,687.21  60.48 

Carrying amount of inventories (included in above) pledged as securities for borrowings, refer note 17  2,542.84  -   
The write-down of inventories to net realisable value during the year amounted to C20.60 lakhs (31 March 2023 : Nil). The write 
down of inventories are included in changes in inventory of finished goods  and work-in-progress. 
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12.  Trade Receivables
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Unsecured, considered good

Trade Receivables considered good - Secured  211.19  -   

Trade Receivables considered good - Unsecured  39.85  14.70 

Trade Receivables which have significant increase in Credit Risk  -    -   

Trade Receivables - credit impaired.  -    -   

Total Trade Receivables  251.04  14.70 

Carrying amount of Trade Receivables (included in above) pledged as securities for borrowings, refer note 17  211.19  -   

The Group's exposure to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 39.

Trade Receivables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Not Due

Outstanding from the due date of payment

TotalLess    
than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More  

than  3 
years

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivables-considered good  234.13  16.91  -    -    -    251.04 

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivables-which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables-credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivables-considered good  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(v) Disputed Trade Receivables-which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivables-credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 234.13  16.91  -    -    -    251.04 
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Trade Receivables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2023
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Not Due

Outstanding from the due date of payment

TotalLess    
than 1 
year

1-2 years 2-3 years
More  

than  3 
years

(i) Undisputed Trade Receivables-considered good  -    14.70  -    -    -    14.70 

(ii) Undisputed Trade Receivables-which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iii) Undisputed Trade Receivables-credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) Disputed Trade Receivables-considered good  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(v) Disputed Trade Receivables-which have significant 
increase in credit risk  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(vi) Disputed Trade Receivables-credit impaired  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -    14.70  -    -    -    14.70 

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents
 See accounting policies in note 1.12

(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Cash and cash equivalents

 Balances with Banks 

Current Accounts  1,714.50  2,041.63 

Fixed Deposits (with original maturity less than 3 months)  942.75  4,032.84 

 Cash in hand  33.01  21.09 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,690.26  6,095.56 

14. Other Bank Balances
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Other bank balances

Unpaid Dividend Accounts [Refer (i) below]  41.76  50.06 

Bank Account-Secured Against Borrowings (Refer Note (ii) below)  136.45  1,618.08 

Fixed Deposits with maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months (Refer Note (iii) below)  24,146.05  19,697.19 

Total Other Bank Balances  24,324.26  21,365.33 

(i) Earmarked for payment of dividend. 
 (ii) There are repatriation restrictions and the accounts are maintained as escrow account. 
 (iii) Fixed deposits amounting to C1,904.83 lakhs (31 March 2023-C752.88 lakhs) are under lien with bank.
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15A. Current Tax Assets
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Advance payment of taxes  1,046.11  2,135.22 

Total Current Tax Assets  1,046.11  2,135.22 

15B. Current Tax Liabilities
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Provision for Taxation  336.26  541.73 

Total Current Tax Liabilities  336.26  541.73 

16. Equity share capital and Other Equity
 A. Equity Share Capital
  (All amounts in H lakhs, unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023 

Authorised

35,12,20,000 (31 March 2023: 35,12,20,000) Equity Shares of C10/- each  35,122.00  35,122.00 

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up

3,50,24,754 (31 March 2023: 3,50,24,754) Equity Shares of C10/- each fully paid up  3,502.48  3,502.48 

Add : Shares Forfeited  0.81  0.81 

Total Equity Share Capital  3,503.29  3,503.29 

(a) Reconciliation of number of shares at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period
 

Particulars
As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

No. of Shares Amount  
(D in lakhs) No. of Shares Amount  

(D in lakhs)

Balance as at the beginning of the year  3,50,24,754  3,502.48  3,50,24,754  3,502.48 

Balance as at the end of the year  3,50,24,754  3,502.48  3,50,24,754  3,502.48 

(b) Terms/ Rights attached to Equity Shares 

 The Group has one class of equity share having a par value of C10/- each. Each shareholder is eligible for one vote per share held. 
The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meet-
ing except in the case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidation the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining 
assets of the Group after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to their shareholding.
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16. Equity share capital and Other Equity (Contd.)

(c) Shares of the Company held by Holding Company

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468  1,97,67,468 

(d) Particulars of shareholders holding more than 5% of Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up share.

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468  1,97,67,468 

% Holding 56.44% 56.44%

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited  30,78,759  30,78,759 

% Holding 8.79% 8.79%

Mint Investments Limited  20,79,414  20,79,414 

% Holding 5.94% 5.94%

(e) Change in shareholding of promoters

As at 31 March 2024

Shares held by promoters at the end of the year % change  
during the yearName of the promoter No. of shares % of total shares

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468 56.44 -

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited  30,78,759 8.79 -

Mint Investments Limited  20,79,414 5.94 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka Karta Of Shankarlal Chandra Kumar (Huf)  4,07,323 1.16 -

Trimplex Investments Limited  2,88,126 0.82 -

Mrigank Dhanuka  1,15,921 0.33 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka  94,047 0.27 -

Madhuting Tea Private Limited  91,000 0.26 -

Aruna Dhanuka  82,510 0.24 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Aman Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Ayaan Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Shree Shaligram Trust  47,000 0.13 -

Tarulika Khaitan  12,000 0.03 -

Pavitra  Khaitan  10,000 0.03 -

Mitali Khaitan (Minor) Represented By Mr. Haigreve Khaitan Father & 
Natural Guardian  10,000 0.03 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Partner, Sew Bhagwan & Sons  4,432 0.01 -

 2,62,68,000 75.00
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16. Equity share capital and Other Equity (Contd.)

(e) Change in shareholding of promoters (Contd.)

As at 31 March 2023

Shares held by promoters at the end of the year % change  
during the yearName of the promoter No. of shares % of total shares

Dhunseri Investments Limited  1,97,67,468 56.44 -

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited  30,78,759 8.79 -

Mint Investments Limited  20,79,414 5.94 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka Karta Of Shankarlal Chandra Kumar (Huf)  4,07,323 1.16 -

Trimplex Investments Limited  2,88,126 0.82 -

Mrigank Dhanuka  1,15,921 0.33 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka  94,047 0.27 -

Madhuting Tea Private Limited  91,000 0.26 -

Aruna Dhanuka  82,510 0.24 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Aman Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Ayaan Dhanuka Trust  90,000 0.26 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Trustee, Shree Shaligram Trust  47,000 0.13 -

Tarulika Khaitan  12,000 0.03 -

Pavitra  Khaitan  10,000 0.03 -

Mitali Khaitan (Minor) Represented By Mr. Haigreve Khaitan Father & 
Natural Guardian  10,000 0.03 -

Chandra Kumar Dhanuka, Partner, Sew Bhagwan & Sons  4,432 0.01 -

 2,62,68,000 75.00 0.00

B. Other Equity
(i) Reserves and Surplus

(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Capital Reserve [Refer (a) below]  14,730.25  14,730.25 

Capital Redemption Reserve [Refer (b) below]  12.48  12.48 

Securities Premium [Refer (c) below]  1,661.41  1,661.41 

General Reserve [Refer (d) below]  34,139.49  34,139.49 

Retained Earnings [Refer (e) below]  2,16,554.89  1,96,611.62 

Sub Total (i)  2,67,098.52  2,47,155.25 
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16. Equity share capital and Other Equity (Contd.)

(ii) Other Reserves  (H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Equity Instrument through Other Comprehensive Income [Refer (f) below]  17,540.19  5,619.19 

Foreign Currency Translations Reserve [Refer (g) below]  7,777.76  7,451.12 

Sub Total (ii)  25,317.95  13,070.31 

Total Other Equity [(i)+(ii)]  2,92,416.47  2,60,225.56 

(a) Capital Reserve  (H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  14,730.25  14,730.25 

This reserve represents the difference between the fair value of net assets acquired by the Group in the course of business acquisition 
and the consideration paid for such combination and excess of the entity's share of the net fair value of the investee's identifiable 
assets and liabilities over the cost of investment in case of acquisition of interest in associates.

(b) Capital Redemption Reserve   (H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  12.48  12.48 

Represents reserve created for buy back of Equity Shares and redemption of preference shares and can be utilised in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

(c) Securities Premium (H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  1,661.41  1,661.41 

This reserve represents the premium on issue of shares and can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013.

(d) General Reserve (H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning and end of the year  34,139.49  34,139.49 

This reserve is created by an appropriation from one component of equity (generally retained earnings) to another, not being an item 
of Other Comprehensive Income. The same can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.
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16. Equity share capital and Other Equity (Contd.)

(e) Retained Earnings
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning of the year  1,96,611.62  1,40,546.23 

Add: Profit for the year  15,308.02  54,246.91 

Add: Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations (net of tax)  (14.97)  (15.15)

Add: Transfer within equity- Gain (net of tax) on sale of equity shares designated as FVOCI-
transferred to retained earnings  6,488.50  3,234.62 

Less: Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control- 
Acquisition of non controlling interests  (87.04)

Less: Dividend paid  (1,751.24)  (1,400.99)

Balance as at the end of the year  2,16,554.89  1,96,611.62 

This reserve represents the cumulative profits of the Group and effects of remeasurement of defined benefit obligations. This reserve 
can be utilised in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

(f) Equity Instrument through Other Comprehensive Income  
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning of the year  5,619.19  10,207.00 

Add: Equity investments through Other Comprehensive income- Net gain on disposal and 
change in fair value (net of tax)  18,409.50  (1,353.19)

Less: Transfer within equity- Gain on sale of equity shares designated as FVOCI-transfer to 
retained earnings (net of tax)  (6,488.50)  (3,234.62)

Balance as at the end of the year  17,540.19  5,619.19 

This reserve represents the cumulative gains (net of losses) arising on the revaluation of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through Other Comprehensive Income, net of amounts reclassified, if any, to Retained Earnings when those instruments are disposed off.

(g) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Balance as at the beginning of the year  7,451.12  1,409.70 

Add: Movement during the year recorded in Other Comprehensive Income  326.64  6,041.42 

Balance as at the end of the year  7,777.76  7,451.12 

This reserve contains the accumulated balance of foreign exchange differences from translation of Group's foreign operations arising 
at the time of consolidation of such entities.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



Annual Report 2023-24   |   205

17. Borrowings
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars
Non Current Current

 As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

 As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Secured

Loan repayable on demand within a period of 1 year 
from the reporting period [Refer (i) below]  -    -    3,000.00  3,000.00 

Term Loan from banks [Refer note (ii) to (ix) below]  27,665.04  30,879.50  4,465.18  28.33 

Working Capital Demand Loan from banks (Refer 
Note (x) below)  -    -    503.43  -   

Total Borrowings  27,665.04  30,879.50  7,968.61  3,028.33 

(a) Details of security, repayment and interest on borrowings:

(i) The interest rate for the borrowings of C3,000 lakhs will be 9.40%. The same is repayable on demand and is secured against 
investments (Refer Note 8D)      

(ii) Borrowings include C22,409.72 lakhs (31 March 2023-C21,707.57 lakhs) taken from Oldenburgische Landesbank AG pertaining to the 
financing of the BOPET Project in Panagarh, West Bengal repayable in 17 equal half yearly instalments, the last instalment being 13 
September 2032. The loan carries an interest rate of 0.95% plus 6 months EURIBOR. The loan is secured against the assets financed 
by the loan.      

(iii) Borrowings include C9,610.67 lakhs (31 March 2023-C9,131.78 lakhs) taken from HDFC Bank Limited pertaining to the financing of 
the BOPET Project in Panagarh, West Bengal repayable in 24 equal quarterly instalments, the last instalment being 01 April 2030. 
The loan carries an interest rate of 2.75% plus 3 months EURIBOR. The loan is secured against the leasehold land and other assets of 
Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited.       

(iv) Borrowings include C11.17 lakhs (31 March 2023-C Nil) taken from HDFC Bank Limited for purchase of motor car. The loan is repayable 
in 51 further equated monthly instalments, the last instalment being 07 June 2028. The loan carries an interest rate of 8.75%. The 
loan is secured against purchase of motor vehicle. (Refer Note-3)      

(v) Borrowings include C19.61 lakhs (31 March 2023-C Nil) taken from HDFC Bank Limited for purchase of motor car. The loan is repayable 
in 50 further equated monthly instalments, the last instalment being 07 May 2028. The loan carries an interest rate of 8.60%. The 
loan is secured against purchase of motor vehicle. (Refer Note-3)      

(vi) Borrowings include C21.29 lakhs (31 March 2023-C Nil) taken from HDFC Bank Limited for purchase of motor car. The loan is repayable 
in 60 equated monthly instalments, the last instalment being 05 April 2029. The loan carries an interest rate of 9.10%. The loan is 
secured against purchase of motor vehicle. (Refer Note-3)      

(vii) Borrowings include C17.61 lakhs (31 March 2023-C Nil) taken from HDFC Bank Limited for purchase of motor car. The loan is repayable 
in 60 equated monthly instalments, the last instalment being 05 April 2029. The loan carries an interest rate of 9.10%. The loan is 
secured against purchase of motor vehicle. (Refer Note-3)      

(viii) Out of the above, the interest rate for the borrowings of C1.21 lakhs is 8.22%. The same is repayable in 2 further equated monthly 
instalments, the last instalment being on 7 May 2024. The loan is secured against the motor car purchased. (Refer Note 3) 

(ix) The interest rate for the borrowings of C38.94 lakhs is 6.69%. The same is repayable in 38 further equated monthly instalments, the 
last instalment being on 7 May 2027. The loan is secured against the motor car purchased. (Refer Note 3)   

(x) Working Capital Loan from bank of C503.43 lakhs (31 March 2023-C Nil) is secured by way of first pari passu charge on the entire 
current assets of the Company and second charge on all movable and immovable properties of Panagarh plant, excluding the assets 
exclusively charged by Oldenburgische Landesbank AG as referred to in Note (ii) above.    

(xi) The Group's exposure to liquidity risk is disclosed in Note 39.      
(xii) Borrowings amounting to C3,000 lakhs (31 March 2023-C3,000 lakhs) have been sanctioned based on pledge of Company’s current 

and non-current investments, for which no returns are required to be submitted to the banks or financial institutions. 
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17. Borrowings (Contd.)

 Details of quarterly returns or statement of current assets filed by the company with banks and financial institutions 
are not in agreement with the books of accounts 

 Summary of reconciliation of statement as submitted to Banks as compared to Books of Accounts for the year 
ended 31 March 2024 of Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited:

 (H in lakhs)

Quarter Name of 
Bank

Particulars of 
Securities provided

Amount as 
per Books of 

Accounts

 Amount as 
reported in the 

quarterly return/
statement

Amount of 
difference*

Sep-23

HDFC Bank

Inventories  1,056.48  1,477.44  (420.96)

Sep-23 Trade Payable  1,705.37  1,565.61  139.76 

Sep-23 Advance to Creditors  112.80  105.48  7.32 

Sep-23 GST Receivables  2,007.14  1,951.00  56.14 

Dec-23 Trade Payable  3,304.37  2,626.40  677.97 

Dec-23 GST Receivables  2,101.50  2,077.50  24.00 

Dec-23 Inventories  2,339.33  1,756.40  582.93 

*Difference is on account of period end adjustments

.18. Provisions
 See accounting policies in Note 1.15

(H in lakhs)

Particulars Note  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Provision relating to employee benefits

Net defined benefit liability-Gratuity plan 27  54.48  31.82 

Liability for compensated absences 27  149.95  82.65 

Other Provisions*  333.92  336.98 

Total employee benefit liabilities  538.35  451.45 

Non current  475.17  405.88 

Current  63.18  45.57 

Total  538.35  451.45 

(*) The provision is based on the present value of costs to be incurred to reinstate leasehold units to its original state. The estimate is 
based on quotations from external contractors. The unexpired terms range from 1 to 3 years.
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.18. Provisions (Contd.)

Movement of Provisions:
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Opening Balance  336.98  329.07 

Addition during the year  9.28  18.86 

Utilised during the year  (12.37)  (46.68)

Exchange difference on translations of foreign operations  0.03  35.73 

Closing Balance  333.92  336.98 

18.1 Assets and Liabilities relating to employee benefits

 The Group has a defined gratuity plan in India with LICI, governed by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The plan entitles an employee, 
who has rendered at least five years of continuous service, to gratuity at the rate of fifteen days salary/wages for every completed year 
of service or part thereof in excess of six months, based on the rate of salary/wages last drawn by the employee concerned. 

 The defined benefit plan for gratuity is administered by a single gratuity fund that is legally separate from the Group. The board of the 
gratuity fund is required by law to act in the best interests of the plan participants and is responsible for setting certain policies (e.g. 
investment and contribution policies) of the fund.      

 These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and market risk.

A. Funding 

The Plan is funded by the Group. The funding requirements are based on the gratuity fund’s actuarial measurement framework set 
out in the funding policies of the plan. The funding of the Plan is based on a separate actuarial valuation for funding purposes for 
which the assumptions may differ from the assumptions set out in (E). Employees do not contribute to the plan. 

The Group expects to pay C34.50 lakhs (31 March 2023-C23.42 lakhs) in contribution to its defined benefit plans in 2024-25.

B. Reconciliation of the net defined benefit (asset)/ liability
 The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the net defined benefit (asset) 

liability and its components.
 (H in lakhs)

Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Balance at the beginning of the year  211.63  179.87 

Current service cost  32.62  18.02 

Interest cost  15.60  12.79 

Benefits Paid  -    (2.49)

Actuarial loss/(gain) recognised in other comprehensive income -  change in financial 
assumption  6.93  (1.00)

Actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income - experience adjustments  1.98  4.44 

Balance at the end of the year  268.76  211.63 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



208   |   Dhunseri Ventures Limited

18. Provisions (Contd.)

 (H in lakhs)

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Balance at the beginning of the year  179.81  152.48 

Contribution paid to the plan  20.97  16.35 

Interest income  13.26  10.84 

Return on plan asset excluding interest income recognised in other comprehensive income  0.24  0.14 

Balance at the end of the year  214.28  179.81 

Net defined benefit liability at the end of the year  54.48  31.82 

 (H in lakhs)

C. i) Expense recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss 
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Current service cost  32.62  18.02 

Interest cost  15.60  12.79 

Interest Income  (13.26)  (10.84)

 34.96  19.97 

 (H in lakhs)

ii) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income 
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligation  8.91  3.44 

Return on plan asset excluding interest income  (0.24)  (0.14)

 8.67  3.30 

D. Plan assets

Plan assets comprise the following:
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Funds managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India 100.00% 100.00%

E. Defined benefit obligation
 i. Actuarial assumptions 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Discount rate 7.21% 7.37%

Future salary growth 7.00% 5.00%
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on "Indian Assured Lives Mortality (2012-14)".
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18. Provisions (Contd.)

ii. Sensitivity Analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, 
would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below:

(H in lakhs)

Particulars

Funded

 31 March 2024  31 March 2023

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Discount Rate (0.50% movement)  (3.20)  3.49  (2.10)  2.23 

Future salary growth (0.50% movement)  3.52  (3.25)  2.27  (2.16)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an 
approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown. 

iii. Maturity Profile of Defined Benefit Obligation
(H in lakhs)

Year
Funded

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

a) 0 to 1 Year  209.91  169.33 

b) 1 to 2 Year  5.59  15.76 

c) 2 to 3 Year  1.90  3.69 

d) 3 to 4 Year  1.91  0.98 

e) 4 to 5 Year  2.04  0.80 

f) 5 to 6 Year  6.31  0.84 

g) 6 Year onwards  41.12  20.25 

F. Contribution to Defined Contribution Plan comprising C21.08 lakhs (31 March 2023: C20.46 lakhs) on account of the Group's 
Contribution to Superannuation fund, C11.63 lakhs (31 March 2023-C Nil) on account of Company's Contribution to National 
Pension Scheme and C279.48 lakhs (31 March 2023: C239.64 lakhs) on account of the Group's Provident Fund has been recognised 
as an expense and included in Note-27-Employee Benefit Expenses under the head "Contribution to provident and other funds" in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss.

19. Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net)
 See accounting policies in Note 1.16

(H in lakhs)

Particulars Note  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Deferred Tax Liability 31  44,025.02  41,782.47 

Deferred Tax Asset 31  64.10  110.43 

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities  43,960.92  41,672.04 
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20. Trade Payables
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023 

Trade payable for goods & services

      Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  155.42  0.36 

      Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises  4,194.78  489.59 

 4,350.20  489.95 

Disclosures as required under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (" the MSMED Act") based on the 
information available with the Company are given below: 

Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 

(a) The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small suppliers as at the end of the accounting year

 •  Principal  155.42  1.08 

 •  Interest  -    -   

(b) The amount of the interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the MSMED Act 
along with the amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day 
during each accounting year

 -    -   

(c) The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment 
(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without 
adding the interest specified under MSMED Act

 -    -   

(d) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year  -    -   

(e) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 
years, until such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small 
enterprise for the purpose of disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 
23 of the MSMED Act

 -    -   

(i) The Group's exposure to liquidity risk are disclosed in Note 39.

Trade Payables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2024
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Unbilled 
Dues

Outstanding for following  periods from date of 
transaction

Total
Less than 1 

year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than  
3 years

(i) MSME  -    155.42  -    -    -    155.42 

(ii) Others  521.09  3,673.69  -    -    -    4,194.78 

(iii) Disputed dues – MSME  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) Disputed dues - Others  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 521.09  3,829.11  -    -    -    4,350.20 
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Trade Payables ageing schedule as at 31 March 2023
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Unbilled 
Dues

Outstanding for following  periods from date of 
transaction

Total
Less than 1 

year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 
3 years

(i) MSME  -    0.36  -    -    -    0.36 

(ii) Others  261.86  227.73  -    -    -    489.59 

(iii) Disputed dues – MSME  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) Disputed dues - Others  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 261.86  228.09  -    -    -    489.95 

21. Other Current Financial Liabilities
(H in lakhs)

Particulars  As at 
31 March 2024

 As at 
31 March 2023

Unpaid Dividends  41.76  50.06 

Employee related liabilities  765.46  778.70 

Interest accrued  11.05  17.81 

Creditors for capital goods  713.19  487.80 

Payable to related party  0.88  -   

Total Other Current Financial Liabilities  1,532.34  1,334.37 

22. Other Liabilities
(H in lakhs)

Particulars
 As at 

31 March 2024
 As at 

31 March 2023 
 As at 

31 March 2024
 As at 

31 March 2023 

Non Current Current

Deferred Income on Government Grant (*)  7,330.49  7,400.24  -    -   

Statutory Dues Payable  -    -    103.48  295.98 

Advance from Customers  -    -    623.45  -   

Other Payables  -    -    2.55  136.23 

Total Other Liabilities  7,330.49  7,400.24  729.48  432.21 

(*) Government Grant received against Export Promotion of Capital Goods licence and included in the cost of respective assets in note 
3. The Company is under an obligation to export goods, as specified in the license.
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23. Revenue from Operations
 See accounting policies in Note 1.3

(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Sale of Products (A)

Manufactured Goods  16,790.75  7,492.58 

Traded Goods  14,547.65  12,842.71 

Other Operating Revenues (B)

Net change in fair value of financial asset measured at FVTPL  5,174.78  2,121.93 

Gain on disposal of investments measured at FVTPL (net)  3,379.94  -   

Dividend income from investments designated at FVOCI and FVTPL  421.86  450.12 

Net exchange gain on foreign currency translation  -    204.97 

Export Incentive  5.87  78.78 

Sale of scrap  27.51  -   

Total Revenue from Operations (A+B)  40,348.36  23,191.09 

Refer to note 38 for "Disaggregation of Revenue" from Contracts with customers.
The amount of revenue from contracts with customers recognised in the Statement of profit and loss is the transaction price. 

24. Other Income
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Note Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Interest Income from financial assets  2,555.20  1,092.42 

Rental income 5  88.02  84.69 

Royalty income  4,898.78  6,378.18 

Government Grant received (*)  11.64  80.42 

Deferred Income on Government Grant  50.20  -   

Miscellaneous Income  26.89  28.12 

Total Other Income  7,630.73  7,663.83 

*Government grant primarily represents amounts received by the Group under the Singapore Jobs Support Scheme.   
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25. Cost of Material Consumed
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Note Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Raw Material

Opening Inventory  60.48  51.19 

Add: Purchase during the year  16,867.01  1,992.93 

Less: Transfer to Capital work-in-progress  4,858.21  -   

Less: Closing Inventory 11  1,137.89  60.48 

Total Cost of Materials Consumed  10,931.39  1,983.64 

26. Changes in inventory of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in trade
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Opening inventory

Finished goods  -    -   

Work-in progress  -    -   

Stock-in-trade  -    -   

 -    -   

Closing inventory

Finished goods  794.02  -   

Work-in progress  425.34  -   

Stock-in-trade  95.50  -   

 1,314.86  -   

(Increase)/Decrease in inventory of  finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in trade

Finished goods  (794.02)  -   

Work-in progress  (425.34)  -   

Stock-in-trade  (95.50)  -   

Transfer to Capital work-in progress  722.52  -   

 (592.34)  -   
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27.Employee Benefits Expense
 See accounting policies in Note 1.15

(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Salaries, wages and bonus  4,932.54  3,637.18 

Contribution to provident fund and other funds (Refer Note 18)  312.19  248.62 

Gratuity Expense (Refer Note 18)  34.96  19.97 

Staff welfare expenses  33.09  136.05 

Total Employee benefit expenses  5,312.78  4,041.82 

28. Finance Costs
 See accounting policies in Note 1.19

(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  1,290.42  505.28 

Net exchange loss on foreign currency borrowings  236.05  -   

Interest on lease liabilities  87.70  68.56 

Total Finance Costs  1,614.17  573.84 

29. Depreciation and Amortisation Expense
 See accounting policies in Note 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Note Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (including right of use assets) 3  2,838.25  2,177.07 

Depreciation on investment property 5  23.48  22.99 

Amortisation of intangible assets 6  8.80  2.97 

Total Depreciation and amortisation expenses  2,870.53  2,203.03 
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30. Other Expenses
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Power & Fuel  967.58  -   

Consumption of stores and spare parts including packing material  203.07  -   

Brokerage and Commission on sale  335.16  568.36 

Loss on sale of investments measured at FVTPL (net)  -    134.82 

Net exchange loss on foreign currency transalation  3.36  1,021.22 

Rent  530.17  263.99 

Repairs and maintenance  200.09  175.43 

Freight, delivery and shipping charges  474.40  225.63 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  0.04  45.64 

Corporate social responsibility expenditure  245.00  200.00 

Professional charges  527.03  530.37 

Travelling expenses  141.01  236.66 

Miscellaneous expenses  1,413.80  1,365.17 

Total Other Expenses  5,040.71  4,767.29 

31. Income tax 
See accounting policy in note 1.16

A. Amounts recognised in statement of profit and loss
(H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Current tax (a)

Current period (Includes income tax for earlier years amounting to C382.19 Lakhs (31 March 2023- Nil))  3,448.91  3,081.00 

Deferred tax (b)

Attributable to-

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  646.12  14,508.81 

Tax expense (a + b)  4,095.03  17,589.81 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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31. Income tax (Contd.)

B. Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Year Ended 31 March 2024

Before tax Tax (expense)/ 
benefit Net of tax

Remeasurement gain of the net defined benefit liability plans  (8.67)  2.65  (6.02)

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operation  432.47  (105.83)  326.64 

Share of Other Comprehensive Income of equity accounted investees  (11.97)  3.02  (8.95)

Gain on fair valuation/disposal of equity investments through OCI  20,989.95  (2,580.45)  18,409.50 

 21,401.78  (2,680.61)  18,721.17 

(H in lakhs)

Particulars
Year Ended 31 March 2023

Before tax Tax expense/
(benefit) Net of tax

Remeasurement loss of the net defined benefit liability plans  (3.30)  0.18  (3.12)

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operation  8,025.40  (1,983.98)  6,041.42 

Share of Other Comprehensive Income of equity accounted investees  (16.09)  4.06  (12.03)

Gain on fair valuation/disposal of equity investments through OCI  (1,545.64)  192.45  (1,353.19)

 6,460.37  (1,787.29)  4,673.08 

C. Reconciliation of effective tax rate
(H in lakhs)

Year ended 31 March 2024

Profit before tax  19,305.14 

Tax using the Group's domestic tax rate 25.17%  4,859.10 

Effect of:

Tax exempt income -0.67%  (129.08)

Income Tax of earlier years 1.98%  382.19 

Non-deductible expenses 0.32%  61.98 

Income which is taxed at special rates -5.51%  (1,063.67)

Allowances claimed -2.32%  (447.43)

Deferred Tax Assets not recognised 2.60%  502.20 

Others -0.36%  (70.26)

Effective tax rate 21.21%  4,095.03 
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31. Income tax (Contd.)

(H in lakhs)

Year ended 31 March 2023

Profit before tax  71,778.32 

Tax using the Group's domestic tax rate 25.17%  18,066.60 

Effect of:

Taxes for earlier years -0.21%  (152.60)

Tax exempt income 0.07%  50.90 

Non-deductible expenses -0.26%  (189.15)

Income which is taxed at special rates -0.50%  (359.02)

Deferred Tax Assets not recognised 0.26%  186.39 

Others -0.02%  (13.31)

Effective tax rate 24.51%  17,589.81 

D. The major components of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets arising on account of timing differences are as follows:
 (H in lakhs)

As at 31 March 2024
Balance  

as at  
01 April 2023

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

during 2023-24

Recognised  
in OCI during  

2023-24

Balance as  
at 31 March  

2024

Difference in carrying value and tax base of property, 
plant and equipment & investment property  (262.53)  6.43  -    (256.10)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments  (1,467.45)  (573.45)  (1,539.93)  (3,580.83)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments 
in associates  (40,022.65)  (25.09)  (102.82)  (40,150.56)

Difference in carrying value of Lease Liability  2.22  (1.36)  -    0.86 

Expenses allowable on payment basis  21.85  4.34  -    26.19 

Others  48.58  (56.99)  -    (8.41)

 (41,679.98)  (646.12)  (1,642.75)  (43,968.85)

Add: Movement on account of fluctuation in foreign exchange  7.94  7.93 

 (41,672.04)  (43,960.92)
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(H in lakhs)

As at 31 March 2023
Balance  

as at  
01 April 2022

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

during 2022-23

Recognised  
in OCI during  

2022-23

Balance as  
at 31 March  

2023

Difference in carrying value and tax base of property, 
plant and equipment & investment property  (271.08)  8.55  -    (262.53)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments  (2,001.09)  (55.06)  588.70  (1,467.45)

Difference in carrying value and tax base of investments 
in associates  (23,613.11)  (14,429.62)  (1,979.92)  (40,022.65)

Difference in carrying value of Lease Liability  2.07  0.15  -    2.22 

Expenses allowable on payment basis  23.17  (1.32)  -    21.85 

Others  80.09  (31.51)  -    48.58 

 (25,779.95)  (14,508.81)  (1,391.22)  (41,679.98)

Add: Movement on account of fluctuation in foreign exchange  0.75  7.94 

 (25,779.20)  (41,672.04)

E. Unrecognised Deferred tax assets

 The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets aggregating to C502.20 lakhs (31 March 2023-C186.39 lakhs) because it is not 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can use the benefits therefrom.

32. Earnings Per Equity Share
 (H in Lakhs unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

(i) Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Holding Company  15,308.02  54,246.91 

(ii) Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding during the year used as a 
denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share

 3,50,24,754  3,50,24,754 

(iii) Face value of each Equity Shares (C)  10.00  10.00 

(iv) Dilutive Potential Equity Shares  -    -   

(v) Basic and Diluted earnings per share (C)  43.71  154.88 

33. The Group is developing IT complex in the IT SEZ area on the lease hold land having area 3.03 acres. Currently, the progress of 
project work is suspended due to depressed market condition in IT sector. As at 31 March 2024, the Group has incurred C4,623.38 
lakhs (31 March 2023-C4,623.38 lakhs) towards construction cost of IT complex, which is shown as capital work-in progress. 
The Ministry of Commerce & Industries, Government of India vide Notification dated 17th December 2019 has made all the SEZs 
as “Multi-Sector Special Economic Zones”. The Group is now evaluating various options for utilising the constructed space.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



Annual Report 2023-24   |   219

N
ot

es
 to

 C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

4 
(C

on
td

.)

34
. F

in
an

ci
al

 In
st

ru
m

en
ts

 - 
Fa

ir 
va

lu
es

A.
  

Th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
ta

bl
e 

sh
ow

s t
he

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

s a
nd

 fa
ir 

va
lu

es
 o

f fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s a

nd
 fi

na
nc

ia
l l

ia
bi

liti
es

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 th

ei
r l

ev
el

s i
n 

th
e 

fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
hi

er
ar

ch
y

 
(H

 in
 la

kh
s)

As
 a

t 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
4

N
ot

e

Ca
rr

yi
ng

 a
m

ou
nt

Fa
ir 

va
lu

e

To
ta

l
At

 F
VT

PL

O
th

er
 

fin
an

ci
al

 
as

se
ts

 - 
am

or
tis

ed
 

co
st

FV
O

CI
 - 

eq
ui

ty
 

in
st

ru
-

m
en

ts

O
th

er
 

fin
an

ci
al

 
lia

bi
liti

es

To
ta

l  
ca

rr
yi

ng
 

am
ou

nt
Le

ve
l 1

Le
ve

l 2
Le

ve
l 3

Fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
De

be
nt

ur
es

8A
 1

2,
87

9.
75

 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 1
2,

87
9.

75
 

 -   
 -   

 1
2,

87
9.

75
 

 1
2,

87
9.

75
 

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
Q

uo
te

d 
Eq

ui
ty

 In
st

ru
m

en
ts

8A
 &

 
8B

 1
6,

75
0.

52
 

 -   
 4

9,
33

5.
74

 
 -   

 6
6,

08
6.

26
 

 6
5,

23
1.

22
 

 -   
 8

55
.0

4 
 6

6,
08

6.
26

 

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
M

ut
ua

l F
un

ds
8B

 1
0,

60
4.

83
 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 1

0,
60

4.
83

 
 -   

 1
0,

60
4.

83
 

 -   
 1

0,
60

4.
83

 

 4
0,

23
5.

10
 

 -   
 4

9,
33

5.
74

 
 -   

 8
9,

57
0.

84
 

 -   

Fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s n

ot
 m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
12

 -   
 2

51
.0

4 
 -   

 -   
 2

51
.0

4 

Ca
sh

 a
nd

 C
as

h 
Eq

ui
va

le
nt

s (
a)

13
 -   

 2
,6

90
.2

6 
 -   

 -   
 2

,6
90

.2
6 

Ba
nk

 b
al

an
ce

s o
th

er
 th

an
 (a

) a
bo

ve
14

 -   
 2

4,
32

4.
26

 
 -   

 -   
 2

4,
32

4.
26

 

O
th

er
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

s
9

 -   
 5

,3
50

.7
9 

 -   
 -   

 5
,3

50
.7

9 

 -   
 3

2,
61

6.
35

 
 -   

 -   
 3

2,
61

6.
35

 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l l
ia

bi
liti

es
 n

ot
 m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e

N
on

 c
ur

re
nt

 b
or

ro
w

in
gs

17
 -   

 -   
 -   

 2
7,

66
5.

04
 

 2
7,

66
5.

04
 

 -   
 2

7,
66

5.
04

 
 -   

 2
7,

66
5.

04
 

Cu
rr

en
t B

or
ro

w
in

gs
17

 -   
 -   

 -   
 7

,9
68

.6
1 

 7
,9

68
.6

1 

Tr
ad

e 
pa

ya
bl

es
20

 -   
 -   

 -   
 4

,3
50

.2
0 

 4
,3

50
.2

0 

Le
as

e 
Li

ab
ili

tie
s

 -   
 -   

 -   
 2

,0
57

.7
3 

 2
,0

57
.7

3 

O
th

er
 fi

na
nc

ia
l l

ia
bi

liti
es

21
 -   

 -   
 -   

 1
,5

32
.3

4 
 1

,5
32

.3
4 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 4

3,
57

3.
92

 
 4

3,
57

3.
92

 

Th
e 

ca
rr

yi
ng

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f t

he
 G

ro
up

’s 
sh

or
t t

er
m

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

sh
or

t t
er

m
 fi

na
nc

ia
l l

ia
bi

liti
es

 a
re

 re
as

on
ab

le
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

ati
on

 o
f t

he
ir 

fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
an

d 
he

nc
e,

 th
ei

r f
ai

r 
va

lu
es

 h
av

e 
no

t b
ee

n 
di

sc
lo

se
d.



220   |   Dhunseri Ventures Limited

N
ot

es
 to

 C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

4 
(C

on
td

.)

34
. F

in
an

ci
al

 In
st

ru
m

en
ts

 - 
Fa

ir 
va

lu
es

 (C
on

td
.)

 
(H

 in
 la

kh
s)

As
 a

t 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
3

N
ot

e

Ca
rr

yi
ng

 a
m

ou
nt

Fa
ir 

va
lu

e

To
ta

l
At

 F
VT

PL

O
th

er
 

fin
an

ci
al

 
as

se
ts

 - 
am

or
tis

ed
 

co
st

FV
O

CI
 - 

eq
ui

ty
 

in
st

ru
-

m
en

ts

O
th

er
 

fin
an

ci
al

 
lia

bi
liti

es

To
ta

l  
ca

rr
yi

ng
 

am
ou

nt
Le

ve
l 1

Le
ve

l 2
Le

ve
l 3

Fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
De

be
nt

ur
es

8A
 1

2,
87

0.
00

 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 1
2,

87
0.

00
 

 -   
 -   

 1
2,

87
0.

00
 

 1
2,

87
0.

00
 

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
Q

uo
te

d 
Eq

ui
ty

 In
st

ru
m

en
ts

8A
 &

 
8B

 1
2,

08
0.

75
 

 -   
 3

0,
91

8.
56

 
 -   

 4
2,

99
9.

31
 

 
42

,9
25

.6
2 

 -   
 7

3.
69

 
 4

2,
99

9.
31

 

In
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
M

ut
ua

l F
un

ds
8B

 9
,6

23
.0

8 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 9
,6

23
.0

8 
 -   

 9
,6

23
.0

8 
 -   

 9
,6

23
.0

8 

34
,5

73
.8

3 
 -   

30
,9

18
.5

6 
 -   

65
,4

92
.3

9 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s n

ot
 m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s
12

 -   
 1

4.
70

 
 -   

 -   
 1

4.
70

 

Ca
sh

 a
nd

 C
as

h 
Eq

ui
va

le
nt

s (
a)

13
 -   

 6
,0

95
.5

6 
 -   

 -   
 6

,0
95

.5
6 

Ba
nk

 b
al

an
ce

s o
th

er
 th

an
 (a

) a
bo

ve
14

 -   
 2

1,
36

5.
33

 
 -   

 -   
 2

1,
36

5.
33

 

O
th

er
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

s
9

 -   
 2

,8
25

.8
1 

 -   
 -   

 2
,8

25
.8

1 

 -   
 3

0,
30

1.
40

 
 -   

 -   
 3

0,
30

1.
40

 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l l
ia

bi
liti

es
 n

ot
 m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e

N
on

 c
ur

re
nt

 b
or

ro
w

in
gs

17
 -   

 -   
 -   

 3
0,

87
9.

50
 

 3
0,

87
9.

50
 

 -   
 3

0,
87

9.
50

 
 -   

 3
0,

87
9.

50
 

Cu
rr

en
t B

or
ro

w
in

gs
17

 -   
 -   

 -   
 3

,0
28

.3
3 

 3
,0

28
.3

3 

Tr
ad

e 
pa

ya
bl

es
20

 -   
 -   

 -   
 4

89
.9

5 
 4

89
.9

5 

Le
as

e 
Li

ab
ilti

es
 -   

 -   
 -   

 2
,5

50
.4

4 
 2

,5
50

.4
4 

O
th

er
 fi

na
nc

ia
l l

ia
bi

liti
es

21
 -   

 -   
 -   

 1
,3

34
.3

7 
 1

,3
34

.3
7 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 3

8,
28

2.
59

 
 3

8,
28

2.
59

 

Th
e 

ca
rr

yi
ng

 a
m

ou
nt

 o
f t

he
 G

ro
up

’s 
sh

or
t t

er
m

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s 

an
d 

sh
or

t t
er

m
 fi

na
nc

ia
l l

ia
bi

liti
es

 a
re

 re
as

on
ab

le
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

ati
on

 o
f t

he
ir 

fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
an

d 
he

nc
e,

 th
ei

r f
ai

r 
va

lu
es

 h
av

e 
no

t b
ee

n 
di

sc
lo

se
d.

 



Annual Report 2023-24   |   221

34. Financial Instruments - Fair values (Contd.)

B. Measurement of Fair Values

 Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes listed equity instruments that 
have quoted/ published price. The fair value of all equity instruments which are traded in the stock exchanges is valued using the 
closing price as at the reporting period.

 Level 2: Level 2 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using unquoted prices. The mutual funds are valued using the 
closing NAV.

 Level 3: Level 3 hierarchy includes financial instruments that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 items for the period ended 31 March 2024:
  (H in lakhs)

Particulars
Debentures

As at  
31 March 2024

As at  
31 March 2023

Value as at commencement of the year  12,943.69  12,368.44 

Acquisition during the year  781.35  -   

Gain recognised in statement of profit and loss during the year  9.75  575.25 

Value as at end of the year  13,734.79  12,943.69 

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring Level 3 fair values for financial instruments measured at fair 
value in the Balance Sheet as well as significant unobservable inputs used.

Financial Instruments measured at fair value
(H in lakhs)

Type Valuation Technique Significant 
unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship between 
significant unobservable inputs 

and fair value measurement

Debt Securities

Discounted Cash Flows:
The valuation model considers 
present value of the expected 
payment, discounted using a 
risk-adjusted discount rate. 
The expected payment is 
determined by considering the 
possible scenarios of forecast 
revenue and EBITDA, the 
amount to be paid under each 
scenario and the probability of 
each scenario.  

• Forecast annual revenue 
growth rate (31 March 
2024: 1.50%, 31 March 
2023: 3.00%)

• Weighted Average Cost of 
Capital (31 March 2024: 
17.79%, 31 March 2023: 
16.63%)

The estimated fair value 
would increase(decrease) if :

• the annual revenue growth 
were higher(lower);

• the weighted average 
cost of capital were lower 
(higher)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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35. Contingent liability as at 31 March 2024 is CNil (Previous year CNil).

36. Commitments
(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at 
31 March 2024

As at 
31 March 2023

(a) Group's share of Commitments pertaining to associates  275.43  530.54 

(b) Capital Commitments  44,104.09  45,088.38 

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Holding Company has committed to provide financial support to Dhunseri Infrastruc-
ture Ltd, a subsidiary, with regard to operations of such subsidiary.

37. Leases

 A) Lease as Lessee

 The Group has taken on lease, premises at various location under operating leases. The lease arrangements are cancellable by 
either of the parties after giving a notice of 3 months. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for these leases.

 Expenses pertaining to the above short-term leases recognised in the statement of profit and loss is as follows:
 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

Expenses relating to short-term leases   395.78  198.73 

Lease payments for short-term leases not included in the measurement of the lease liability are classified as cash flows from operating activities.

Right-of-use asset and lease liabilities recognised in the financial statements represents the Group's lease of land, outlets, guesthouse and office 
premises. The lease is for a period ranging from 1-5 years except for the lease of land which is for a term of 99 years. Variable lease payments not 
included in measurement of lease liability aggregates to C134.39 lakhs (31 March 2023 - C65.26 lakhs)    
    
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be made after the 
reporting date:

(H in lakhs)

Particulars As at 
31 March 2024

As at 
31 March 2023

Not later than 1 year  1,237.47  1,404.34 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  853.78  1,142.89 

Later than 5 years  29.83  30.03 

 2,121.08  2,577.26 

Total cash outflow for leases  2,254.16  1,785.84 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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37. Leases (Contd.)

B. Leases as lessor

 The Group leases out its investment property. The Group has classified these leases as operating leases, because they do not 
transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the assets.    

 The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received 
after the reporting date.

(H in lakhs)

Period As at 
31 March 2024

As at 
31 March 2023

Less than one year  66.48  87.82 
 66.48  87.82 

38. Segment Information

A. "Trading", "Treasury Operations", "Flexible Packaging Films" and "Food and Beverages" have been identified as 4 major operating 
segments of the group. The details with respect to each of the reported business segments are as follows:

 a) Trading- Trading in commodities

 b) Treasury Operations - The treasury operations relates to holding treasury assets for capital appreciation and other related gains.

 c) Flexible Packaging Films - The flexible packaging films operations relates to manufacturing of BOPET films.

 d) Food and Beverages - The food and beverages operations relates to bakery business of the Group.

The segment information for the reportable segments is as below:

31 March 2024 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Trading Treasury Food and 
Beverages

Flexible 
Packaging Films  Unallocable  Total 

(i) Segment Revenue :

(a) Revenue from operations  14,547.65  8,976.58  7,311.04  9,513.09  -    40,348.36 

(b) Other Income  -    50.29  1,750.38  5,830.06  7,630.73 

(ii) Segment Result :

Profit before interest, tax and 
depreciation  229.06  8,976.58  736.97  (226.78)  14,074.01  23,789.84 

Depreciation  -    1,857.36  829.48  183.69  2,870.53 

Finance Costs  -    65.48  891.29  657.40  1,614.17 

Profit before tax  229.06  8,976.58  (1,185.87)  (1,947.55)  13,232.92  19,305.14 

Tax Expense  -    -    -    -    4,095.03  4,095.03 

Profit after tax  -    -    -    -    -    15,210.11 

Segment Assets :  -    77,063.35  7,290.56  96,459.45  2,11,998.18  3,92,811.54 

Segment Liabilities :  -    -    2,867.12  41,484.40  52,117.90  96,469.42 
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38. Segment Information (Contd.)

31 March 2023 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Trading Treasury Food and 
Beverages

Flexible 
Packaging Films  Unallocable  Total 

(i) Segment Revenue :

(a) Revenue from operations  12,921.49  2,777.02  7,492.58  -    -    23,191.09 

(b) Other Income  -    102.74  256.63  7,304.46  7,663.83 

(ii) Segment Result :

Profit before interest, tax and 
depreciation  154.23  2,642.20  1,246.59  (1,356.78)  71,868.95  74,555.19 

Depreciation  -    1,902.90  74.86  225.27  2,203.03 

Finance Costs  -    61.85  2.52  509.47  573.84 

Profit before tax  154.23  2,642.20  (718.16)  (1,434.16)  71,134.21  71,778.32 

Tax Expense  -    -    -    17,589.81  17,589.81 

Profit after tax  -    -    -    -    54,188.51 

Segment Assets :  -    52,997.26  5,691.83  84,953.94  2,09,299.31  3,52,942.34 

Segment Liabilities :  -    -    3,535.25  39,075.86  46,169.15  88,780.26 

B.  Geographical information
 The Group primarily operates in India. Details of geographical information is as follows:

31 March 2024 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Trading Treasury Food and 
Beverages

Flexible 
Packaging Films  Unallocable  Total 

Revenue from sale of products 

 - India  14,547.65  -    -    9,250.81  -    23,798.46 

 - Singapore  -    -    7,311.04  -    -    7,311.04 

 - Other Foreign countries  -    -    -    228.90  -    228.90 

 14,547.65  -    7,311.04  9,479.71  -    31,338.40 

Non-current assets other than 
financial assets

 - India  -    -    -    66,235.66  6,708.72  72,944.38 

 - USA  -    -    896.74  -    -    896.74 

 - Singapore  -    -    2,292.71  -    -    2,292.71 

 -    -    3,189.45  66,235.66  6,708.72  76,133.83 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)



Annual Report 2023-24   |   225

38. Segment Information (Contd.) 

31 March 2023 (H in lakhs)

Particulars Trading Treasury Food and 
Beverages

Flexible 
Packaging Films  Unallocable  Total 

Revenue from sale of products 

 - India  12,921.49  -    -    -    -    12,921.49 

 - Singapore  -    -    7,492.58  -    -    7,492.58 

 12,921.49  -    7,492.58  -    -    20,414.07 

Non-current assets other than 
financial assets

 - India  -    -    -    57,491.41  6,414.12  63,905.53 

 - USA  -    -    303.49  -    -    303.49 

 - Singapore  -    -    3,120.16  -    -    3,120.16 

 -    -    3,423.65  57,491.41  6,414.12  67,329.18 

39. Financial Risk Management

 The Company's activities expose it to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
 • Credit Risk (See 39 (ii));
 • Liquidity Risk (See 39 (iii));
 • Market Risk (See 39 (iv));

 i. Risk Management Framework

 The Group is exposed to normal business risks from changes in market interest rates and currency exchange rates and from non-
performance of contractual obligations by counterparties. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for 
speculative or trading purposes.      

 Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable 
balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management continually monitors the Group’s 
risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.

 ii. Credit risk

 Credit Risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or a customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities including deposits with banks and 
financial institutions and other financial assets.      

 Credit Risks for balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group's treasury department in accordance with 
the Group Policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each 
counterparty. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risk and therefore mitigate financial loss through counterparties 
potential failure to make payments. Such limits are reviewed from time to time.
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39. Financial Risk Management (Contd.)

 Trade Receivable      

 The Company has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before 
the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Sale limits are established for each customer and 
reviewed.      

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Notes 
8(A), 8(B), 9, 10, 12, 13 and 14.

 iii. Liquidity Risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.   

 Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. 
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining 
availability under committed credit lines. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity position and cash and 
cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows.    

 As of 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of C27,014.53 lakhs. As of 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and 
bank balances of C27,460.89 lakhs.       

 The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and 
undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements:

(H in Lakhs)

As at 31 March 2024 Contractual Cash Flows

Particulars Carrying 
amount Total 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than  

5 years

Borrowings  35,633.65  44,111.42  9,865.30  5,854.30  16,068.82  12,323.00 

Trade Payables  4,350.20  4,350.20  4,350.20  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  1,532.34  1,532.34  1,532.34  -    -    -   

Total  41,516.19  49,993.96  15,747.84  5,854.30  16,068.82  12,323.00 

(H in Lakhs)

As at 31 March 2023 Contractual Cash Flows

Particulars Carrying 
amount Total 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than  

5 years

Borrowings  33,907.83  41,472.72  4,138.86  3,998.37  15,252.51  18,082.98 

Trade Payables  489.95  489.95  489.95  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  1,334.37  1,334.37  1,334.37  -    -    -   

Total  35,732.15  43,297.04  5,963.18  3,998.37  15,252.51  18,082.98 
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39. Financial Risk Management (Contd.)

 iv. Market Risk
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as prices of securities, foreign exchange rates and interest rates– will affect 

the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. The Group uses derivatives to manage 
market risks.

 a) Price Risk

 Exposure

 The Group's exposure to equity securities and mutual funds price risk arises from investments held by the Group and classified in 
the Balance Sheet either at fair value through OCI or at fair value through profit or loss.

 To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities and mutual funds, the Group diversifies its portfolio. 
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.    

 The majority of the Group's equity investments and mutual funds are publicly traded.

 Sensitivity

 The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the index on the Group's equity and profit for the period. The 
analysis is based on the assumption that the equity index had increased by 5% or decreased by 5% with all other variables held 
constant, and that the Group's equity instruments moved in line with the index.

(H in Lakhs)

Particulars
Impact on Profit before Tax Impact on Other  

Components of Equity

31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Equity Shares-Quoted

Increase in market price by 5%  827.80  602.45  2,437.60  1,543.83 

Decrease in market price by 5%  (827.80)  (602.45)  (2,437.60)  (1,543.83)

Mutual Funds

Increase in NAV by 5%  530.24  481.15  -    -   

Decrease in NAV by 5%  (530.24)  (481.15)  -    -   

Profit for the period would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on mutual funds and equity securities classified as at fair value 
through profit or loss. Other Components of equity would increase/decrease as a result of gains/losses on equity securities classified 
as fair value through other comprehensive income.

b) Currency Risk:

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which sales, purchases and 
borrowings are denominated and the functional currency of the Group . The currencies in which these transactions are primarily 
denominated are USD, EUR and SGD.      
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39. Financial Risk Management (Contd.)

The Group uses forward exchange contracts in certain cases to hedge its currency risk, most with a maturity of less than one year from 
the reporting date. 

The summary quantitative data about the Group's exposure to currency risk on the reporting date:
 (Foreign Currency in lakhs)

Particulars
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

EUR SGD USD EUR SGD USD

Borrowings  (361.24)  -    -    (361.24)  -    -   

Other Payables  -    -    -    -    -    (0.03)

Accrued Royalty  -    -    5.44  -    -    -   

Trade Receivable  -    -    2.53  -    -    -   

Security Deposit  -    0.39  -    -    0.39  -   

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening/ (weakening) of the foreign currencies against C at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 would 
have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by 
the amounts shown below:

(H in Lakhs)

Particulars
Profit/(Loss) Equity, net of tax

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

31 March 2024

EUR (5% movement)  (1,629.32)  1,629.32  (1,349.73)  1,349.73 

USD (5% movement)  33.21  (33.21)  25.70  (25.70)

SGD (5% movement)  1.21  (1.21)  0.90  (0.90)

(H in Lakhs)

Particulars
Profit/(Loss) Equity, net of tax

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

31 March 2023

EUR (5% movement)  (1,613.80)  1,613.80  (1,336.88)  1,336.88 

USD (5% movement)  (0.10)  0.10  (0.08)  0.08 

SGD (5% movement)  1.21  (1.21)  0.90  (0.90)

c) Interest rate risk

The Group carries both fixed and variable rate instruments.
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39. Financial Risk Management (Contd.)

Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Company's interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to management is as follows.

(H in Lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets  25,740.00  23,730.03 

Financial liabilities  (3,109.81)  (12,200.26)

 22,630.19  11,529.77 

Variable-rate instruments

Financial assets  -    -   

Financial liabilities  (32,523.83)  (21,707.57)

 (32,523.83)  (21,707.57)

Cash flow Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A reasonable possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis presumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange 
rates, remain constant.

(H in Lakhs)

Particulars
Profit/(Loss) Equity, net of tax

100 bp  
increase

100 bp  
decrease

100 bp  
increase

100 bp  
decrease

 31 March 2024

Variable-rate instrument  (325.24)  325.24  (269.43)  269.43 

 31 March 2023

Variable-rate instrument  (217.08)  217.08  (162.44)  162.44 

40. Capital Risk Management

 (a) Risk Management

 The Group aims to manage its capital efficiently so as to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern and to optimise returns 
to our shareholders.      

 The capital structure of the Group is based on management's judgement of the appropriate balance of key elements in order to 
meet its strategic and day to day needs. The management consider the amount of capital in proportion to risk and manage the 
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. 

 The Group's policy is to maintain a stable and strong capital structure with a focus on total equity so as to maintain investor, 
creditors and market confidence and to sustain future development and growth of its business. The Group will take appropriate 
steps in order to maintain, or if necessary adjust, its capital structure.      
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40. Capital Risk Management (Contd.)

 (b) Dividends
(H in Lakhs)

Particulars Year Ended   
31 March 2024

Year Ended   
31 March 2023

(i) Dividend on Equity Shares paid during the year

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 of C5.00 (31 March 2022 – C4.00) per fully 
paid share of C10 each  1,751.24  1,400.99 

(ii) Dividends not recognised at the end of the reporting period

The Board of Directors at its meeting held on 24th May 2024 have recommended the payment 
of a final dividend of C5.00 (31 March 2023 - C5.00) per fully paid equity share of face value 
of C10 each for the financial year ended 31 March 2024. The above is subject to approval of 
shareholders in the ensuing annual general meeting and hence is not recognised as a liability.

 1,751.24  1,751.24 

41. Related Party Transactions

Particulars Country of 
Incorporation

Ownership Interest
31 March 2024  31 March 2023

(1) Relationship:

(a) Parent entity:

Dhunseri Investments Limited India 56.44% 56.44%

(b) Associate

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E Egypt 50% 50%

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Private Limited India 50% 50%

 (c) Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

Name Designation

Mr. C. K. Dhanuka Executive Chairman

Mr. M. Dhanuka Vice Chairman

Mrs. A. Dhanuka Managing Director

Mr. R. K. Sharma Executive Director (Finance)

Mr. V. Jain Chief Financial Officer

Mrs. S. Gulati Company Secretary & Compliance Officer

Mr. Bharat Jhaver Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director

Mr. J.P.Kundra Non-Executive Director

Dr. B.Sen Non-Executive Director

Mrs. Anuradha Kanoria Non-Executive Director

Mr. R.V.Kejriwal Non-Executive Director

Mr. Sameer Sah Non-Executive Director
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41. Related Party Transactions (Contd.)

(d) Enterprises over which KMP(s) or relatives of KMP(s) are able to exercise significant influence and with whom   
 transactions have taken place

 Trimplex Investments Limited
 Naga Dhunseri Group Limited
 Mint Investments Limited
 Khaitan & Co. LLP
 Khaitan & Co.
 Dhunseri Tea & Industries Limited

(e) Firm in which relative of director is a partner

TPT Ventures LLP

(2) Details of related party transactions/balances:
(H in Lakhs)

Nature of Transactions/Balances 31 March 2024  31 March 2023

(a) Parent Company

Dhunseri Investments Limited

Dividend Paid  988.37  790.70 

Purchase of Property, plant and equipment  359.72  114.50 

(b) Associate

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries Private Limited 

Rental Income  88.02  84.69 

Dividend Received  4,250.00  8,500.00 

Royalty Income  2,402.07  3,426.49 

Sale of RoDTEP Licence  -    40.85 

Purchase of goods  13,631.45  2,986.88 

Purchase of Property, plant and equipment  6.24  -   

Reimbursement of expenses  18.39  21.38 

Interest on Compulsorily Convertible Debentures  828.75  828.75 

Receivable towards interest accrued on Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (Refer note 9)  745.88  745.88 

Trade Payables  (3,026.87)  -   

Other Receivables (Refer note 9)  1,875.44  789.94 

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Company S.A.E. (formerly known as Egyptian Indian Polyester 
Company S.A.E.)

Royalty Income  2,496.71  2,951.68 

Dividend Income  5,064.44  -   

Other Receivables (Refer note 9)  453.58  -   
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41. Related Party Transactions (Contd.)

(2) Details of related party transactions/balances: (Contd.)
(H in Lakhs)

Nature of Transactions/Balances 31 March 2024  31 March 2023

(c) Entities over which KMP(s) or relatives of KMP(s) are able to exercise significant influence

Trimplex Investments Limited

Rent and Service Charges  91.12  82.50 

Dividend Paid  14.41  11.53 

Payable (Refer Note 21)  (0.88)  -   

Mint Investments Limited

Rent  19.08  -   

Dividend Paid  103.97  83.18 

Naga Dhunseri Group Limited

Dividend Paid  153.94  123.15 

Dhunseri Tea & Industries Limited

Dividend Received  20.26  27.02 

Khaitan & Co. LLP

Legal and Professional Fees  8.83  6.75 

Khaitan & Co.

Legal and Professional Fees  21.93  11.03 

(d) Post Employment Benefit Plan Entity

Dhunseri Petrochem Limited Employees Gratuity Fund  20.98  14.04 

(e) The Company has given a Corporate Guarantee amounting to C23,394.30 lakhs (31 March 2023-C23,171.58 lakhs) to Oldenburgische 
Landesbank Aktiengesellchaft Bank in respect of the loan taken by its subsidiary, Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited.

(f) The Company has given a Corporate Guarantee amounting to C8,500 lakhs (31 March 2023-C8,500 lakhs) to HDFC Bank Limited in 
respect of the loan taken by its subsidiary, Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited.

(g) The Company has given a Corporate Guarantee amounting to C62,800 lakhs (31 March 2023-C Nil) to State Bank of India and EXIM 
Bank in respect of the loan taken by its subsidiary, Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited.

(h) The Company has paid dividend to shareholders that includes related parties.
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41. Related Party Transactions (Contd.)

(3) Compensation of Key Managerial Personnel:
(H in Lakhs)

Particulars 31 March 2024  31 March 2023

Short-term employee benefits  954.97  1,002.69 

Post-employment benefits  50.88  59.01 

Long-term employee benefits  27.76  7.85 

Sitting Fees  24.70  18.80 

Total Compensation  1,058.31  1,088.35 

(4a)  Analysis of remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel for the year 2023-24
(H in Lakhs)

Name
Short Term  
Employee 
Benefits

Post 
employment  

Benefits

Other  
Long term  
employee 
benefits

Sitting  
Fees  Total 

Mr. C.K. Dhanuka  357.91  15.31  0.93  0.70  374.85 

Mr. R.K. Sharma  165.98  16.50  12.52  0.80  195.80 

Mrs. A. Dhanuka  379.78  16.58  7.86  -    404.22 

Mr. V. Jain  33.45  1.71  3.18  -    38.34 

Mrs. S. Gulati  17.85  0.78  3.27  -    21.90 

Mr. M. Dhanuka  -    -    -    2.15  2.15 

Mrs. A. Kanoria  -    -    -    2.75  2.75 

Mr. J. P. Kundra  -    -    -    5.70  5.70 

Mr. B. Sen  -    -    -    3.00  3.00 

Mr. S. Sah  -    -    -    3.10  3.10 

Mr. R. V. Kejriwal  -    -    -    2.30  2.30 

Mr. B. Jhaver  -    -    -    4.20  4.20 

Total  954.97  50.88  27.76  24.70  1,058.31 
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41. Related Party Transactions (Contd.)

(4b) Analysis of remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel for the year 2022-23
(H in Lakhs)

Name
Short Term  
Employee 
Benefits

Post 
employment  

Benefits

Long term  
employee 
benefits

Sitting  
Fees  Total 

Mr. C.K. Dhanuka  388.79  14.27  0.89  0.45  404.40 

Mr. R.K. Sharma  156.22  23.00  5.87  0.45  185.54 

Mrs. A. Dhanuka  412.27  19.12  0.30  -    431.69 

Mr. V. Jain  30.10  1.88  0.36  -    32.34 

Mrs. S. Gulati  15.31  0.74  0.43  -    16.48 

Mr. M. Dhanuka  -    -    -    1.80  1.80 

Mrs. A. Kanoria  -    -    -    2.30  2.30 

Mr. J. P. Kundra  -    -    -    4.10  4.10 

Mr. B. Sen  -    -    -    3.30  3.30 

Mr. S. Sah  -    -    -    3.10  3.10 

Mr. R. V. Kejriwal  -    -    -    0.50  0.50 

Mr. B. Jhaver  -    -    -    2.80  2.80 

Total  1,002.69  59.01  7.85  18.80  1,088.35 

(5) Amount Payable to KMPs as the end of the year:
(H in Lakhs)

Name 31 March 2024  31 March 2023

Mr. C. K. Dhanuka  317.53  347.29 

Mr. R. K. Sharma  12.52  9.62 

Mrs. A. Dhanuka  317.53  347.29 

(6) Terms and Conditions

 Transactions relating to dividends were on the same term and conditions that applied to other shareholders. Transactions relating 
to acquisitions and disposal of investment are made based on independent valuation report. Transactions relating to rental and 
royalty income and rent and service charges are as per terms of related agreements. All other transactions are made on normal 
commercial terms and conditions.     

 All related party transaction are reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Group.     

 All outstanding balances are unsecured and are receivable/ repayable in cash.
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42. Reconciliation of Liabilities from Financing Activities
(H in Lakhs)

Particulars
Opening 

balance as at 
01 April 2023

Cash flows

Non-cash changes Closing 
balance as 

at 31 March 
2024

Effect of 
Foreign 

Exchange 

Addition 
to Lease 
Liability

Effect of 
Effective 

Interest Rate

Borrowings  33,907.83  (1,609.42)  1,489.18  -    1,846.06  35,633.65 

Lease liabilities  2,550.44  (1,723.99)  -    1,143.58  87.70  2,057.73 

 36,458.27  (3,333.41)  1,489.18  1,143.58  1,933.76  37,691.38 

(H in Lakhs)

Particulars
Opening 

balance as at 
01 April 2022

Cash flows

Non-cash changes Closing 
balance as 

at 31 March 
2023

Effect of 
Foreign 

Exchange 

Addition 
to Lease 
Liability

Effect of 
Effective 

Interest Rate

Borrowings  9,002.53  22,838.33  1,542.06  -    524.91  33,907.83 

Lease liabilities  2,510.80  (1,521.85)  -    1,492.93  68.56  2,550.44 

 11,513.33  21,316.48  1,542.06  1,492.93  593.47  36,458.27 

43. Interests in Other Entities

(a) Subsidiaries
The Group's subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely 
of equity shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held 
by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.

Name of the entity
Country of 
incorpora-

tion
Principal 
Activities

Ownership Interest held  
by the Group

Ownership Interest held by 
non-controlling interests

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

Indian Subsidiaries:

Dhunseri Infrastructure Limited India Infrastructure 100% 100%  -    -   

Dhunseri Poly Films Private Limited India
Manufacturing 

and sale of 
BOPET Films

100% 100%  -    -   

Foreign Subsidiaries:

Twelve Cupcakes Pte Limited Singapore
Manufacturing 

of food 
products 

88.68% 88.68% 11.32% 11.32%

DVL USA Inc  
(Wholly owned subsidiary w.e.f. 
1st February 2024)

USA
Manufacturing 

of food 
products 

100.00% 94.23%  -   5.77%

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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43. Interests in Other Entities (Contd.)

(b) Non-controlling Interests (NCI)

There are no subsidiaries having non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. 

(c) Equity accounted investees

(i) Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 March 2024. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely 
of equity shares, which are held directly by the group. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of 
business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held. The carrying amounts are 
represented in the table below:

(H in lakhs)

Name of the entity Principal 
Activities

Place of 
business

% of ownership interest Carrying Amount

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

Associates (accounted for using 
equity method): 

Indian:

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem 
Industries Private Limited

Manufacturing 
of PET Resin India 50% 50%  77,263.61  82,292.71 

Foreign:

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E 
(Formerly known as Egyptian 
Indian Polyester Co. S.A.E.)

Manufacturing 
of PET Resin Egypt 50% 50%  1,10,378.61  1,03,468.01 

Total investments accounted for using the Equity Method  1,87,642.22  1,85,760.72 

The associates are unlisted entities. Hence quoted price is not available.

(ii) Summarised financial information for associates

 The tables below provide summarised financial information for those associates that are material to the Group. The information 
disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates and not Group's share of those 
amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method, including fair value 
adjustments made at the time of acquisition and modifications for differences in accounting policies.
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43. Interests in Other Entities (Contd.)

(H in lakhs)

Summarised Balance Sheet

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem  
Industries Private Limited IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E

31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 December 
2023

31 December 
2022

Current Assets

   Cash and cash equivalents  13,932.93  16,055.00  6,947.57  6,884.92 

   Other Assets  1,05,700.54  98,669.00  1,97,060.73  2,17,811.61 

Total Current Assets  1,19,633.47  1,14,724.00  2,04,008.30  2,24,696.53 

Total Non Current Assets  1,15,719.01  1,15,674.00  87,834.80  89,185.11 

Current Liabilities

   Financial Liabilities  82,432.91  64,359.28  91,966.66  1,25,894.82 

   Other Liabilities  7,613.09  8,084.72  10,881.39  12,692.17 

Total Current Liabilities  90,046.00  72,444.00  1,02,848.05  1,38,586.99 

Non Current Liabilities

   Financial Liabilities  7,972.82  10,513.92  -    -   

   Other Liabilities  9,872.39  9,921.92  -    -   

Total Non Current Liabilities  17,845.21  20,435.84  -    -   

Net Assets  1,27,461.27  1,37,518.16  1,88,995.05  1,75,294.65 

(H in lakhs)

Reconciliation to Carrying Amounts

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries 
Private Limited IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E

31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 December 
2023

31 December 
2022

Closing Net Assets  1,27,461.27  1,37,518.16  1,88,995.05  1,75,294.65 

Group's share in % 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

Group's share  63,730.63  68,759.08  94,497.52  87,647.32 

Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Adjustment  -    -    2,652.71  2,592.32 

Movement of equity other than profit  (20,162.02)  (20,162.02)  -    -   

Fair value adjustment  33,695.00  33,695.00  13,228.37  13,228.37 

Carrying amount  77,263.61  82,292.06  1,10,378.60  1,03,468.01 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Contd.)
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43. Interests in Other Entities (Contd.)

(H in lakhs)

Summarised Statement of Profit and Loss

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem Industries 
Private Limited IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E

Year ended  
31 March 2024

Year ended  
31 March 2023

Year ended  
31 December 

2023

Year ended  
31 December 

2022

Revenue  5,03,347.54  6,96,622.00  4,84,869.32  5,94,318.91 

Interest Income  1,461.97  1,683.73  1,751.29  167.69 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses  (5,678.62)  (5,442.00)  (3,817.52)  (3,362.32)

Interest Expenses  (2,620.87)  (3,082.00)  (1,861.65)  (3,655.39)

Income tax expenses  (82.96)  (12,417.71)  -    -   

Profit for the year  (1,534.25)  36,428.47  23,109.07  97,499.80 

Other comprehensive income  (23.95)  (32.18)  -    -   

Total Comprehensive Income  (1,558.76)  36,395.00  23,109.07  97,499.80 

Dividend received  4,250.00  8,500.00  5,064.44  -   

(H in Lakhs)

Share of Profit from Associates Year Ended 
31 March 2024

Year Ended 
31 March 2023

Share of Profit from:

Associates  10,787.41  66,964.13 

Total  10,787.41  66,964.13 
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44. Additional disclosures mandated by Schedule III of Companies Act, 2013 is as follows:

Name of the entity 
in the group

2023-24

Net assets (total assets 
minus total liabilities) Share in profit/(loss) Share in other 

comprehensive income
Share in total 

comprehensive income

As % of  
consolidated  

net assets
Amount 

(D in lakhs)
As % of  

consolidated  
Profit or loss

Amount 
(D in lakhs)

As % of 
consolidated 
other com-
prehensive 

income

Amount 
(D in lakhs)

As % of  
consolidated  

total com-
prehensive 

income

Amount 
(D in lakhs)

Parent Entity

Dhunseri Ventures Limited 59.72%  
1,76,976.43 109.67%  16,680.27 98.29%  18,401.64 103.39%  35,081.91 

Subsidiaries

Indian

Dhunseri Infrastructure 
Limited 1.59%  4,724.03 -0.20%  (29.86)  -    -   -0.09%  (29.86)

Dhunseri Poly Films Private 
Limited 19.04%  56,428.00 -11.19%  (1,702.36) 0.01%  1.84 -5.01%  (1,700.52)

Foreign

Twelve Cupcakes Pte Limited 0.44%  1,308.94 -4.35%  (661.97)  -    -   -1.95%  (661.97)

DVL USA Inc 1.23%  3,632.05 -3.44%  (523.90)  -   -1.54%  (523.90)

Non-controlling Interest in all 
subsidiaries 0.14%  422.36 -0.64%  (97.91)  -    -   -0.29%  (97.91)

Associates (Investments as 
per the Equity Method)

Indian

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem 
Industries Private Limited 26.07%  77,263.61 -5.04%  (767.13) -0.06%  (11.97) -2.30%  (779.10)

Foreign

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. 
S.A.E (Formerly known as 
Egyptian Indian Polyester Co. 
S.A.E)

37.25% 1,10,378.61 75.97%  11,554.54  -    -   34.05%  11,554.54 

Consolidation adjustments -45.48% (1,34,791.91) -60.78%  (9,241.57) 1.76%  329.66 -26.26%  (8,911.91)

Total 100.00% 2,96,342.12 100.00%  15,210.11 100.00%  18,721.17 100.00%  33,931.28 
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44. Additional disclosures mandated by Schedule III of Companies Act, 2013 is as follows: (Contd.)

Name of the entity 
in the group

2022-23

Net assets (total assets 
minus total liabilities) Share in profit/(loss) Share in other 

comprehensive income
Share in total 

comprehensive income

As % of  
consolidated  

net assets
Amount 

(D in lakhs)
As % of  

consolidated  
Profit or loss

Amount 
(D in lakhs)

As % of 
consolidated 
other com-
prehensive 

income

Amount 
(D in lakhs)

As % of  
consolidated  

total com-
prehensive 

income

Amount 
(D in lakhs)

Parent Entity

Dhunseri Ventures Limited 54.38% 1,43,645.76 22.27%  12,070.27 -28.97%  (1,353.71) 18.21%  10,716.56 

Subsidiaries

Indian

Dhunseri Infrastructure 
Limited 1.80%  4,753.89 -0.05%  (29.39)  -    -   -0.05%  (29.39)

Dhunseri Poly Films Private 
Limited 18.86%  49,828.52 -2.10%  (1,137.21) -0.06%  (2.60) -1.94%  (1,139.81)

Foreign

Twelve Cupcakes Pte Limited 0.75%  1,970.88 -0.50%  (272.61)  -    -   -0.46%  (272.61)

DVL USA Inc 0.07%  185.70 -0.88%  (477.07)  -   -0.81%  (477.07)

Non-controlling Interest in all 
subsidiaries 0.16%  433.23 -0.11%  (58.40)  -    -   -0.10%  (58.40)

Associates (Investments as 
per the Equity Method)

Indian

IVL Dhunseri Petrochem 
Industries Private Limited 31.15%  82,292.71 33.61%  18,214.24 -0.34%  (16.09) 30.92%  18,198.15 

Foreign

IVL Dhunseri Polyester Co. S.A.E 
(Formerly known as Egyptian 
Indian Polyester Co. S.A.E)

39.17%  1,03,468.01 89.96%  48,749.90  -    -   82.82%  48,749.90 

Consolidation adjustments -46.34%  (1,22,416.62) -42.20% (22,871.22) 129.37%  6,045.48 -28.59% (16,825.74)

Total 100.00% 2,64,162.08 100.00%  54,188.51 100.00%  4,673.08 100.00%  58,861.59 
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45. During the previous year ended 31 March 2022, the Holding Company’s “financial assets” and “income from financial assets” 
exceeded 50% of the total assets and gross income respectively. The Board of Directors of the Holding Company, based on an 
independent legal opinion, had concluded that it was not required to register itself with the RBI as a NBFC mainly due to the fact 
that the principal business of the Holding Company is to deal with all types of Petrochemicals and other products and it does not 
intend to carry on the business as a NBFC and the situation prevailing on 31 March 2022 was transitory in nature. The statutory 
auditors had qualified their report in this regard. In line with Holding Company's business plans and based on audited financial 
statements for year ended 31 March 2023, such criterion is no longer met and the Holding Company is currently not required to 
seek any such registration.   

46. There are no material events after the reporting period till the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements. 

47. No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind 
of funds) by the Holding Company or any of its subsidiaries and associates which are companies incorporated in India to or in any 
other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”) with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall lend or invest in party identified by or on behalf of the Holding Company or any such 
subsidiaries and associates (Ultimate Beneficiaries). The Holding Company or any of its subsidiaries and associates which are 
companies incorporated in India have not received any fund from any party(s) (Funding Party) with the understanding that the 
Holding Company or any such subsidiaries and associates  shall whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or 
entities identified by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.  

As per our report of even date attached.

For B S R & Co. LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of Dhunseri Ventures Limited  
Chartered Accountants CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697

Firm Registration Number 101248W/W-100022

Jayanta Mukhopadhyay C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Partner Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
Membership No. 055757 (DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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FORM AOC -1 (Contd.)

Part “B”: Associates and Joint Ventures

Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

 

Name of Associates/Joint Ventures

IVL Dhunseri  
Polyester Co. S.A.E. 

(Formerly known 
as Egyptian Indian 

Polyester Co. S.A.E.)

IVL Dhunseri  
Petrochem Industries 

Private Limited

Associate Associate

1. Latest audited Balance Sheet Date 31 December 2023 31 March 2024

2. Shares of Associates held by the company on the year end

 Number of shares  44,95,000 2,12,50,000

 Amount of Investment in Associates/Joint Venture (` In lakhs)  18,357.48  4,312.00 

 Extend of Holding% 50% 50%

3. Description of how there is significant influence Associate Associate

4. Reason why the associate/joint venture is not consolidated Consolidated Consolidated

5. Net worth attributable to shareholding as per latest audited Balance 
Sheet (` In lakhs)  94,497.53  63,729.88 

6. Profit/(Loss) for the year

 (i)  Considered in Consolidation (` in lakhs)  23,109.07  (1,534.25)

 (ii)  Not Considered in Consolidation (` in lakhs)  -    -   

Note: 
1. The Company does not have any joint venture as on 31st March 2024
2. Names of associate which have been liquidated or sold during the year- Nil

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
CIN: L15492WB1916PLC002697 

C. K. Dhanuka A. Dhanuka M. Dhanuka R.K.Sharma   
Executive Chairman Managing Director Vice Chairman Director 
(DIN - 00005684) (DIN - 00005677) (DIN - 00005666) (DIN - 05197101)

 J. P. Kundra V. Jain S. Gulati  
Place: Kolkata Director  Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 
Date: 24 May 2024 (DIN - 00004228)  & Compliance Officer
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Notes
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